Public Document Pack

Civic Centre,
Arnot Hill Park,
Arnold,
Nottinghamshire,
NG5 6LU

Agenda
Planning Committee
Date:

Wednesday 21 October 2020

Time:

6.00 pm

Place:

Virtual Meeting
For any further information please contact:
Cayte Goodall
Democratic Services Officer
0115 901 3961

Having trouble reading this? Please call 0115 901 3961 if you need it in large print, audio
or another format.

Planning Committee
Membership

Chair

Councillor John Truscott

Vice-Chair

Councillor Paul Wilkinson
Councillor Michael Adams
Councillor Peter Barnes
Councillor Chris Barnfather
Councillor David Ellis
Councillor Rachael Ellis
Councillor Andrew Ellwood
Councillor Mike Hope
Councillor Rosa Keneally
Councillor Meredith Lawrence
Councillor Barbara Miller
Councillor Marje Paling
Councillor John Parr
Councillor Alex Scroggie
Councillor Henry Wheeler

AGENDA

1.

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions.

2.

To approve, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting held on 9
September 2020.

Page

7 - 18

Planning Committee Protocol.
3.

Declaration of Interests

4.

Application No. 2020/0475 - Land At Glebe Farm, Glebe Drive, Burton
Joyce

23 - 35

5.

Application No. 2020/0726 - Land On Flatts Lane, Calverton

37 - 52

6.

Application No. 2020/0108 - Redhill Pavilion, Thornton Avenue, Redhill

53 - 66

7.

Application No. 2020/0827 - Arnold Market, Hallams Lane, Arnold

67 - 78

8.

Application No. 2020/0931 - Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

79 - 85

9.

Application No. 2020/0932 - Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

87 - 93

10.

Application No. 2020/0938 - Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

95 - 102

11.

Application No. 2020/0667 - Land At Chase Farm (Former Gedling
Colliery), Adjacent to Arnold Lane And Land Off Lambley Lane,
Gedling

103 - 109

12.

Application No. 2020/0731 - 13 Main Street Calverton

111 - 116

13.

Application No. 2020/0686 - Recreation Ground, Breck Hill Road

117 - 121

14.

Application No. 2020/0828 - Site of 72 To 74, Westdale Lane East,
Gedling

123 - 132

15.

Application No. 2018/0817 - Car Park, North Green, Calverton

133 - 210

16.

Enforcement Ref: 0202/2019 - 84 Sandford Road, Mapperley

211 - 216

17.

Future Planning Applications

217 - 218

18.

Planning Delegation Panel Action Sheets

219 - 230

19.

Any other items which the Chair considers urgent.

Agenda Item 2.

MINUTES
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Wednesday 9 September 2020
Councillor John Truscott (Chair)
In Attendance:

Councillor Paul Wilkinson
Councillor Michael Adams
Councillor Peter Barnes
Councillor Chris Barnfather
Councillor David Ellis
Councillor Rachael Ellis
Councillor Andrew Ellwood
Councillor Mike Hope

Officers in Attendance:
32

Councillor Rosa Keneally
Councillor Meredith Lawrence
Councillor Barbara Miller
Councillor Marje Paling
Councillor John Parr
Councillor Alex Scroggie
Councillor Henry Wheeler

M Avery, N Bryan, C McCleary and S Pregon

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS.
None received.

33

TO APPROVE, AS A CORRECT RECORD, THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 5 AUGUST 2020
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the above meeting, having been circulated, be
approved as a correct record, subject to the addition of Councillor Hope,
who was present at the meeting, in the list of attendees.

34

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.

35

APPLICATION NO. 2019/1031 - SITE OF
CHESTERFIELD, CARLTON HILL, CARLTON

THE

EARL

OF

Erection of 23 sheltered accommodation flats with one office.
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report and informed
Members that, since publication of the agenda, one further letter of
objection had been received. The letter raised similar concerns to those
outlined by other objectors, as detailed in paragraph 4.1 of the report
expressing concern about the scale of building and level of support to
occupiers; however, these matters had been addressed in the report.

Page 5

Members were also informed that amended plans had been submitted
that slightly altered the elevation treatments to the scheme; however,
they were relatively minor and altered the scheme to comply with
building and fire regulations and required the insertion of a door to a
stairwell as a means of escape, which would be in the Carlton Road
elevation.
As a result, there was a need to update the drawing numbers at
condition 2.
In all other respects, the conditions were intended to remain as drafted.
Councillor Adams left the meeting at 6.15pm.
RESOLVED:
To Grant Planning Permission: Subject to the owner enters into a
Section 106 planning obligation with the Borough Council as Local
Planning Authority to secure 100% affordable housing and a local
labour agreement, and subject to the conditions listed for the
reasons set out in the report.
Conditions
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the
expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form
and following list of approved drawings:
2321/P 100A – location plan
2321/P 102G – Proposed site plan
2321/P 210D – Ground floor layout
2321/P 211D – First floor layout
2321/P 212C – Second floor layout
2321/P 213D – Elevations
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with
these plans/details.
3. Prior to above ground works commencing, samples of the materials to
be used on the external elevations of the building shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority . The
development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the
details as approved.
4. Prior to above ground works commencing, a scheme of landscaping
showing the location, species and size of specimens to be planted shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 6

The scheme as approved shall be carried out in the first planting season
following the completion of each development phase. Any trees, shrubs
or plants that die within a period of five years from the completion of
each development phase, or are removed and/or become seriously
damaged or diseased in that period, shall be replaced (and if necessary
continue to be replaced) in the first available planting season with others
of similar size and species.
5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until the parking, turning and servicing areas are surfaced in a bound
material with the parking bays clearly delineated in accordance with
drawing no. 2321/P 102 F. The parking, turning and servicing areas shall
be maintained in such bound material for the life of the development and
shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking, turning and
loading and unloading of vehicles.
6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until all redundant dropped kerbs on Carlton Hill and Southcliffe Road
have been reinstated as footway with full height kerbs.
7. Prior to the commencement of development the following shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
Site Characterisation
An assessment of the nature and extent of any potential contamination
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a competent person,
and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it
originates on the site. Moreover, it must include; a survey of the extent,
scale and nature of contamination and; an assessment of the potential
risks to: human health, property, adjoining land, controlled waters,
ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
Submission of Remediation Scheme
Where required, a detailed remediation scheme (to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks
to critical receptors) should be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria,
an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s),
and a timetable of works and site management procedures.
8. In the event that remediation is required to render the development
suitable for use, the agreed remediation scheme shall be implemented in
accordance with the approved timetable of works. Prior to occupation of
any building(s) a Verification Report (that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 7

9. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out
the approved development that was not previously identified it must be
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority and once
the Local Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by
the unexpected contamination development must be halted on that part
of the site. An assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the
requirements above, and where remediation is necessary a remediation
scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation and verification
reporting, must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
10. Prior to the occupation of the building(s) hereby permitted, details
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority as to the position within the development of one (1) Electric
Vehicle Recharging Point. The Electric Vehicle Recharging Point shall
be in a prominent position on the site and shall be for the exclusive use
of zero emission vehicles. The Electric Vehicle Recharging Point shall
be installed prior to occupation of any part of the development and shall
be thereafter maintained in the location as approved for the lifetime of
the development.
11. Prior to commencement of the development a Construction Emission
Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the emission of dust and other
emissions to air during the site preparation and construction shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The CEMP must be prepared with due regard to the guidance produced
by the Council on the assessment of dust from demolition and
construction and include a site specific dust risk assessment. All works
on site shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved CEMP.
12. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until
drainage plans for the disposal of surface water and foul sewage have
been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details
before the development is first brought into use.
13. Prior to above ground works commencing, details of a cycle storage
rack shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details as approved shall be implemented prior to the flats
being occupied and shall be retained as such thereafter.

36

APPLICATION NO. 2020/0020 - LAND NORTH WEST PARK ROAD,
CALVERTON
Councillor Adams re-joined the meeting at 6.20pm.
Application for the approval of reserved matters (layout, landscaping,
scale and appearance) for the erection of 351 dwellings and associated
infrastructure, pursuant to outline approval 20018/0607.

Page 8

Chris Gowlett of Persimmon Homes (the applicant), spoke in support of
the application.
The Assistant Director for Planning and Regeneration introduced the
report.
RESOLVED:
To grant reserved matters approval, subject to the imposition of
conditions, as set out in the report:
1. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form
and following list of approved drawings:
Affordable Housing Plan CA-PL-02 rev E
Location Plan CA-PL-01 rev A
Public Right of Way CA-PL-03 rev B
Planning Layout CA-PL-05 rev D
Charter Plan CA-PL-04 rev D
LEAP Proposals 7403-L-22 rev A
Planting Plan 7403-L-21 rev E
Alnwick Brick Plans and Elevations 638-PL-01
Hanbury Brick Plans and Elevations 761-PL-01
Rufford Brick Plans and Elevations 870-PL-01
Chatsworth Brick Plans and Elevations 918-PL-01
Souter Brick Plans and Elevations 951-PL-01
Souter Render Plans and Elevations 951-PL-02
Sutton Brick Plans and Elevations 987-PL-01
Sutton Render Brick Plans and Elevations 987-PL-02
Hatfield Brick Plans and Elevations 969-PL-01
Hatfield Render Plans and Elevations 969-PL-02
Hatfield Cr Brick Plans and Elevations 969-PL-03
Hatfield Cr Render Plans and Elevations 969-PL-04
Clayton Cr Brick Plans and Elevations 999-PL-01
Clayton Cr Render Plans and Elevations 999-PL-02
Roseberry Brick Plans and Elevations 1096-PL-01
Roseberry Render Plans and Elevations 1096-PL-02
Leicester Brick Plans and Elevations 1187-PL-01
Leicester Render Plans and Elevations 1187-PL-02
Lumley Brick Plans and Elevations 1120-PL-01
Lumley Render Plans and Elevations 1120-PL-02
Chedworth Brick Plans and Elevations 1222-PL-01
Chedworth Render Plans and Elevations 1222-PL-02
Chedworth (Bay F) Plans and Elevations 1222-PL-03
Chedworth (Bay S) Plans and Elevations 1222-PL-04
Winster Brick Plans and Elevations 1275-PL-01
Winster Render Plans and Elevations 1275-PL-02
Corfe Brick Plans and Elevations 1415-PL-01
Corfe Render Plans and Elevations 1415-PL-02

Page 9

Corfe Bay Plans and Elevations 1415-PL-03
Kendal Brick Plans and Elevations 1190-PL-01
Kendal Render Plans and Elevations 1190-PL-02
Standard Garages Single/Double Garage STDGD-02
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with
these plans/details.
2. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until all drives and parking areas are surfaced in a bound material (not
loose gravel). The surfaced drives and parking areas shall then be
maintained in such bound material for the life of the development.
3. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until the access driveways and parking areas are constructed with
provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water from the
driveways and parking areas to the public highway. The provision to
prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water to the public highway
shall then be retained for the life of the development.
4. The landscaping scheme as approved shall be carried out in the first
planting season following the completion of the development. Any trees,
shrubs or plants that die within a period of five years from the completion
of the development, or are removed and/or become seriously damaged
or diseased in that period, shall be replaced (and if necessary continue
to be replaced) in the first available planting season with others of similar
size and species.
5. No above ground works shall commence until samples of external
facing and roofing materials have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall thereafter be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
37

APPLICATION NO. 2019/0435 - LAND CORNER OF STANDHILL
AVENUE, THIRD AVENUE, CARLTON
Proposed Construction of 9 No. Dwellings.
Pauline Eadie, a local resident, spoke in objection to the application.
The Assistant Director for Planning and Regeneration introduced the
report.
RESOLVED:
To Grant Planning Permission subject conditions:-

Page 10

Conditions
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning
with the date of this permission.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be completed in accordance
with the submitted documents;Application Forms, received 30th April 2019
Drawing no. 721 005 Rev J "House Plot Type 3 - Proposed Floor Plans
&
Elevations," received 10th July 2020
Drawing no. 721 007 Rev K "House Plot Type 5 - Proposed Floor Plans
&
Elevations," received 15th April 2020
Drawing no. 721 003 Rev J "House Plot Type 1 - Proposed Floor Plans
&
Elevations," received 2nd April 2020
Drawing no. 721 004 Rev J "House Plot Type 2 - Proposed Floor Plans
&
Elevations," received 2nd April 2020
Drawing no. 721 006 Rev J "House Plot Type 4 - Proposed Floor Plans
&
Elevations," received 2nd April 2020
Drawing no. 721 002 Rev J "Proposed Site Plan, Block & OS Plans,"
received
2nd April 2020
Drawing no. 721 001 Rev A "Existing Block & OS Plans," received 2nd
April
2020
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with
these plans/details.
3. No above ground construction works shall commence until samples of
the proposed external facing materials to be used in the construction of
the development have been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the Local Planning Authority and the development shall only be
undertaken in accordance with the materials so approved and shall be
retained as such thereafter.
4. No building shall be occupied until a detailed scheme for the boundary
treatment of the site, including position, design and materials, and to
include all boundaries or divisions within the site, has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall be completed before the buildings are first occupied or
such other timetable as may first have been agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.

Page 11

5. No development shall be commenced until full details of both hard
and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. These works shall be carried out
as approved prior to the first occupation of each dwelling. These details
shall include:
a schedule (including planting plans and written specifications, including
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass
establishment) of trees, shrubs and other plants, noting species, plant
sizes, proposed numbers and densities. The scheme shall be designed
so as to enhance the nature conservation value of the site, including the
use of locally native plant species.an implementation and phasing
programme.
existing trees and hedgerows, which are to be retained pending approval
of a detailed scheme, together with measures for protection during
construction.
hard surfacing materials
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) (and any
order revoking, re-enacting or modifying that Order), other than
development expressly authorised by this permission, there shall be no
development under Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Order in respect of:
Class B: Additions etc to the roof of a dwellinghouse
Class C: Other alterations to the roof of a dwellinghouse
or Schedule 2, Part 2 of the Order in respect of:
Class B: Means of access to a highway
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until dropped vehicular footway crossings are available for use and
constructed in accordance with the Highway Authority specification to
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
8. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until the redundant site accesses that has been made redundant and are
permanently closed and the access crossings are reinstated to full
height kerbs and footway in accordance with details to be first submitted
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
9. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use
until the visibility splays are provided in accordance with the approved
plans. The area within the visibility splays referred to in this condition
shall thereafter be kept free of all obstructions.

Page 12

10. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into
use until the private access road and drives/ parking areas are surfaced
in a bound material (not loose gravel). The surfaced drives and parking
areas shall then be maintained in such bound material for the life of the
development.
11. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into
use until the access road and driveways/ parking areas are constructed
with provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water
from the driveways and parking areas to the public highway. The
provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water to the
public highway shall then be retained for the life of the development.
12. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into
use until the access is constructed with a gradient not exceeding 1 in 20
for a distance of 5m from the rear of the highway boundary, and never
exceeds 1:12 thereafter, in accordance with details to be first submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
13. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into
use until the bin store has been constructed and positioned in
accordance with drawing number 721 002 RevJ.
14. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying
out the approved development it must be reported in writing immediately
to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local Planning Authority
has identified the part of the site affected by the unexpected
contamination development must be halted on that part of the site. An
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Planning Authority, and where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation and
verification reporting, must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
15. Prior to occupation, each off street parking space shall incorporate a
suitably rated electrical socket to allow 'Mode 2' charging of an electric
vehicle using a standard 13A 3 pin socket and a 3m length cable. All EV
charging points shall be clearly marked with their purpose and their
purpose drawn to the attention of new residents in their new home
welcome pack / travel planning advice.
16. Prior to commencement of the development a Construction Emission
Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the emission of dust and other
emissions to air during the site preparation and construction shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The CEMP must be prepared with due regard to the guidance produced
by the Council on the assessment of dust from demolition and
construction and include a site specific dust risk assessment. All works
on site shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved CEMP
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 13

17. No part of the development shall be commenced until details of the
existing and proposed ground and finished floor levels of the site and
approved building[s] have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out
thereafter in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
38

APPLICATION NO. 2020/0545 - LAND AT CHASE FARM (FORMER
GEDLING COLLIERY), ADJACENT TO ARNOLD LANE AND LAND
OFF LAMBLEY LANE
Re-design of the landscaping for the Urban Square.
The Principal Planning Officer introduced the report and informed
Members that amended plans had been received during the course of
the application that updated the play equipment to be more robust in
terms of materials.
RESOLVED:
To Grant Full Planning Permission: Subject to the below conditions
and the owner entering into a deed of variation amending the
original Section 106 Agreement to planning approval: 2015/1376;
and subject to the conditions listed for the reasons set out in the
report.
Conditions
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the
expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission.
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form
and following list of approved drawings: P100 - location plan 17144 rev
B – play space layout - received 19 August The development shall
thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these plans/details.
3. The landscaping scheme as approved shall be carried out in the first
planting season following the implementation of the planning permission.
Any trees, shrubs or plants that die within a period of five years from the
completion of each development phase, or are removed and/or become
seriously damaged or diseased in that period, shall be replaced (and if
necessary continue to be replaced) in the first available planting season
with others of similar size and species.

39

APPLICATION NO. 2019/0475 - 31 HAZEL GROVE, MAPPERLEY
Single storey rear extension, new elevated hardstanding deck area and
roof lantern above existing flat roof.

Page 14

RESOLVED:
To grant planning permission subject to conditions:
Conditions
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning
with the date of this permission.
2. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the details
as set out within the application form received on the 15th May 2019, the
site location plan received on the 15th May 2019, the revised block plan
received on the 10th December 2019, drawing number 0117 Rev 02, the
revised floor plan received on the 10th December 2019, drawing number
0117 Rev 03, and the revised elevations received on the 28th January
2020, drawing number 0117 Rev 03.

40

ENFORCEMENT REF. 0091/2018 - UNITS 13, 15 AND 17 CATTON
ROAD, ARNOLD
Unauthorised change of use from B1 (business suitable in a residential
area) to B2 (general industrial).
The Assistant Director – Planning and Regeneration introduced the
report.
RESOLVED:
That the Assistant Director – Planning and Regeneration, be
authorised to take all enforcement action including the service of
any necessary enforcement notices and in conjunction with the
Director of Organisational Development & Democratic Services,
proceedings through the courts if required to ensure the
unauthorised use is ceased.

41

PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL ACTION SHEETS
RESOLVED:
To note the information.

42

FUTURE APPLICATIONS
RESOLVED:
To note the information.

Page 15

43

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT.
None.

The meeting finished at 7.15 pm

Signed by Chair:
Date:

Page 16

Agenda Annex

PLANNING COMMITTEE PROTOCOL
Introduction
1. This protocol is intended to ensure that planning decisions made at the Planning
Committee meeting are reached, and are seen to be reached, in a fair, open and
impartial manner, and that only relevant planning matters are taken into account.
2. Planning Committee is empowered by the Borough Council, as the democratically
accountable decision maker, to determine planning applications in accordance with its
constitution. In making legally binding decisions therefore, it is important that the
committee meeting is run in an ordered way, with Councillors, officers and members of
the public understanding their role within the process.
3. If a Councillor has any doubts about the application of this Protocol to their own
circumstances they should seek advice from the Council Solicitor and Monitoring
Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before any meeting takes place at
which they think the issue might arise.
4. This protocol should be read in conjunction with the Council;s Member’s Code of
Conduct, Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications,
briefing note on predetermination and the Council’s Constitution.
Disclosable Pecuniary and Non- Pecuniary Interests
5. The guidance relating to this is covered in the Council’s Member’s Code of Conduct
and Code of Practice for Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications.
6. If a Councillor requires advice about whether they need to declare an interest, they
should seek advice from the Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer as soon as
possible and preferably well before any meeting takes place at which they think the
issue might arise.
Pre-determination and Predisposition
7. Councillors will often form an initial view (a predisposition) about a planning
application early on in its passage through the system whether or not they have been
lobbied. Under Section 25(2) of the Localism Act 2011 a Councillor is not to be taken
to have had, or to have appeared to have had, a closed mind when making a decision
just because the decision-maker had previously done anything that directly or
indirectly indicated what view the decision-maker took, or would or might take in
relation to a matter, and, the matter was relevant to the decision.
8. This provision recognises the role of Councillors in matters of local interest and
debate, but Councillors who are members of the Planning Committee taking part in a
decision on a planning matter should not make up their minds how to vote prior to
consideration of the matter by the Planning Committee and therefore should not

Page 17

comment or make any commitment in advance as to how they intend to vote which
might indicate that they have a closed mind (predetermination).
9. If a Councillor has made up their mind prior to the meeting, or have made public
comments which indicate that they might have done, and is not able to reconsider
their previously held view, then they will not be able to participate on the matter. The
Councillor should declare that they do not intend to vote because they have (or could
reasonably be perceived as having) judged the matter elsewhere. The Councillor will
be then not be entitled to speak on the matter at the Planning Committee, unless they
register to do so as part of the public speaking provision. For advice on predetermination and predisposition, Councillors should refer to the Code of Practice for
Councillors in dealing with Planning Applications in the Council’s Constitution, and
seek the advice of the Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer.
Lobbying
10. The guidance relating to this is covered in the Code for dealing with Planning
Applications.
11. If a Councillor requires advice about being lobbied, they should seek advice from the
Council Solicitor and Monitoring Officer as soon as possible and preferably well before
any meeting takes place at which they think the issue might arise.
Roles at Planning Committee
12. The role of Councillors at committee is not to represent the views of their constituents,
but to consider planning applications in the interests of the whole Borough. When
voting on applications, Councillors may therefore decide to vote against the views
expressed by their constituents. Councillors may also request that their votes are
recorded.
13. The role of Officers at Planning Committee is to advise the Councillors on professional
matters, and to assist in the smooth running of the meeting. There will normally be a
senior Planning Officer, plus a supporting Planning Officer, a senior Legal Officer and
a Member Services Officer in attendance, who will provide advice on matters within
their own professional expertise.
14. If they have questions about a development proposal, Councillors are encouraged to
contact the case Officer in advance. The Officer will then provide advice and answer
any questions about the report and the proposal, which will result in more efficient use
of the Committees time and more transparent decision making.
Speaking at Planning Committee
15. Planning Committee meetings are in public and members of the public are welcome to
attend and observe; however, they are not allowed to address the meeting unless they
have an interest in a planning application and follow the correct procedure.
16. Speaking at Planning Committee is restricted to applicants for planning permission,
residents and residents’ associations who have made written comments to the Council

Page 18

about the application and these have been received before the committee report is
published. Professional agents representing either applicants or residents are not
allowed to speak on their behalf. Anyone intending to speak at Committee must
register to do so in writing, providing name and contact details, by 5pm three working
days before the Committee meeting. As most Committee meetings are currently held
on Wednesdays, this is usually 5pm on the Friday before. A maximum of 3 minutes
per speaker is allowed, unless extended at the Chair of the Committee’s discretion, so
where more than one person wishes to address the meeting, all parties with a
common interest should normally agree who should represent them or split the three
minutes between them. No additional material or photographs will be allowed to be
presented to the committee, and Councillors are not allowed to ask questions of
speakers.
17. Other than as detailed above, no person is permitted to address the Planning
Committee and interruptions to the proceedings will not be tolerated. Should the
meeting be interrupted, the Chair of the Committee will bring the meeting to order. In
exceptional circumstances the Chair of the Committee can suspend the meeting, or
clear the chamber and continue behind closed doors, or adjourn the meeting to a
future date.
18. Where members of the public wish to leave the chamber before the end of the
meeting, they should do so in an orderly and respectful manner, refraining from talking
until they have passed through the chamber doors, as talking within the foyer can
disrupt the meeting.

Determination of planning applications
19. Councillors will then debate the motion and may ask for clarification from officers.
However, if there are issues which require factual clarification, normally these should
be directed to the case Officer before the Committee meeting, not at the meeting itself.
After Councillors have debated the application, a vote will be taken.
20. Whilst Officers will provide advice and a recommendation on every application and
matter considered, it is the responsibility of Councillors, acting in the interests of the
whole Borough, to decide what weight to attach to the advice given and to the
considerations of each individual application. In this way, Councillors may decide to
apply different weight to certain issues and reach a decision contrary to Officer advice.
In this instance, if the Officer recommendation has been moved and seconded but
fails to be supported, or if the recommendation is not moved or seconded, then this
does not mean that the decision contrary to Officer advice has been approved; this
needs to be a separate motion to move and must be voted on. If, in moving such a
motion Councillors require advice about the details of the motion, the meeting can be
adjourned for a short time to allow members and Officers to draft the motion, which
will include reasons for the decision which are relevant to the planning considerations
on the application, and which are capable of being supported and substantiated
should an appeal be lodged. Councillors may move that the vote be recorded and, in
the event of a refusal of planning permission, record the names of Councillors who
would be willing to appear if the refusal was the subject of an appeal.
Oct 2015

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4.

Planning Report for 2020/0475

Page 21

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0475

Location:

Land At Glebe Farm, Glebe Drive, Burton Joyce

Proposal:

Application for the approval of reserved matters
(layout, landscaping, scale and appearance) for the
erection of up to 14 dwellings pursuant to outline
approval 2016/0306.

Applicant:

Troyal Farms Ltd

Agent:

Gut Taylor Associates

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

This application has been referred to Planning Committee to accord with the
Constitution as it is an application for the erection of more than 9 dwellings.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site, Glebe Farm, measures approximately 1.2 hectares and
relates to a disused agricultural farm holding comprising various agricultural
steel framed barns; brick built barns with pan tile roofs and a disused
farmhouse. The remainder of the site is overgrown with areas of
hardstanding. The entire site is located within the green belt.

1.2

Access to the application site is from northwest spur of the cul-de-sac of
Glebe Drive which is currently gated and in operation as access for farm
vehicles. Glebe Drive is characterised on either side by residential bungalows
which are set at a higher level than the adjoining highway. The application site
rises steeply in level from the access in the south corner of the site up to the
north corner of the application site. There are areas of hardstanding and
deposited broken stone aggregate adjacent to the access of the site.

1.3

The application site backs onto split level properties situated at the turning
head of the cul-de-sac of Bulcote Drive. There is a significant rise in level from
the rear boundaries of these properties to the application site.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

Page 22

2.1

In May 2016 the applicant sought the Prior Notification of the Borough Council
for the Erection of a Grain Store and General Purpose Store. Further details
were required for Prior Approval (ref: 2016/0614PN) and no such details were
submitted.

2.2

In July 2016 the Prior Notification of the Borough Council was sought for the
change of use of an existing building no longer suitable for modern agriculture
to industrial storage and offices. No further details were required and the
development is permitted under The General Permitted Development Order
2015.

2.3

In September 2016 the Prior Notification of the Borough Council was sought
for a steel portal framed building up to 465 square meters with a height of 12
metres. No further details were required and the development is permitted
under The General Permitted Development Order 2015.

2.4

In March 2016 application 2016/0306 was submitted and was originally for the
erection of 45 dwellings with all matters reserved. However, the application
was amended and planning permission sought for the erection of 14 dwellings
with all matters reserved expect access. The application was considered at
the Planning Committee of February 2017 and it was resolved to grant
permission subject to the signing of a Section 106 Legal agreement securing
contributions toward education, healthcare and public open space. The
application was granted planning permission on the 29 June 2017.

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application is a reserved matters application made pursuant to the outline
permission granted under reference 2016/0306. As part of the outline
permission access was approved, therefore, the matters under consideration
as part of this application are scale, landscaping, design and appearance.

3.2

During the course of the application various amendments have been made to
the application with particular regard to the amount of public open space
provided, along with alterations to the housetypes on site, notably units 1-5,
those nearest to the site entrance when accessing the site from Glebe Drive;
the application is considered accordingly.

3.3

The layout as proposed will have two distinct areas of public open space
(POS), one near to the entrance to the site, which is adjacent to 5 public
parking spaces for visitors to properties on Glebe Drive, as required by
condition 19 of the outline permission; the second is to be toward the centre of
the site, and will in total provide 10% POS, as required by the Section 106
Legal Agreement. The 14 dwellings to be erected will be a mixture of sizes
including 8 five-bed, 3 four-bed and 3-three-bed properties, some of which will
be two-storey whereas others will have accommodation over three-storeys,
although the upper floors will largely be in the roof space of the dwellings.

3.4

The layout has been designed around three character areas with plots 1-5
more modest in scale and design, to reflect the change of levels when
heading into the site. Adjacent to the farmhouse and brick barns to be
retained two dwellings will be erected and they will be more reflective in terms

Page 23

of design and elevation treatment of traditional agricultural buildings/barn
conversions. The seven dwellings to the northern part of the site will be larger
in terms of scale and accommodation provided and will be based around the
second area of POS.
3.4

All of the modern agricultural buildings on the site will be removed to facilitate
the erection of the new dwellings; however, an existing farmhouse, currently
unoccupied, and some brick built agricultural buildings will be retained.

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Highway Authority – Note that access was approved at the outline stage and
raise no objection to the reserved matters application subject to conditions
with regard to drainage and provision of off street parking provision;

4.2

Burton Joyce Parish Council (BJPC) – in respect of the original consultation
the Parish Council objected to the application on the grounds that the
dwellings would overbear neighbouring properties given their scale and
change of levels in the area, contrary to policy NP3 of the Burton Joyce
Neighbourhood Plan (BJNP); the housing mix is not appropriate and contrary
to policy NP4; traffic flows will increase as a result of the development;
flooding is an issue, made worse by the removal of existing trees; the
sewerage network is already at capacity; the wildlife survey would need to be
updated and clarity on the extent of open space is sought. On the application
as amended BJPC raised concern over future development of the retained
farmhouse and barn, which will make a larger scale development.

4.3

Environmental Health – notes that an informative was added to the outline
permission with regard to electric vehicle charging points and, where possible,
would wish to see this incorporated within this reserved matters application.

4.2

A site notice was displayed near to the application site, consultation
undertaken with local residents and a notice placed in the local press.
Furthermore, following updated drawings, further consultation was undertaken
with local residents. On the original consultation 21 letters of objection were
received and a summary of their objections are outlined below;








There is an intention on behalf of the applicant to apply for additional
dwellings on his remaining land;
Access to the site is inadequate and will be detrimental to highway safety and
lead to congestion at key junctions;
Local ecology will be impacted through the loss of trees, as well harm to
animals that live in the area e.g. bats, squirrels etc;
The application site is in the green belt and should be refused permission;
Burton Joyce has already built out its number of allocated dwellings;
Flooding will increase as a result of the application, particular due to the
change of levels and loss of vegetation;
Infrastructure locally will not be able to cope with the additional people e.g.
Doctors etc;

Page 24



The scale of dwellings are out of character with the area and too large given
the change of levels, as well as being detrimental to the amenity of nearby
residents.
Additional consultation was undertaken following receipt of amended plans; a
further three letters of objection were received and raised similar concerns to
those above and the additional below concerns;




It is disappointing that the existing farmhouse is being used as a
yardstick for the scale of proposed dwellings, which it should not be;
Flooding issues have not been addressed;
The alterations do not address highway concerns.

5.0

Development Plan Policies

5.1

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development;
chapters 2 – achieving sustainable development; 4 – decision making; 5 –
Delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 6 – building a strong, competitive
economy; 11 – making effective use of land; 12 - achieving well-designed
places and 13 – Protecting Green Belt land are, most pertinent to the
determination of the application.

5.2

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 8: Housing Size, Mix and Choice – sets out the objectives for delivering
new housing.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.
Policy 17: Biodiversity – sets out the approach to ecological interests.

5.3

Local Planning Document (LPD) (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:

Page 25

LPD 4: Surface Water Management – sets out the approach to surface water
management.
LPD 7: Contaminated Land – sets out the approach to land that is potentially
contaminated.
LPD 11: Air Quality – states that planning permission will not be granted for
development that has the potential to adversely impact upon air quality unless
measures to mitigate or offset have been incorporated.
LPD14 – Replacement of buildings within the green belt – identifies that
replacement buildings will be granted subject to a number of criteria
LPD 19: Landscape Character and Visual Impact – states that planning
permission will be granted where new development does not result in a
significant adverse visual impact or a significant adverse impact on the
character of the landscape.
LPD 21: Provision of New Open Space – sets out that there will be a
requirement for public open space on sites of 0.4 hectares in area and above.
LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 33: Residential Density – states that planning permission will not be
granted for proposals of less than 30 dwellings per hectare unless there is
convincing evidence of a need for a different figure.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 37: Housing Type, Size and Tenure – states that planning permission will
be granted for residential development that provides for an appropriate mix of
housing.
LPD 48: Local Labour Agreements – sets out the thresholds where a Local
Labour Agreement will be required.
LPD 57: Parking Standards – sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61: Highway Safety – states that planning permission will be granted for
developments that do not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety,
movement and access needs.
Burton Joyce Neighbourhood Plan (BJNP)
5.4

The Burton Joyce Neighbourhood plan has been adopted and forms part of
the development plan. Pertinent policies are listed below:

Page 26

NP1 Spatial Strategy – identifies the density of development that would be
appropriate and need to ensure that character of the area, including
landscape character, is respected.
NP2: Protecting the Landscape Character of Burton Joyce Parish and
Enhancing Biodiversity – aims to ensure that particular viewpoints are
respected and biodiversity is enhanced through the retention of existing
landscape features and, where possible, enhancements to it.
NP3: Design Principles for Residential Development – new developments
should be of high quality design and reinforce the character of the area, both
in terms of built form and open space.
NP 4: A Mix of Housing Types – identifies that there is a particular demand for
smaller units, 1-3 bed properties, particularly within a 10 minute walk of the
village centre and a need to meet accessibility standards.
NP 9: Traffic and Pedestrian Safety – requires there to be adequate off-street
parking and a safe access and egress for pedestrians and vehicles
6.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of development

6.1

The principle of development has already been established through the grant
of outline planning permission 2016/0306, which this reserved matters
application is made pursuant to. For the avoidance of doubt, access has been
approved as the outline stage and the matters under consideration as part of
this application are layout, scale, appearance and landscaping.

6.2

It should be noted that when the outline permission was granted it was done
so as it was considered that ‘very special circumstances’ had been
demonstrated to allow development in the Green Belt where such proposals
are normally considered to be inappropriate. In coming to that conclusion
considerable weight was added to the fact the proposed built form would be
less than the existing farm buildings on site; transforming a derelict and
possibly contaminated site, the use of which conflicts with some of the
adjacent residential properties, as well as possible economic benefits. In
respect of the additional benefits to the openness of the green belt, significant
work was undertaken exploring the footprint and built volume of the existing
and proposed buildings. To this end, a table was included within the outline
committee report, reproduced below, outlining existing and proposed figures
Built Footprint
Cottages
Farm house
Brick Barns
Modern Barns
New Garages
New House A
New House B

Existing
94sqm
121sqm
368sqm
2931sqm

Page 27

Proposed
121sqm
282sqm
648sqm
880sqm
264sqm

New House C
New House D
Total:

357sqm
172.5sqm
3514sqm

2724.5sqm

Built Volume
Cottages
Farm house
Brick Barns
Modern Barns
New Garages
New House A
New House B
New House C
New House D
Total:
6.3

Existing
630 cubic metres
826 cubic metres
1,250 cubic metres
15,638 cubic metres

Proposed
826 cubic metres
1,175 cubic metres
2,754 cubic metres
6,380 cubic metres
1,914 cubic metres
2,592 cubic metres
1,251 cubic metres

18,344 cubic metres

16,892 cubic metres

An important consideration as part of this reserved matters application is to
ensure that the broad parameters of what would be considered acceptable in
terms of assessing enhancements to the openness of the green belt at the
outline stage are realized at the reserved matter stage. To this end, below is a
table that offers clarification on the footprint and volume of the built form
proposed as part of this application.

Structure

Proposed Footprint Area
(sqm)
Unit
Garages

Farm House[1]
Brick Barns[2]
Cottages[3]
Unit R1
Unit R2
Unit R3
Unit R4
Unit R5
Unit Y1
Unit Y2

101
111
115
101
101
109
145

Unit G1
Unit G2
Unit G3

101
115
145

Unit G4
Unit G5
Unit G6

106
101
145

Unit G7
Totals

106
1602*

Retained Footprint
Area (sqm)
95
254
94

54
46
51
48
51
70
Included in
Unit
59
51
Included in
Unit
51
51
Included in
Unit
51
583

Page 28

443

Total
2628sqm

Structure

Proposed volume (sqm)
Unit

6.4

Farm House[1]
Brick Barns[2]
Cottages[3]
Unit R1
Unit R2
Unit R3
Unit R4
Unit R5
Unit Y1
Unit Y2

542
747
778
542
542
796
959

Unit G1
Unit G2
Unit G3

771
801
922

Unit G4
Unit G5
Unit G6

757
771
923

Unit G7
Totals

757
10,608

Garages

Retained volume
(sqm)
826
1175
630

197
210
220
210
220
370
Included in
Unit
305
220
Included in
Unit
220
220
Included in
Unit
220
2,612

2,631

Total
15,851
cubic
metres

Taking into account the above it is apparent that foot print of the existing buildings is
3,514sqm and it was identified at outline stage that a footprint of 2,724sqm was
proposed; however as part of this reserved matters application the foot print is less
at 2,628sqm. Furthermore, with regard to volumes it is apparent that the existing
volume is 18,344m³ and it was identified at outline stage that 16,892m³ was
proposed; however, as part of this reserved matters application the volume is
proposed to be 15,851m³ (please note this excludes nominal features such as,
chimneys, dormers and bay windows, which would have nominal floor areas too).
Having regard to the above it is considered that the impact on the openness of the
green belt will be improved from the broad parameters identified when the outline
permission was granted, and one of the key considerations when assessing the
acceptability of this application. Furthermore, and for the avoidance of doubt, this is
not an opportunity to consider whether or not the principle of development is
acceptable, rather to assess that it complies with the outline permission and against
the remaining reserved matters; namely scale, layout, landscaping and appearance.
Layout, scale and appearance
6.5 The layout has been designed to reflect the change in levels and character of
the area in that the housetypes near to the site entrance are more modest in scale,
to reflect their prominence when entering the site and views from Glebe Road. Due
to the change in levels the proposed dwellings will be significantly higher than the

Page 29

existing properties; however, due to the proposed public open space there will be
adequate distances between existing and proposed dwellings and whilst plot R3
would be closer to properties on Bulcote Drive it would be a similar distance to the
existing farmhouse to the immediate north.

6.6

The two units adjacent to the retained farm buildings (Y1 and Y2) would have
elevation treatments similar to traditional farm buildings with large, glazed
barn type openings, and these units are considered to be sympathetically
designed to their rural setting. Heading into the remaining northern end of the
site the seven units will be taller in appearance but will not be unduly
prominent from any public vantage points and will be grouped around a
second parcel of POS, creating its own distinct character. As result the layout
is considered to be acceptable and reflect its edge of settlement location with
a low density of development. The housing mix has improved from that
originally submitted in that smaller three-bed units are now proposed. Policy
NP4 of the BJNP would typically look for smaller units of between 1 and 3
bedroom properties; however, it is noted that the site is not within a short
walking distance of services, as identified by the policy and that the overall
scale of development proposed would still be acceptable having regard to its
impact on the openness of the green belt. Therefore, on balance, the housing
mix is considered to be acceptable and comply with policies NP4 and LPD37.

6.7

In terms of scale some of the dwellings will be reasonably tall having
accommodation within the roof space, particularly toward the northern end of
the site; however sections have been provided that show the dwellings
proposed to be erected will, due to a change of levels, sit lower than the
retained farmhouse. Therefore it is not considered that the dwellings would
be overly prominent having regard to the existing built form and any possible
overlooking and overbearing impacts would not be significant in nature. The
density of development would be approximately 15 dwelling per hectare,
lower than the minimum threshold identified in policy LPD33, which would
expect development to be not less than 20 dwellings per hectare; however,
the overriding factor in the determination of this application is considered to be
the impact on the openness of the green belt, and the lower density of
development is considered acceptable in this instance. Therefore, it is
considered that the application complies with policy LPD32 and the
parameters of the outline permission.
Landscaping

6.8

The site is currently devoid of any significant planting given that it is in a semiderelict state, save for self-set trees and planting toward the periphery of the
site. As part of this application it has been identified that a small number of
trees are proposed to be planted and boundary treatments to the periphery of
the site is to be hedging. Requisite on-site POS, 10% of the site spread over
two areas, is to be provided too. As a result there would be ecological
enhancements in terms of planting over and above the existing.

Other considerations

Page 30

6.9

It should be noted that concern has been expressed about matters such as
drainage and flooding issues; however, these matters were considered at the
outline stage and conditions 8 and 9 of the outline consent require details of
surface and foul water to be approved through a discharge of condition
application. Furthermore, condition 11 of the outline consent requires a
protected species survey to be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority too. Therefore, whilst concern has been expressed
about certain aspects of the development they are either not under
considerations as part of this reserved matters application or will require
additional information through the discharge of conditions process. Details in
respect of highways were approved at the outline stage and adequate parking
provision is provided as part of this application with each unit having access to
a double garage with parking in front too; in addition, 5 spaces for wider public
use near to the entrance of the site is proposed. The highway authority have
raised no objection to the application and the application complies with policy
LPD57. A note is proposed to be added to the decision notice encouraging
the use of electric vehicle charging points.

6.10

Concerns have been raised regarding the impact of this development on local
infrastructure. A section 106 legal agreement was completed at outline stage
which will remain pertinent to the application in terms of contributions, as
outlined in section 2.4 of this committee report. Financial contributions have
been secured toward education and primary healthcare to mitigate the impact
of the development and POS is to be provided on site.

7.0 Conclusion
The principle of development is accepted following the grant of outline
planning permission 2016/0306. This reserved matters application will lead to
a reduction in built footprint and volume when compared with the site as
existing, to increase the openness of the green belt, and has been designed
in a manner that reflects its rural location. The layout, scale and appearance
of properties will also respect the amenity of neighbouring properties adjacent
to the application site. Adequate public open space would be provided and
parking provision would be acceptable too. As a result the application is
deemed to comply with policies LPD21, LPD32, LPD33, LPD35, LPD37,
LPD57 and LPD61 of the Local Planning Document; policies A, 1, 2, 8, 10 and
17 of the Aligned Core Strategy; policies NP1, NP2, NP3, NP4 and NP9 of the
Burton Joyce Neighbourhood Plan and guidance within the National Planning
Policy Framework.

8.0

Recommendation: Grant reserved matter approval subject to the
following conditions:
Conditions

1. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form and
following list of approved drawings:
812.1160.2 PL03B Proposed Site Plan

Page 31

812.1160.2 PL04B Public Open Space
812.1160.2 PL127 Proposed Site Sections
812.1160.2 PL110D Unit R1
812.1160.2 PL111A Unit R2
812.1160.2 PL112C Unit R3
812.1160.2 PL113C Unit R4
812.1160.2 PL114C Unit R5
812.1160.2 PL115A Unit Y1
812.1160.2 PL116A Unit Y2
812.1160.2 PL117A Unit G1
812.1160.2 PL118A Unit G2
812.1160.2 PL119A Unit G3
812.1160.2 PL120A Unit G4
812.1160.2 PL121A Unit G5
812.1160.2 PL122A Unit G6
812.1160.2 PL123A Unit G7
812.1160.2 PL124 Units R2 and Y1 Garage
812.1160.2 PL125 Plot R3 Garage
812.1160.2 PL126 Plot G1, G2, G4, G5 and G7 Garages
812.1160.2 Site Location Plan
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.
2. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until its drive and parking area is
surfaced in a bound material (not loose gravel). The surfaced drives and parking
areas shall then be maintained in such bound material for the life of the
development.
3. No dwelling hereby approved shall be occupied until its drive and parking area is
constructed with provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water
from the driveway and parking area to the public highway. The provision to prevent
the unregulated discharge of surface water to the public highway shall then be
retained for the life of the development.
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (and any order revoking, re-enacting or
modifying that Order), other than development expressly authorised by this
permission, there shall be no development under Schedule 2, Part 1 of the Order in
respect of Class A (extensions); Class B and C (roof alterations); D (porches) and
Class E (Development within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse).
Reasons
1. For the avoidance of doubt.
2. To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited on the public
highway (loose stones etc) and to comply with policy LPD61.
3. To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the public highway
causing dangers to road users and to comply with LPD61.

Page 32

4. To ensure that the openness of the green belt is retained and residential
amenity is respected and to comply with policies LPD14 and LPD32.
Notes
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details
of CIL are available on the Council's website. The proposed development has been
assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development
hereby approved as is detailed below. Full details about the CIL Charge including,
amount and process for payment will be set out in the Regulation 65 Liability Notice
which will be sent to you as soon as possible after this decision notice has been
issued. If the development hereby approved is for a self-build dwelling, residential
extension or residential annex you may be able to apply for relief from CIL. Further
details about CIL are available on the Council's website or from the Planning Portal:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil
Your attention is drawn to the observations of our Environmental Health Officer with
regard to electric vehicle charging points and their inclusion within the development.

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5.

Planning Report for 2020/0726

Page 35

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0726

Location:

Land On Flatts Lane, Calverton

Proposal:

Variation of conditions 8 (trees) 3, 16 and 17
(highways) of outline permission 2018/1143 - for the
demolition of existing buildings and structures and
the erection of up to 84 no. dwellings and associated
open space and infrastructure.

Applicant:

Bellway Homes Ltd.

Agent:

Pegasus Planning Group

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

The application is referred to Planning Committee to comply with the Councils
constitution as the development proposes more than 9 dwellings.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The site consists of an area of mostly open land which runs north from Park
Road along the west side of Flatts Lane. All of the site boundaries are formed
by mature hedging and vegetation. The northern, eastern and southern
boundaries are shared with the public highway (Park Road and Flatts Lane)
and the western boundary with open land and with Calverton Village Hall and
the William Lee Memorial Park. A recent housing development is situated on
the eastern side of Flatts Lane.

1.2

There is one residential dwelling, with associated outbuildings, located within
the site, all of which would be demolished as part of the proposed
development. The land rises gradually when heading in a northerly direction;
however, the change is not considered to be significant.

1.3

There are two Oak trees on the north-eastern boundary of the site that are
protected by a Tree Preservation Order. There is a Scheduled Ancient
Monument, (Two Roman Camps 350m North East of Lodge Farm), and a
Grade II Listed Building, Lodge Farmhouse and Adjoining Stables, located
approximately 200 metres to the north of the site.

1.4

The site area is 2.75 hectares.

Page 36

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

2018-1143 - Outline planning application (all matters reserved except for
means of access) for the demolition of existing buildings and structures and
the erection of up to 84 no. dwellings and associated open space and
infrastructure – was granted permission on the 05th March 2020 with a S106
Legal Agreement.

2.2

Section 52 (Flatts Lane, Calverton) - The application was to allow the removal
of an historical Section 52 agreement, which prevented the house on the
application site, and adjoining land, from being sold separately. The Section
52 has been granted.

2.3

2020-0822 - Reserved matters approval (appearance, landscaping, layout
and scale) for the erection of 80 dwellings and public open space pursuant to
outline permission 2018/1143 – the application is currently under
consideration.

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application is made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 to vary conditions 8 (trees), 3, 16 and 17 (highways) of outline
permission 2018/1143. The full wording of the conditions are reproduced
below, along summary of the changes proposed.

3.2

Condition 8 as approved states “No development shall commence on site in
connection with the development hereby approved (including, tree works,
fires, soil moving, temporary access construction and / or widening or any
operations involving the use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery)
until a detailed Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) in accordance with
BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction Recommendations has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority and any protective fencing is erected as required by
the AMS. The AMS shall include full details of the following:
a) Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in relation to the approved
development.
b) Details of a tree protection scheme in accordance with BS5837:2012:
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges on
and adjacent to the site.
c) Details of any construction works required within the root protection area of
trees, hedges or shrubs on and adjacent to the site, as defined by
BS5837:2012.
d) Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and
monitoring of works required to comply with the arboricultural method
statement.
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the
approved Arboricultural Method Statement”.

Page 37

In support of the application an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) has
been submitted and the proposed alteration to the condition is to reflect the
findings of the report.
3.3.

Condition 3 as approved states “This permission shall be read in accordance
with drawing number 10_01 Revision 00 (with regard to the site area only)
and drawing number METM3003-01 Revision 01 (with regard to the five
access points onto Flatts Lane only). Development shall thereafter be
undertaken in accordance with these plans”.
The condition is not proposed to alter save for the drawing number therein
being updated to reflect the updated plan submitted with this application. The
key change being that the number of access points to Flatts Lane will reduce
from five to four, two of which will be built to an adoptable standard and two of
which will be private.

3.4

Condition 16 as approved states “The reserved matters application for the
development hereby permitted shall include detailed plans and particulars
relating to the following items:

(i)

A detailed layout plan of the site (for the avoidance of doubt the submitted
Layout Plan reference: METM3003-01 Revision 1, shall be considered to be
for indicative purposes only) which shall be accompanied by a swept path
analyses of an 11.5m long refuse vehicle throughout the proposed highway to
become adopted, considering the likelihood of on street parking;
Details of the proposed arrangements and plan for future management and
maintenance of the proposed private roads including associated drainage
contained within the private part of the development;
Details of the proposed arrangements and plan for future management and
maintenance of any hedgerows and other vegetation located between roads,
both existing and proposed, and the site boundary;
Bin storage locations at shared private drives.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Thereafter, the scheme shall be implemented in full accordance with the
approved details”.
The condition is proposed to alter to reflect the alterations to the highway
layout namely that the number of access points to Flatts Lane will reduce from
five to four.
3.5

Condition 17 as approved states “Prior to first occupation of the development
hereby approved, construction details of the five vehicular site access
junctions from Flatts Lane shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved detailed access arrangements shall
thereafter be implemented prior to first occupation of the development”.
As above, the condition is proposed to alter to reflect the alterations to the
highway layout namely that the number of access points to Flatts Lane will
reduce from five to four.

Page 38

Consultations
4.1

Environment Agency – note that the application would not impact conditions
suggested by the EA so raise no objection to the application.

4.2

Nottinghamshire County Council – Lead Local Flood Authority – make a
number of observations on the need to comply with relevant drainage
guidance.

4.3

Gedling Borough Council Conservation Officer – notes the application would
not affect heritage impacts and raises no objection to the application.

4.4

Gedling Borough Council Scientific Officer – make no observations on the
application in that it would not affect conditions suggested by them.

4.5

Tree Officer – Raises no objection to the variation of condition 8. No material
alteration to the previously submitted tree information or number of trees to be
removed.

4.6

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group – note that this application would not
affect the contributions sought through the S106.

4.7

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways – raise no objection to the
changes in that adequate visibility is achieved from the access points onto
Flatts Lane given the footway that is proposed.

4.8

Parks – No additional comments

4.9

Calverton Parish Council – Maintain their objection to the application, as they
did on the original permission. A summary of their concerns is drafted below;










The Local Plan indicated that 60 houses would be built and this proposal is
over intensive
Fewer properties should be proposed
The mix of properties does not meet with the requirements of the Calverton
Neighbourhood Plan
The Calverton Neighbourhood Plan recommends that development should not
exceed 2 storeys and the block of flats at the southern end would not comply
with this
The distribution of affordable housing is not in accordance with the Calverton
Neighbourhood Plan
The width of Flatts Lane is already a problem and the number of accesses
would exacerbate this
The existing hedgerow would have to be removed in several places, one
access to the north and one to the south would be preferable
The Calverton Neighbourhood Plan states that there should be a masterplan
for the North West quadrant. The application represents piecemeal
development and may make a bus connection onto Flatts Lane impossible
The William Lee Park will need a secure boundary and a proposed access to
the park from the development is not supported

Page 39




4.10

The hedge on Flatts Lane should be enhanced and thickened
More details are required of the planting at the northern end of the site are
required to assess the impact on the view from the Scheduled Ancient
Monument
Members of the Public
A press notice was published, two site notices were displayed and neighbour
notification letters posted; 4 objections have been received and these are
summarised as follows:




















Loss of sections of hedgerow
There should be no private drives
Vehicles will reverse onto Flatts Lane, which will be detrimental to highway
safety
Number of accesses should be reduced
An access should be taken from Park Road
Parked cars on Flatts leads to traffic congestion, this will only get worse
Encroachment into countryside
Parking on the site is inadequate
The dwellings opposite exiting properties will impact on the privacy of exiting
residents.
Inadequate vis-splays are proposed
Houses should not have direct access points to Flatts Lane
Flatts Lane should be one-way
Will social distancing be possible during construction?
Impact upon local facilities and services
Increase in traffic
Noise increase
Change in the character of the village
Increase in school class sizes

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019

Page 40

Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Sections 5 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes), 11 (Making effective use
of land) and 12 (Achieving well-designed places) are particularly relevant.
6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 8: Housing Size, Mix and Choice – sets out the objectives for delivering
new housing.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.
Policy 17: Biodiversity – sets out the approach to ecological interests.
Policy 19: Developer Contributions – set out the criteria for requiring planning
obligations.

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD 4: Surface Water Management – sets out the approach to surface water
management.
LPD 7: Contaminated Land – sets out the approach to land that is potentially
contaminated.
LPD 11: Air Quality – states that planning permission will not be granted for
development that has the potential to adversely impact upon air quality unless
measures to mitigate or offset have been incorporated.
LPD 19: Landscape Character and Visual Impact – states that planning
permission will be granted where new development does not result in a
significant adverse visual impact or a significant adverse impact on the
character of the landscape.
LPD 21: Provision of New Open Space – sets out that there will be a
requirement for public open space on sites of 0.4 hectares in area and above,
which could be on-site or off-site.

Page 41

LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 33: Residential Density – states that planning permission will not be
granted for proposals of less than 30 dwellings per hectare unless there is
convincing evidence of a need for a different figure.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 36: Affordable Housing – sets out that a 20% affordable housing
provision will be required in Calverton but that a lower requirement may be
justified provided there is sufficient evidence which takes account of all
potential contributions from grant funding sources and a viability assessment
has been undertaken by the Council which demonstrates this.
LPD 37: Housing Type, Size and Tenure – states that planning permission will
be granted for residential development that provides for an appropriate mix of
housing.
LPD 48: Local Labour Agreements – sets out the thresholds where a Local
Labour Agreement will be required.
LPD 57: Parking Standards – sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61: Highway Safety – states that planning permission will be granted for
developments that do not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety,
movement and access needs.
LPD 66: Housing Allocations– identifies the application site as housing
allocation X4, for approximately 60 new dwellings.
6.5

Calverton Neighbourhood Plan
The Calverton Neighbourhood Plan was adopted by Gedling Borough Council
on 31 January 2018. As such the Calverton Neighbourhood Plan forms part of
the Development Plan for Gedling Borough.
Policy G2: Developer Contributions – sets out that developer contributions will
be sought towards education provision (nursery, primary, secondary, 16-18),
primary GP healthcare provision and village centre environmental
improvements
Policy G5: Housing Mix – states that development should include a mix of
dwelling sizes, that planning permission will be granted for developments
which provide bungalow and other types of accommodation for elderly and
disabled people, that proposals for major development that do not include a
mix of dwelling sizes and tenures and accommodation suitable for elderly and
disabled people will be refused, that on all major development schemes,
planning permission will be granted for the provision of plots for self-build

Page 42

subject to other policies in the development plan and that affordable housing
should be designed and delivered to be indistinguishable from market housing
and should be distributed throughout the development as a whole.
Policy ISF1: Sustainable Transport – states that opportunities for the use of
sustainable modes of transport must be maximised.
Policy ISF2: Car Parking – states that any new development outside of the
Village Centre will only be permitted where it has sufficient parking provision.
Policy ISF3 – Highway Impact – sets out the criteria for assessing highway
impact.
Policy ISF4: Infrastructure Provision – states that residential developments
will be required to provide the necessary infrastructure, such as education
provision, healthcare provision, open space and drainage provision.
Policy BE1: Design & Landscaping – states that all development on the edge
of Calverton must provide soft landscaping on the approach into the village
and sets out criteria to achieve this.
Policy BE2: Local Distinctiveness and Aesthetics – states that development
should be designed to a high quality that reinforces local distinctiveness
including that buildings on the fringes of major developments should have
variations in height, style and position.
Policy BE3: Public Realm – sets out the approach to the public realm and to
landscaping.
Policy BE4: Parking Provision – sets out that adequate parking must be
provided.
Policy NE3: Flooding- sets out the approach to preventing flooding and to
ensure that adequate drainage is provided.
Policy NE4: Green Infrastructure –sets out the approach to green
infrastructure and ecological considerations.
Policy NE5: Biodiversity – sets out the approach to biodiversity.
6.6

Other
Parking Provision for Residential Developments – Supplementary Planning
Document 2012– sets out the car parking requirements for new residential
development.
Open Space Provision SPG (2001) – sets out the open space requirements
for new residential development.
Affordable Housing SPD (2009) – sets out the affordable housing
requirements for new residential development.

Page 43

7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of the development

7.1

The application site benefits from planning permission and this is an
application to vary four of the approved conditions, with particular regard to
highway and arboricultural considerations. In terms of policy background, the
site is an allocated for housing by Policy LPD 66 of the Local Planning
Document, which was adopted in July 2018. Policy LPD 66 identifies the site
as providing approximately 60 dwellings; the outline planning permission
indicates that up to 84 dwellings could be erected, although the acceptability
of this density of development, or otherwise would need to be considered at
reserved matters stage. This report will briefly review other matters previously
considered but will primarily focus on the key matters under consideration,
namely highway matters and arboricultural impacts.
Highway matters

7.2

The previously approved scheme had five access point from Flatts Lane;
however, this application is to reduce the number of access points to four, two
of which would be adopted and two private. Based on the indicative layout
submitted with this application, a number of drives to individual properties are
also proposed but the acceptability of these would need to be assessed
through the reserved matters application.

7.3

Flatts Lane has a speed limit of 30mph and on the opposite side of the road to
the application site are a number of small roads to access dwellings set-back
from Flatts Lane, along with individual drives to properties too. The four
access roads proposed as part of this application would not be opposite
existing access roads and adequate visibility splays would be possible with a
footway along the edge of the application site with Flatts Lane. As a result, it
is not considered that the amended access points would be detrimental to
highway safety and looks to replicate the highway layout of the existing
development on the opposite side of the road. The highway authority raise no
objection to the application and, as a result, the alterations to the access
points are considered to be acceptable and the application deemed to comply
with policy LPD61.
Arboricultural considerations

7.4

Condition 8 of the original permission required the submission and approval of
an Arboricultural Method Statement prior to development commencing. In
support of this application an Arboricultural Assessment (AA) has been
submitted which specifically looks to determine which trees are to be removed
to facilitate development. The vast majority of trees on the site are to the
southern edge of the site where currently there is an existing dwelling. The
key area under consideration under this application is whether, in particular, it
is acceptable to remove a number of poplar trees that sit along the southern
boundary. The AA has identified that all of the Poplar trees are to be
removed; they are tall specimens at approximately 23m tall but Poplar trees
are notoriously short lived and the AA has classified them as C within the
report. Category C trees are identified as those of low quality with a life

Page 44

expectancy of between 10 and 20 years. They are not currently protected by
a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) nor, given that they are considered to be low
quality, is it considered that they are worthy of a TPO. The tree officer for the
Council has been consulted on the application and concurs with the advice
given in the AA and, therefore, it is considered acceptable to remove the trees
identified within the report. It should be noted that other trees within the site
to be retained would still need to be protected and this can be secured via
condition and a more appropriate boundary treatment along the boundary
would need to be secured. Furthermore, the loss of the trees can be
mitigated through the approval of a landscaping scheme within the wider site.
Having regard to the above, the AA submitted in support of this application is
acceptable and it is recommended that the variation to the condition be
approved, with the proposal deemed to comply with policies LPD19 and
ASC10.
Other planning considerations
7.5

Taking into account the fact that there is an extant planning permission in
place and this proposal seeks alterations to it, other matters such as impacts
on the ecology, drainage etc, have all been duly considered. In respect of the
impacts on the character of the area and residential amenity, these will be
considered in greater detail through the reserved matters process.
Planning obligations

7.6

A planning obligation has been secured from the previous permission and
secured contributions toward affordable housing, public open space,
education, health, bus stops and a local labour agreement. Typically with this
being an application to vary a condition on an approved permission there
would be a need have a deed of variation to the approved legal agreement.
However, there is a clause in the section 106 legal agreement which means
the planning obligations bind any new planning permission granted under
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act, provided the parties agree
in writing that the development permitted by any new permission granted
pursuant to a section 73 application is similar to the development permitted by
the original permission, i.e. it does not varying the planning obligations
secured by the original section 106 agreement.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The principle of the development has been established following the grant of
planning permission 2018/1143 and with the application site being allocated
for residential development under policy LPD66. In respect of the matters
specifically under consideration, amendments to the highway network and
works to the trees, they are both deemed to be acceptable. It is therefore
considered that the granting of outline planning permission would fully accord
with the objectives of the relevant planning policies set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework, Aligned Core Strategy, Local Planning Document
and Supplementary Planning Documents and Calverton Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 45

Recommendation: Grant Outline Planning Permission with the matter of
Access approved: Subject to the parties to original section 106 confirming in
writing that the development permitted is similar to the development permitted
by the original planning permission and subject to the conditions listed for the
reasons set out in the report.

Conditions
1. Approval of the details of layout, scale, landscaping and appearance (hereinafter
called "the reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority
before the commencement of any development.
2. Application for the approval of reserved matters must be made not later than the
5h March 2023 and the development to which this permission relates must be begun
within two years from the date of final approval of reserved matters.
3. This permission shall be read in accordance with drawing number 10_01 revision
00 (with regard to the site area only) and drawing number S0000/100/01 Rev A (with
regard to the four access points onto Flatts Lane only). Development shall thereafter
be undertaken in accordance with these plans.
4. Prior to the commencement of development details of the existing and proposed
ground levels of the site and finished floor levels of the dwellings shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.
5. Development shall not commence until a scheme for the satisfactory disposal of
foul and surface water from the site has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority. No part of the development shall then be occupied
or brought into use until the approved foul and surface water drainage works are
completed in accordance with the approved scheme.
6. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development must not
commence until the following has been complied with:
Site Characterisation
An assessment of the nature and extent of any potential contamination has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This
assessment must be undertaken by a competent person, and shall assess any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. Moreover, it must
include; a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination and; an
assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property, adjoining land,
controlled waters, ecological systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments.
Submission of Remediation Scheme Where required following the site
characterisation assessment, a detailed remediation scheme (to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to critical
receptors) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, an appraisal of remedial options,

Page 46

and proposal of the preferred option(s), and a timetable of works and site
management procedures.
In the event that remediation is required to render the development suitable for use,
the agreed remediation scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the
approved timetable of works.
Prior to occupation of any building(s) a Verification Report (that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be submitted and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
7. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local Planning
Authority has identified the part of the site affected by the unexpected contamination
development must be halted on that part of the site. An assessment must be
undertaken in accordance with the requirements set out in Condition 6 above, and
where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme, together with a timetable for
its implementation and verification reporting, must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any remediation works and verification
reports shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved remediation scheme.
8. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the findings of the
Arboricultural Assessment produced by FPC ref 9143AA.
No development shall however commence on site in connection with the
development hereby approved (including, tree works, fires, soil moving, temporary
access construction and / or widening or any operations involving the use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until a detailed Arboricultural Method
Statement (AMS) in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design,
demolition and construction) Recommendations has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and any protective fencing is
erected as required by the AMS. The AMS shall include full details of the following:
a) Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in relation to the approved
development.
b) Details of any construction works required within the root protection area of trees,
hedges or shrubs on and adjacent to the site, as defined by BS5837:2012.
c) Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and monitoring of
works required to comply with the arboricultural method statement.
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved
Arboricultural Method Statement.
9. Prior to commencement of any above ground construction works, details of
Electric Vehicle charging points to be provided at each dwelling, to include their
location and specification shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance
with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the development.
10. Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed Noise and Dust
Management Plan shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Noise and Dust Management Plan shall identify the types
and locations of works which are likely to cause noise and dust disturbance to
sensitive receptors and: -Minimise noise and dust arising from such works by
technical and physical means, and through work scheduling & management best

Page 47

practice - Identify (and make stakeholders aware of) the person responsible for
recording, investigating & dealing with complaints from residents - Set out a
communication strategy to keep regulators, resident and other stakeholders advised
well in advance of specific works which are likely to cause noise and dust
disturbance - Ensure that as much of the disruptive / noisy / dust generating work as
possible is carried out during the normal construction operating hours - Regularly
review the Noise and Dust Management Plan. Any amendments which may have an
impact on noise or dust sensitive receptors shall be agreed in advance with the Local
Planning Authority and communicated to all other stakeholders. The approved Noise
and Dust Management Plan shall be implemented throughout the construction and
demolition works undertaken on site.
11. The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations
set out in Section 5 of the submitted Ecological Assessment Report (Document Ref
6710.002) dated October 2018.
12. Prior to the erection of any external lighting (other than within the curtilages of
the approved dwellings) there shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority details of all such lighting, including levels of illumination
and a lux plot of the estimated luminance. Any lighting to be installed along the site
boundaries should be kept to a minimum and directed away from the building and
retained boundary features to maintain 'dark' areas and corridors. The external
lighting shall be provided in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained as such thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
13. No above ground construction works shall commence until details of bat and bird
boxes to be incorporated within the fabric of the buildings and/or within the site have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bat
and bird boxes shall thereafter be provided in accordance with the approved details
prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved.
14. a) No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation for
archaeological work has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, and until all pre-start elements of the approved scheme have
been completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall
include an assessment of significance and research questions; and: i) The
programme and methodology of site investigation and recording ii) The programme
for post investigation assessment iii) Provision to be made for analysis of the site
investigation and recording iv) Provision to be made for publication and
dissemination of the analysis and records of the site investigation v) Provision to be
made for the archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site investigation
vi) Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the
works set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation b) The development shall
not take place other than in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation for
archaeological work approved under part a). c) The new dwellings shall not be
brought into use until the site investigation and post investigation assessment has
been completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of
Investigation for archaeological work approved under part a) and the provision to be
made for analysis, publication and dissemination of results has been secured.
15. No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by

Page 48

the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to
throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for: i) the parking of
vehicles of site operatives and visitors ii) loading and unloading of plant and
materials iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate v) wheel washing facilities vi)
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction vii) a scheme
for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works
16. The reserved matters application for the development hereby permitted shall
include detailed plans and particulars relating to the following items: (i) A detailed
layout plan of the site (for the avoidance of doubt the submitted layout plans
reference S0000/100/01 Rev A, shall be considered to be for indicate purposes only)
which shall be accompanied by a swept path analysis of an 11.5m long refuse
vehicle throughout the proposed highway to become adopted, considering the
likelihood of on street parking; (ii) Bin storage location at shared private drives.
17. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, construction details
of the four vehicular site access junctions from Flatts Lane shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved detailed access
arrangements shall thereafter be implemented prior to first occupation of the
development.
18. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved details of the two
uncontrolled pedestrian crossings, across Flatts Lane, including dropped kerbs and
tactile paving, as illustratively shown on drawing reference: "METM300301/Revision
1" shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
crossings shall be provided in accordance with the approved details prior to first
occupation of the development hereby approved.
19. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved construction details
of the proposed 2.0m wide footway on the western side of Flatts Lane along the sites
frontage, as illustratively shown in outline on plan titled: "METM3003-01/Revision 1",
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved footway arrangement and associated works shall thereafter be
implemented prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved.
20. Occupation of the proposed dwellings shall not take place until their respective
driveways have been surfaced in a bound material (not loose gravel) for a minimum
distance of 5.0 metres behind the highway boundary, and which shall be drained to
prevent the discharge of surface water from the driveway to the public highway. The
bound material and the provision to prevent the discharge of surface water to the
public highway shall be retained for the lifetime of the development.
Reasons
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990. The application is expressed to be in outline only in accordance with
Article 5 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure)(England) Order 2015.
2. To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.

Page 49

3. To define the permission, for the avoidance of doubt.
4. To ensure that the development does not have a detrimental impact upon visual
amenity or upon the occupiers of adjacent dwellings.
5. To ensure that the drainage scheme is appropriate to meet the needs of the site
and the approved development.
6. To ensure the development is safe and suitable for use, thereby taking into
consideration paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy
LPD7 of the Councils Local Plan.
7. To ensure the development is safe and suitable for use, thereby taking into
consideration paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy
LPD7 of the Councils Local Plan.
8. To ensure that existing trees and hedges are adequately protected.
9. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable manner
which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and takes into
consideration policy LPD11 of the Councils Local Plan.
10. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable manner
which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and takes into
consideration the National Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the
Councils Local Plan and in the interests of residential amenity.
11. In the interests of protecting ecological interests
12. In the interests of protecting ecological interests.
13. In the interests of enhancing ecological provision on the site.
14. To safeguard any potential archaeological remains.
15. In the interest of highway safety.
16. To ensure the development is designed and constructed to adoptable standards
and appropriately maintained.
17. In the interest of Highway Safety, to ensure adequate access, operational
capacity, and associated visibility is provided to the development, along with safe
pedestrian access.
18. In the interest of sustainable travel.
19. In the interest of sustainable travel.
20. In the interests of highway safety.

Page 50

Agenda Item 6.

Planning Report for 2020/0108

Page 51

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0108

Location:

Redhill Pavilion, Thornton Avenue, Redhill

Proposal:

Change of use of pavilion building and Groundsman's
cottage to day nursery along with external alterations
to the building, a single storey extension, erection of
2.4m palisade fencing, change of use of farmland to a
car park associated with the day nursery and creation
of new footpath adjacent to existing Bridleway

Applicant:

Happy Munchkin Day Nursery – Mr Reece Oliver

Agent:
Case Officer:

Nicolla Ellis

This application has been referred to Planning Committee by the Planning
Delegation Panel to allow the impact of the development upon the openness of
the Green Belt and highway/public safety to be considered.
1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site comprises a former pavilion and groundsman cottage which
is currently derelict and in a state of disrepair. The building is single storey in
height, predominantly brick built with a flat roof. Surrounding the site the area
is mostly grassed with an access driveway. The front boundary of the site
occupies several mature trees as well as a thick hedgerow.

1.2

The site is washed over by the Nottingham-Derby Green Belt and is bounded
by tall hedgerows with fields surrounding the site. The site is located to the north
of Thornton Avenue and is accessed via a bridleway which is hard surfaced and
leads to a farm approximately 300m to the north. It is understood that the
property has an agreed right of way over the byway which is owned by the farm.
Approximately 120m to the SE are residential properties situated along
Thornton Avenue.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

No planning history.

3.0

Proposed Development

Page 52

3.1

Planning permission is sought for change of use of the building to a day nursery
(D1 use class), along with the erection of extensions, fencing, a new
tarmacadam footpath and the change of use of surrounding agricultural land
to a car park. The nursery would provide places for 54 children aged 0-4years,
separated into three rooms – baby care, toddler and pre-school.

3.2

In terms of alterations to the building, the building is proposed to be renovated
with changes to the existing fenestration providing additional glazing, as well
the addition of a palette of materials to clad the building including zinc, timber
and concrete render to improve the insulation of the building.

3.3

An extension is proposed to rear of main entrance in the centre of the building
which would have a footprint of approximately 10m 2 and would have a flat roof
to match the existing built form.

3.4

Other additions to the building include the erection of a polycarbonate canopy
to the rear elevation (west) of the building covering an area of approximately
59m2. Outdoor play areas would be created to the east and west of the building.

3.5

The proposal also seeks change of use of agricultural land to a car park for the
nursery. This would include the hard surfacing of the land to create
13no.parking spaces (3 of which would be disabled spaces).

3.6

The proposal also seeks to include a tarmacked pedestrian access from edge
of the footpath on Thornton Avenue to the site which would run to the SW of
the hedgerow running along the bridleway. The entrance to the footpath would
have a 2.4m palisade gate with a low boundary treatment running along the
side of the footpath adjacent to the field.

3.7

Surrounding the site, the application proposes 2.4m high palisade fencing.

3.8

For awareness, the proposal has been amended several times since its
submission to address concerns raised by the Highway Authority and Public
Rights of Way team, as well as to amend errors in the application highlighted
during the course of the application. This report and assessment relates to the
amended plans and documents submitted on 14th September 2020.

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was placed on 9th
March 2020. In total, up to 5th October 2020, 38 letters have been received in
objection from 21 residents and 12 letters have been received in support of the
application. The comments raised are summarised below:
Concerns:
-

Increased traffic along Thornton Avenue, which already struggles to
accommodate farm vehicles and HGVs
Increased pedestrian use of the bridleway by those attending the nursery
could cause an accident with large vehicles serving the farm along the
bridleway, particularly as there is no pavement

Page 53

-

-

-

-

Vehicle and pedestrian safety in dark winter months along the narrow lane
Change of use of the farmland to car park would have an impact upon the
environment and conservation of the farmland
Increased car emissions on Thornton Avenue would have physical and
mental impacts upon local residents
There is sufficient early years’ childcare in the Redhill area and therefore do
not require an additional nursery
Ofsted have no published inspection report for the pre-school and therefore
no confirmation of its long-term viability
Negative impact upon wildlife
Increased noise
Potential future expansion of the nursery
Damage caused by vehicles to the highway
Proposals out of keeping for the area
Impact upon value of nearby residential properties
Loss of privacy
Hedgerow should not be removed
The proposed gate access would increase the number of parked vehicles
on Thornton Avenue, making the current situation with passing large
vehicles worse
There are bats roosting in the building and trees within the development site
The letter from the agent dismisses the traffic impacts but they do not appear
to be a qualified expert in highway safety.
Reference to the possible bus-route from Leapool Island is unlikely to be
constructed in the foreseeable and indeed to infer that users of the nursery
may use the bus access facility is fatuous as the cost of bus would be
prohibitively high for such a short journey; the same writer suggests that the
vast majority of users would be from the Redhill area anyway.
Fabric of building has deteriorated for at least 20 years and is considered to
be beyond repair at a reasonable cost. There is likely to be substantial
amounts of asbestos yet there is no mention of an asbestos survey.
The 2.4m security fence is intrusive.

Support:
-

4.2

Benefits council and local residents through transforming a currently
dangerous and vandalised property and provides a well-needed childcare
facility in a unique natural setting.
It will make a great learning environment for children who can spend more
time outdoors
Creation of additional jobs
Support for the existing pre-school set up

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways and Public Rights of Way
teams have been consulted and initially the Public Rights of Way team initially
raised an objection to the proposal from a public right of way perspective,
however following amendments received on 14 th September, the objections
have been removed, subject to conditions relating to the provision of the car
park and pedestrian access path.
The Highway Authority also advised that the junction onto the A60 and the link
between the adopted highway and the Public Right of Way are both satisfactory

Page 54

to accommodate the increase in vehicles that would be likely to be generated
as part of the proposal.
4.3

GBC Scientific Officer has been consulted and has recommended conditions
relating to electric vehicle charging points and construction emission
management plan and an advisory note regarding land contamination and the
removal of asbestos).

4.4

GBC Conservation and Heritage Officer has been consulted and has raised
no objection to the overall scheme but has advised that the use of
polycarbonate roofs to the open sided extensions should be avoided as this will
not be a durable material and will fade in appearance over time and may be
difficult to clean and does not complement its location.
Further comments were received on the amended proposal also suggesting
that any low level fencing should be timber post and rail to complement the rural
setting of the site along the pedestrian access. The proposed palisade gate
entrance to the end of the footpath where it meets the road will appear
incongruous and a more sympathetic design in this location should be
considered.

4.5

Sport England have been consulted and advised that the loss of any sports
facility should be considered against Paragraph 97 of National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF.

4.6

Press notice
Following the consultation with the Planning Delegation Panel and the decision
to refer the application to Planning Committee, on preparing the report it
became clear that the advertisement of the departure had not been made. The
application was advertised in the press on the 10 October 2020.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) sets out the national objectives
for delivering sustainable development. The following section are particularly
relevant to this application:
Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities

Page 55

Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport
Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
Section 13: Protecting the Green Belt
6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
The following policies of the Adopted Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) 2014 are
pertinent to the determination of this application:
Policy 3: The Green Belt
Policy 10: Design and enhancing local identity

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this application
are as follows:
Policy LPD 12: reuse of buildings within the Green Belt
Policy LPD13: Extensions to Buildings within the Green Belt
Policy LPD 19: Landscape character and visual impact
Policy LPD 32: Amenity
Policy LPD 57: Parking Standards
Policy LPD 58: Cycle routes, recreational routes and public rights of way
Policy LPD 61: Highway Safety

7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of Development

7.1

The proposed building is located within the Nottingham-Derby Green Belt
where development is considered to be inappropriate unless it falls within one
of the exceptions listed in paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF. Inappropriate
development is by definition harmful to the Green Belt and should not be
approved unless there are very special circumstances.

7.2

The proposal seeks to reuse the building as a nursery, along with associated
extensions and alterations to the building. Paragraph 146 of the NPPF and
Policy LPD12 of the LPD consider the reuse of buildings to be an appropriate
form of development providing the building is of permanent and substantial
construction.

Page 56

7.3

The proposal also include a change of use of agricultural land and engineering
works to form a car parking area and a pedestrian footpath to be associated
with the proposed nursery. Changes of use of land are not considered
appropriate within the Green Belt by the NPPF unless it is in connection with
outdoor sport or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds (paragraph
146 of the NPPF).

7.4

Given the above, the development as a whole is inappropriate. The merits of
each part of the development, and a full assessment against planning policy is
discussed in the sections below.
Impact on the openness of the Green Belt

7.5

The proposal would bring back into use a redundant building which, in principle,
is considered to be an appropriate form of development by paragraph 146 of
the NPPF and Policy LPD12 of the LPD providing the building is of permanent
and substantial construction; I have no evidence before that that would suggest
the building was not of sound construction although no feasibility study or
conservation method statement confirming this has been submitted, as required
by Policy LPD 12 of the LPD. Given the issues discussed later in this
assessment, it was considered unreasonable to ask the applicant to undertake
additional work for the application, incurring additional expense for the
applicant. However from visiting the site and assessing the plans, much of the
building is to be retained with very limited rebuild or demolition which suggests
that the building is capable of conversion.

7.6

Paragraph 146 does however caveat this acceptability by stating that this form
of development is considered to be appropriate providing it preserves the
openness of the Green Belt. As such, whilst the principle of the change of use
of the building is considered to be appropriate development within the Green
Belt, the associated works and development proposed to facilitate this change
of use need to be assessed in terms of their impact upon the openness of the
Green Belt.

7.7

Turning first to the proposed extensions to the building, there is a small
extension to the rear of the main entrance proposed, along with the erection of
a canopy to the rear of the building, which, whilst it would be open-sided, would
still result in additional built form and useable floor area and such needs to be
taken into account. The external floorspace of the existing building is 376m 2
and the proposed additions would add a further 69m 2 to the building, equating
to an 18% increase in floorspace. Policy LPD 13 of the LPD allows extensions
to buildings within the Green Belt providing they do not cumulatively result in
more than a 50% increase in floorspace over the original building. This is
reflected in Paragraph 145 of the NPPF which states that extensions could be
considered appropriate development provided extensions are proportionate to
the host building.

7.8

The extensions would be single storey in nature and would sit subservient to
the host building. The additions would be visible from the wider landscape,
particularly to the rear, however they would be read within the setting of the
existing building, with some infill built form and as such, I consider the proposed
extensions to the dwelling to be appropriate within the Green Belt.

Page 57

7.9

Turning next to the proposed change of use of agricultural land to a car park
and pedestrian access, this would materially alter the appearance of the land
within the Green Belt and would result in the loss of open land, which Green
Belt policies seek to preserve. The proposed car park would result in almost
550m2 of hardstanding where there is currently farmland, with the proposed
footpath measuring 100m in length and 1.85m in width, resulting in a
considerable length of hard surfacing bounded by fencing. Whilst I appreciate
that the car park and pedestrian access would not accommodate additional
structures (with the exception of fencing), the addition of hardstanding and the
general use of this part of the land would detract from the rural appearance of
the site, urbanising the landscape and thus resulting in harm to the Green Belt;
the uses could attract further structures or associated paraphernalia in the
future, further damaging the setting. The principle of the change of use of the
land and associated engineering works would therefore be contrary to the aims
of Green Belt Policy.

7.10

The applicant has argued that the construction of the car park would be
considered an engineering operation, which are considered to be appropriate
forms of development within the Green Belt. However, I disagree with this view
as the land is not currently a parking area or pedestrian footpath, nor indeed
part of the curtilage of the existing building and therefore in order to
accommodate the car park and footpath, the associated curtilage would need
to be extended and the land changed from agricultural use; a change of use,
as well as an engineering operation, would therefore occur and this is
development. Furthermore, the additional area to be given to the proposed
nursery would be approximately 733m2 to facilitate the car park and footpath,
which I consider to be a substantial area and 65% increase in curtilage.

7.11

In addition to the above, the proposal also seeks to install a 2.4m metal palisade
fence around the entire site as well as entrance gates to the front of the site
and pedestrian access. The current boundary treatments are natural and
reference the traditional field boundaries surrounding the site; the addition of
metal fencing would in my view be inappropriate for the rural setting, again
urbanising the site and going against the aims of local and national Green Belt
policy. For the purposes of the Act the term building includes any structure or
erection and therefore includes fences. Fences and gates are not listed as
exceptions for the purposes of paragraph 145. I therefore consider that the
installation of the fencing and gate would be inappropriate development for the
purposes of paragraphs 145 and 146 of the NPPF. The development, because
of its inappropriateness would, by definition, be harmful to the Green Belt and I
am of the view that substantial weight should be given to that harm.

7.12

The site is readily visible from the surrounding landscape and thus the addition
of substantial metal fencing would, in my view, by visually harmful when read
within the landscape and as such would be harmful to the character of the
Green Belt. I acknowledge the applicant’s offer of planting a hedgerow around
the fencing however this would be difficult to enforce its retention in the future.

7.13

I also acknowledge that the use of the site as a day nursery does require
additional security for the safety of the children, and as such fencing for security
purposes could in the case of this proposed use be considered a very special

Page 58

circumstance in line with Section 13 of the NPPF. However there are more
appropriate boundary treatment options that could be explored to provide
sufficient security and as such I do not consider the proposed fencing submitted
with this application to be appropriate within the Green Belt setting.
7.14

The NPPF does state that where there are very special circumstances identified
for a proposal that these may outweigh the harm to the Green Belt. The
applicant has not identified any very special circumstances that the LPA should
give weight to and whilst I note the applicant seeks a larger premises to grow
the nursery business, there has been no justification provided as to why the
business needs to be located in the pavilion rather than alternative sites and
therefore this would not in my view represent a very special circumstance.
Similarly, the improvements to the building are welcomed but are not
considered so exceptional that they would outweigh the harm

7.15

Given the above, I am of the view that the change of use of the land and
engineering works required to create the proposed carpark and footpath to
facilitate the use of the building as a day nursery are inappropriate forms of
development and do not meet the aims of Section 13 of the NPPF or LPD12 of
the Local Planning Document. Whilst there is some merit in bringing the building
back into use and improving the site’s appearance within the Green Belt, I do
not consider the benefits of the scheme to outweigh the harm upon openness
of the Green Belt that local and national planning policy seek to preserve. There
have been no very special circumstances brought forward that would outweigh
the harm to the Green Belt.
Character and appearance of the area

7.16

The character of the area is predominantly rural, and whilst I am mindful that
the edge of the built up area of Redhill sits 120m to the SE of the site, the site
is very much read within the back drop of the surrounding fields rather than the
urban setting relatively close by. The existing building is isolated and wellscreened by hedgerows, which I understand to the front would be retained
although it has not been made clear whether other parts of the hedgerow would
be retained; in any event it would be difficult to enforce that this hedgerow is
retained in perpetuity and should not be a determining factor in concluding the
development is acceptable.

7.17

The site is currently derelict and therefore a proposal to improve its appearance
is welcomed in principle and I am of the view that the proposed alterations and
extensions to the existing building would improve the appearance of the
building within the immediate area and would be subservient in scale to the host
building. I do however somewhat concur with the Council’s Conservation and
Heritage Officer regarding the use of some materials and had the proposal been
acceptable in all other respects, I would have entered into discussions with the
applicant with a view to better improve the appearance of the building.

7.18

However, alongside the changes to the building to provide the day nursery,
there is the proposed change of use of the land to a parking area and pedestrian
access which would extend the curtilage associated with the building into the
surrounding fields. This would alter the appearance of the immediate area,
encroaching upon the surrounding countryside and could, in the future, lead to

Page 59

associated paraphernalia or street furniture which would somewhat erode this
rural landscape, including the use of fencing. The current building is hidden
behind a thick hedge, thus limiting the longer distance views of the site from the
open countryside. The proposed extension of the curtilage, along with the
proposed 2.4m high palisade fencing would introduce more urban features to
the landscape which would detract from the rural landscape and in turn harm
the Green Belt.
7.19

As such, whilst there is merit in the improvements to the building, the associated
infrastructure and change of use of the land required to accommodate the new
use for the site, would have a harmful impact upon the character of the area
and wider landscape.
Impact on the neighbours' residential amenities

7.20

The site is located some 120m from the nearest neighbouring properties which
I consider to be a sufficient distance to mitigate any overshadowing, overlooking
and overbearing impacts the proposal may have on the nearby properties. I am
mindful that the proposed use would involve an increase in noise levels upon
those experienced in recent years since the pavilion ceased to be used.
However, the noise created by the nursery would be during acceptable working
hours Monday – Friday. Due to the separation distances, I would not consider
the noise likely to have an adverse impact upon neighbouring properties,
however this does not outweigh the issues regarding the Green Belt.
Impact upon the Public Right of Way

7.21

Paragraph 98 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to protect and enhance
public rights of way and access. This is backed up by Policy LPD58 of the LPD
which states that planning permission will not be granted for development
proposals which would prejudice the continuity of existing cycle routes,
recreational routes and existing public rights of way unless the proposal
includes an alternative route which is no less attractive, safe or convenient for
public use or there are substantial wider benefits.

7.22

The site is accessed via a bridleway which is a public right of way, owned by
the farm to the north of the site. Therefore, the site is not directly served by a
public highway.

7.23

It is accepted that the lane is used by vehicles, and as noted by members of
the public, this includes HGVs and tractors, however as a right of way, the public
users of the lane are those on foot, horse or bicycle and they have a legal right
of way of the land. People do also have a right to drive over the bridleway to
access their land or property, although the lane is not maintained by a public
body (in this case Nottinghamshire County Council) to a standard that is
suitable for vehicles to travel along.

7.24

To this end, as the bridleway is not an adopted highway for vehicular use, it
would be difficult to enforce any speed restrictions or safety measures to ensure
the safety of users with a legal right to use the bridleway. I am mindful that the
applicant has suggested they would place speed limit signs along the bridleway,
however they would not be enforceable along the lane.

Page 60

7.25

The proposed use is likely to introduce up to around 200 additional car
movements along the track 5 days a week (assuming each child is dropped off
and collected individually, plus staff) which has raised concerns from members
of the public who are concerned with the impact this would have upon Thornton
Avenue. I accept that there is some limited visibility along the lane owing to
thick and tall hedgerows, and in places the lane is not wide enough for vehicles
to pass and would not allow vehicles sufficient room to pass those travelling
along the bridleway by horse. On this latter point, the applicant has argued that
the owners of the bridleway has not seen a horse use the lane, however as they
have a legal right to use the lane, the impact upon them must be considered.
Further to this, both paragraph 98 of the NPPF and LPD58 of the LPD seek to
ensure that public rights of way are not compromised by proposed
development.

7.26

To this end, the additional vehicular movements could impact upon users of the
bridleway and as such, the NCC Public Rights of Way team initially raised
significant concerns with regards to the impact the proposed nursery would
have on the users of the public bridleway, as well as the surface of the
bridleway; no mitigation measures for the right of way were submitted with the
initial application. In response to this, the applicant has amended the scheme
to include a pedestrian access which would run along the edge of the bridleway
(on the other side of the hedgerow), connecting the nursery to the pavement on
Thornton Avenue. This would be tarmacked. Following consultation with the
Public Rights of Way team and the Highway Authority, this proposal has
addressed their concerns, offering pedestrians attending the nursery a safer
route to the site, away from vehicular traffic.

7.27

It should be noted that the proposed pedestrian access would not be a public
right of way and as such, members of the public would still be using the
bridleway along with vehicles attending the proposed nursery. This has been
considered by both the Highway Authority and the Rights of Way Team, as the
LPA’s qualified advisors in this matter, who have concluded that they raise no
objection to the amended scheme, subject to conditions.

7.28

Aside from the above, the proposed parking area for the nursery would provide
a limited number of parking spaces for parents, carers and staff to park (6 full
time staff and 4 part time staff would be employed) which could lead to vehicles
being parked on the bridleway during peak times, blocking it for users, although
it should be noted that the car parking provision exceeds the requirements set
out in Appendix D of the Local Planning Document for non-residential
development which is one space per member of staff plus one additional space
for shift changes. The development provides 13no. car parking spaces and it is
envisaged that 10no.staff (6 full time, 4 part time) would be employed at the
site.

7.29

I do however have concerns that the proposed pedestrian footpath could raise
issues of personal safety during the winter months when drop off/pick up times
are likely to be in the dark. No lighting is proposed along the access (which
would have separate implications from a Green Belt perspective) and as such
it does raise the issue as to practicality of this access for parts of the year.
Section 8 of the NPPF does seek for developments to be accessible and safe,

Page 61

so that there is no crime, or fear of crime, arising from a development. However,
as the access is not likely to be used outside of typical working hours, I do not
consider that this issue to be a reason for refusal.
7.30

Given the above, on the basis of advice offered by Nottinghamshire County
Council as the Highways Authority, the proposal is considered unlikely to have
any significant detrimental impact upon safety of users the public right of way.
Impact upon the Public Highway

7.31

Section 9 of the NPPF and Policy LPD61 require developments to ensure that
there is no detrimental impact upon the public highway. As detailed above, the
site itself is not accessed directly via an adopted highway, however in order to
gain access to the bridleway, vehicular traffic must travel along the adopted
section of Thornton Avenue and thus there would be an impact upon the public
highway.

7.32

Thornton Avenue is accessed via the A60 (Mansfield Road), which is a main
route into Nottingham, It is accepted that vehicular traffic at this junction would
increase however the Highway Authority are satisfied that the junction is to an
acceptable standard to accommodate the additional traffic and as such raise
no objection to the proposal.
Other Matters

7.33

The applicant is of the view that the use of the building as a day nursery does
not require planning permission as its last use of one of education, or if
considered to be a sports use, would fall within a permitted change of use under
Class T of Part 3 of the GPDO. Notwithstanding this issue, the alterations to
facilitate the use of the building as a day nursery require planning permission
and therefore there is little merit in considering simply the use of the building as
that is not what the LPA have been solely asked to consider.

7.34

The applicant has highlighted recent press reports detailing an announcement
by the Government for a £161 million transport package to improve transport in
Nottinghamshire, include a £6million park and ride scheme close to Redhill
roundabout that would have a possible new bus link passing close to the
proposed nursery site. Clarification has been sought from the County Council
and it has been confirmed that there are currently no proposals for a link road
and the park and ride facility is subject to various approvals from the County
Council, including planning permission. I do not therefore consider that any
weight can be given to the press report.
Conclusion

7.35

It is accepted that the principal of the re-use of the building to a nursery is
considered to be an appropriate form of development within the Green Belt, and
the proposed alterations and extensions to the building would improve the
overall appearance of the building whilst remaining proportionate to the original
building in line with paragraph 145 of the NPPF and LPD 12 of the LPD.

Page 62

7.36

However, in order to facilitate the use, the application proposes the change of
use of the agricultural land to the north of the building and significant
engineering works to provide a car park and to the south for a pedestrian
footpath extending some 100m, as well as the erection of a 2.4m high fence.
These changes are, by definition, considered to be inappropriate development
within the Green Belt and thus considered to be harmful to the openness of the
Green Belt and are not in this instance outweighed by the proposed
improvements to the building, nor the requirement for a larger nursery
premises.

7.37

Whilst I note that the proposed pedestrian footpath has been included in the
scheme to address the concerns raised with regards to the public right of way,
it is not considered that the merits of this footpath would outweigh the harm
upon the openness of the Green Belt.

7.38

Given the above, I do not consider the proposal to comply with Section 13 of
the NPPF, nor Policy LPD12 of the Local Planning Document and there are no
merits of the scheme which would outweigh the harm identified. The proposal
is a departure from the development plan and there are no material
considerations that would warrant such a departure.

8.0

Recommendation:

8.1

That Committee delegate authority to the Assistant Director – Planning
and Regeneration to refuse planning permission, subject to there being
no new material planning considerations raised during the period of
consultation triggered by the advertisement of this application as a
departure from the development plan on 10 October 2020. Should any
new material planning considerations be raised during the period of
consultation triggered by the advertisement of this application as a
departure from the development plan on 10 October 2020 that the matter
come back before Committee for determination.

1

8.2

The proposed development would include the change of use of
agricultural land and engineering works to create a car park and
pedestrian footpath in association with the proposed nursery along with
the erection of a palisade fence around the proposed planning unit.
These forms of development are, by definition, inappropriate
development within the Green Belt and therefore would be harmful to the
openness of the Nottingham-Derby Green Belt. There are no very
special circumstances or other material considerations that would
outweigh this harm and therefore the proposal would be contrary to the
aims of Section 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
and LPD12

Notes to Applicant
1

You are advised that as of 16th October 2015, the Gedling Borough
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule came into
effect. Whilst the above application has been refused by the Local
Planning Authority you are advised that CIL applies to all planning

Page 63

permissions granted on or after this date. Thus any successful appeal
against this decision may therefore be subject to CIL (depending on the
location and type of development proposed). Full details are available
on the Council's website.
2

Planning Statement - The application is clearly contrary to the
Development Plan and other material planning considerations, as
detailed in the above reason for refusal. However the local planning
authority has worked positively and proactively with the applicant to
make some revisions to the proposal. Whilst not all problems arising can
be overcome, several potential reasons for refusal have been negated.

Page 64

Agenda Item 7.

Planning Report for 2020/0827

Page 65

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0827

Location:

Arnold Market, Hallams Lane, Arnold

Proposal:

Construction of a two storey business enterprise
building, providing business incubator and office
units falling within use classes A1 (retail), A2
(professional and financial services), A3
(restaurant/café), A4 (drinking establishment), B1
(office/research/light industry), D1 (non-residential
institutions) and D2 (leisure) and new market
place/public realm area.of conditions 8 (trees) 3, 16
and 17 (highways) of outline permission 2018/1143 for the demolition of existing buildings and structures
and the erection of up to 84 no. dwellings and
associated open space and infrastructure.

Applicant:

Gedling Borough Council

Agent:

Maber Architects

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

The application is referred to Planning Committee to comply with the Councils
constitution as the application is submitted by the Council and is on Council
land.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site forms land that is known as Arnold Market; however, a
number of structures that were on the site have been removed. There is a
degree of street furniture and trees within the space but it is largely flat and
devoid of any significant features, save for the new market stalls that are left
erected on site.

1.2

The application site is to the western end of, and is within, Arnold Primary
Shopping Centre. The application site is pedestrianised and is accessed from
Front Street and Gedling Road. The stall holders typically access the site from
Gedling Road where there is a dropped kerb for delivery vehicles to access
the site.

Page 66

1.3

Neighbouring land uses are mixed and include Arnold Methodist Church to the
north; 5 Gedling Road is a hairdressers on the groundfloor with a flat above
whilst the other properties fronting Gedling Road and adjacent to the application
site are all in a residential use. To the west, opposite the application site, is a
parade of shop units comprising a mixture of retail and cafes uses; on the
opposite side of Gedling Road to the south is the King George V Park, playing
fields and a public car park.

1.4

The site covers an area of 1940sqm.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

There is no recent planning history on the application site that is pertinent to
the determination of the application.

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application seeks planning permission for the redevelopment of the Arnold
Market site. The proposal comprises the erection of a two storey building with
a new public square/market place to the front of the site. The building would
have a service yard to the rear, including 10 parking spaces, two of which would
be disabled, with access from Gedling Road.

3.2

The new building will provide over 288 sqm net internal floor area comprising
seven small outlets for local independent businesses at ground floor with 344
sqm net internal floor area flexible commercial space/office accommodation
above. The building would be relatively modern in design with a flat roof and
have large glazed shop windows and fascias facing the public realm and
materials would primarily be red brick with stone detailing. The ground floor
units are intended to be targeted at small start-up type businesses, including
conventional retail (A1), professional and financial services (A2), restaurants
or cafés (A3), drinking establishments (A4) or offices (B1); this degree of
flexibility will help to let the units and the first floor could be suitable for any of
the previously mentioned uses along with possibly leisure (D2) or nonresidential institutions (D1).

3.3.

To the front of the building there will be public realm improvements in the form
of new paving, including natural stone and block paving, a granite seat wall,
street trees, planting bed, cycle stands and market stalls re-instated on the
site too.

Consultations
4.1

Gedling Borough Council Scientific Officer – raise no objection subject to the
imposition of conditions with regard to the installation of vehicle charging
points and the approval of a Construction Environmental Management Plan.

4.2

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways – note that servicing will be
provided to the rear of the site with adequate parking and turning proposed.
Also note that the site is well serviced by existing car parks and public

Page 67

transport. As a result, raise no objection to the application subject to the
imposition of conditions to secure the parking and access arrangements.
4.3

A site notice has been erected and consultation letters sent to neighbouring
properties. As a result of consultation made no letters of representation have
been received from members of the Public.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Sections 2 (Achieving sustainable development), 4 (Decision making), 6
(Building a strong and competitive economy), 7 (Ensuring the vitality of town
centres), 9 (Promoting sustainable transport), and 12 (Achieving welldesigned places) are particularly relevant.

6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 6: Role of Town and Local Centres – Identifies Arnold as a town centre
within the retail hierarchy. Part 6 sets out the vitality and viability of centres
will be maintained including widening the range of uses. This policy also
identifies Arnold Town Centre as in need of enhancement or to be
underperforming.

Page 68

Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.
Policy 12: Local Services and Healthy Lifestyles – The policy supports the
principle of new facilities located within town centres.
6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD 4: Surface Water Management – sets out the approach to surface water
management.
LPD 11: Air Quality – states that planning permission will not be granted for
development that has the potential to adversely impact upon air quality unless
measures to mitigate or offset have been incorporated.
LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 49: Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Boundaries – Identifies Arnold as
a town centre within the retail hierarchy.
LPD50: Development within town and local centres – identifies the types and
use of development that is likely to be acceptable in Local Centres.
LPD53 – Markets - Planning permission will be granted for development
proposals that result in the enhancement of existing markets or the creation of
new markets within town and local centres subject to a number of criteria,
including the design is of a high standard and adequate parking is provided.
LPD55 – Security shutters – identifies where shutters are likely to be
appropriate and gives guidance on what would be acceptable.
LPD 57: Parking Standards – sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61: Highway Safety – states that planning permission will be granted for
developments that do not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety,
movement and access needs.

7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of the development

Page 69

7.1

The application site falls within Arnold Town Centre and is identified as an
area that is under performing in policy 6 of the Aligned Core Strategy and
whilst the market has been in situ for a number of years, there is a tacit
acceptance that it has been in decline for a number of years with the number
of occupied stalls on it dwindling. However, the market occupies a prominent
position within the heart of the town and is seen as a gateway into it from the
east. Policies within the Aligned Core Strategy and Local Planning Document
highlight the importance of having a vibrant town centre and wide ranging
number of services and shops. Policy LPD53 – Markets – is most pertinent to
the determination of the application and identifies that permission will be
granted for proposals that result in an enhancement of the market subject to a
number of criteria, notably that the proposal is of a high standard of design;
will not result in the loss of buildings or open space that contribute to the
character of the area; the amenity of nearby residents or occupiers is not
comprised and adequate parking provision is provided. The various criteria
are considered in more detail later in this report; however, as noted above, it
is considered that there is a need to enhance this important gateway to the
town. Furthermore, there would be a need to ensure that the new building to
be erected complies with policy LPD50 in that any building is of a high
standard of design; would not have significant adverse impact on amenity and
adequate parking would be provided too. Having regard to the above it is
considered that, subject to compliance with the highlighted criteria of policies
LPD50 and LPD53, the principle of development, to enhance Arnold Market
and the wider retail offer, is supported.
Design

7.2

The building would be two-storey in scale and built of traditional materials with
red brick predominant and stone detailing. It would have a flat roof, which will
give the building a contemporary twist, but in all other respects the building
will be relatively traditional including attractive shop fronts with fascias above.
The first floor will have a conventional window layout overlooking the market.

7.3

To the front of the building, where the market will be sited, new surfacing is
proposed, which will replace existing tarmacadam, with sections of block
paving to western end of the building along with sections of natural stone and
high quality concrete pavers through the remainder of the public realm. This
will help to create more of a sense of place and arrival rather than one of
conventional footway that people will walk through. Street furniture in the
form of a granite seat wall that will be to the edge of the market and front of
the retail units will encourage people to utilise the space as a place to sit and
relax. Market stalls will roughly be in the same location as they are currently
with three semi-mature street trees to the periphery of the site between the
market and existing retail units to the west.

7.4

Taking into account the scale of the building it will sit comfortably within the
streetscape where buildings are typically two-storey in scale and whilst there
are few with a flat roof, it is considered that the design of the building will
respect the character of the area given its elevation treatment, the detailing
proposed at the eave height and shop front layout. There are proposed to be
significant enhancements to the public realm in the forms of high quality
paving, street furniture and planting that will all add to the sense of place and

Page 70

act as an attractive gate way to Arnold and result in significant enhancements
over and above the site as it currently stands, which is in need of
improvements. Taking into account the above it is considered that the
development will provide an attractive built form and significant public realm
enhancements in area in need of regeneration; as a result the application is
deemed to comply with policies LPD53 and ASC10.
Impact on the town centre
7.5

Given the prominent location of the site within the town it is apparent that as it
currently stands the site is in need of investment and is likely to detract from
vitality of the town centre. However, the proposed development will lead to
improvements in the public realm and the building has been purposely
designed to encourage smaller start up units, rather than have one or two
conventional high street stores, which will sit comfortably alongside stalls on
Arnold Market. The application site falls within Arnold Primary Shopping
Centre where there is a desire to enhance the retail provision available, which
this application will undoubtedly do through offering alternative types of retail
units in a central location. Furthermore, the regeneration of the public realm
will enhance the character of the area in the round offering a more pleasant
shopping environment for the application site and town centre as a whole.

7.6

The upper floor would be a larger space and is targeted for alternative uses
such as office, possibly leisure e.g. a gym, although no end user is currently
identified. Such uses are typical above retail/commercial units and would be
acceptable in this location.

7.7

Given the desire to improve Arnold’s shopping experience, and the market
area in particular, this application will enhance the provision of retail units in
the area increasing its vitality, with uses that are appropriate in a town centre
location. As a result, the application is deemed to comply with policies LPD49,
LPD53, AC6 and guidance within the NPPF (notably chapter 7).
Amenity

7.8

The building is proposed to be two-storey in scale and would be similar to
others in the locality. There are residential uses adjacent to the application
site, notably along Gedling Road, a number of which have modest rear
gardens. Immediately adjacent to 5 Gedling Road, which is a hairdressers
with a flat above, will be the vehicular access to the rear of the site and also
an external store, which will be a secure enclosure without a roof. A 2m high
brick wall is proposed to be erected along the eastern boundary of the
application site adjacent to the residential units along Gedling Road, which will
not need permission in its own right, and will provide a robust boundary
treatment. There may be an element of disturbance from use of the access
but it will only be used by a small number of vehicles and stall holders of the
market will continue to access the site to the front, rather than the rear. A
technical note has been submitted in support of the application in respect of
noise and indicates that the use, given the market will be enclosed by the
building proposed to be erected, there may be noise benefits and that vehicle
movements generated are not likely to be significantly different to those
currently experienced. The noise impactions from the development would be

Page 71

acceptable, although details of any extraction units would need to be duly
considered. Therefore, it is not considered that the access, which is currently
in situ but unused, would detrimentally impact on the amenity of adjacent
occupiers. It also needs to be borne in mind that the market has an historical
and authorised use which could intensify without the benefit of planning
permission.
7.9

In respect of possible overlooking and overbearing impacts it is noted that the
building would be two-storey in scale with a flat roof to reduce the overall
height and mass of the building. To ensure that privacy of neighbouring
properties is respected it is noted that at the first floor level on the rear of the
building there will be screens to windows that will allow light in but not allow
overlooking. Therefore, taking into account the scale of the building and
window design, it is considered that the amenity of neighbour properties
would be respected in terms of possible overlooking impacts. Furthermore,
given the scale and orientation of the building and relationship with
neighbouring residential properties, it is not considered that the building would
result in a significant adverse impact on amenity through overbearing or loss
of light. As a result the application is deemed to comply with policies LPD32
and LPD53.
Highway matters

7.10

The retail units would be serviced from the area to the rear of the building with
an existing dropped kerb in situ. The access would be large enough to
accommodate delivery vehicles and have space in the rear to allow vehicles
to park and turn within it. A total of 10 parking spaces would be provided for
occupiers of the units, 2 of which would be for disabled drivers. The highway
authority have raised no objection to the access with current market stall
holders accessing the site from Gedling Road, but nearer to the existing retail
units, which will remain in situ.

7.11

In respect of parking provision, Policy LPD53 identifies that appropriate
parking provision should be made whereas the Parking SPD is more
prescriptive and identifies that for small shops, as would be provided here,
one space per 50sqm upto 100sqm, with additional spaces at one per
100sqm thereafter. As noted above, the current application will provide 10
spaces, based on a floor area of just over 600sqm there would be a need to
provide 8 spaces. Therefore the application complies with relevant guidance
providing an additional 2 parking places. It is also noted that the site is within
the main shopping area with a car park on the opposite side of the road and
has good links to public transport. Taking into account the above it is
considered that the development would not be detrimental to highway safety
and adequate parking provision would be provided and the application is,
therefore, deemed to comply with policies LPD53, LPD57 and LPD61.
Other considerations

7.12

The application site falls within flood zone 1 so it not at risk of flooding. No
planning obligations are required in support of the application; however, the
development would be liable for payments under the Community
Infrastructure levy, and this will be sought at the appropriate time. Electric

Page 72

vehicle charging points would be required, to ensure the development is
broadly sustainable and a Construction Environmental Management Plan
would be required to ensure that the amenity of neighbouring uses is
respected, and these can be secured via condition.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The principle of the development is supported in that it will result in
regeneration of Arnold Market Place through public realm enhancements.
The building proposed to be erected will enhance the character of the area as
well as enhance the vitality and viability of Arnold Primary Shopping Area.
Furthermore, the application would not be detrimental to residential amenity or
highway safety. The application is, therefore, deemed to comply with policies
A, 1, 2, 6, 10 and 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy; policies 4, 11, 32, 49, 51,
53, 55, 57 and 61 of the Local Planning Document and guidance within the
National Planning Policy Framework (notably chapters 2, 4, 6, 7, 9, and 12).

Recommendation: Grant full Planning Permission subject to the conditions
listed for the reasons set out in the report.
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission.
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form and
following list of approved drawings:
AMN-MA-00-00-DR-A-00101-S2-P01-Site Location Plan
AMN-MA-00-GF-DR-A-00103-S2-P01-Proposed Ground Floor Plan
AMN-MA-00-01-DR-A-00104-S2-P01-Proposed First Floor Plan
AMN-MA-00-02-DR-A-00105-S2-P01-Proposed Roof Plan
AMN-MA-00-ZZ-DR-A-00106-S2-P01-Proposed Elevations
AMN-MA-00-ZZ-DR-A-00107-S2-P01-Proposed Sections
AMN-MA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-40000-S2-P01-Landscape Masterplan
AMN-MA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-40010-S2-P01-Landscape Illustrative Plan
AMN-MA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-L-40030-S2-P01-Landscape Illustrative Section
AMN-MA-00-ZZ-RP-A-001-S2-P01 Design & Access Statement
200606 Energy Statement - Arnold Market
AMP-BWB-GEN-XX-RP-TR-0001-HS-S1-P2
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.
3. Prior to the occupation of building(s) hereby permitted, details shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority as to the position within
the development of one (1) Electric Vehicle Recharging Point; with appropriate cable
and infrastructure provision to allow this to increase to two (2) points in total in future
years. The Electric Vehicle Recharging Points shall be installed prior to occupation of
any part of the development and shall be thereafter maintained in the location as
approved for the lifetime of the development. All EV charging points shall meet

Page 73

relevant safety and accessibility requirements and be clearly marked with their
purpose; which should be drawn to the attention of staff and visitors.
4. Prior to commencement of the development a Construction Emission
Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the emission of dust and other emissions
to air during the site preparation and construction shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP must be prepared with due
regard to the guidance produced by the Council on the assessment of dust from
demolition and construction and include a site specific dust risk assessment. All
works on site shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved CEMP unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the
access road, parking, turning and servicing areas are provided in accordance with
the approved plans. The access road, parking, turning and servicing areas shall not
be used for any purpose other than access, parking, turning, loading and unloading
of vehicles, and shall thereafter be retained for the life of the development.
6. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the
access road and parking areas have been surfaced in a bound material (not loose
gravel). The surfaced access road and parking areas shall then be maintained in
such bound material for the life of the development.
7. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until the
access road and parking areas are constructed with provision to prevent the
unregulated discharge of surface water from the access road and parking areas to
the public highway. The provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface
water to the public highway shall then be retained for the life of the development.
8. Prior to above ground works commencing, samples of materials for the external
elevations of the building and public realm hardstanding shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details as approved shall
thereafter be implemented and retained thereafter.
9. The landscaping scheme as approved shall be carried out in the first planting
season following completion of the development. Any trees, shrubs or plants that die
within a period of five years from the completion of each development phase, or are
removed and/or become seriously damaged or diseased in that period, shall be
replaced (and if necessary continue to be replaced) in the first available planting
season with others of similar size and species.
10. Prior to use of the building’s first floor the aluminium screens shown on the
approved elevation drawing (AMN-MA-00-ZZ-DR-A-00106-S2-P01-Proposed
Elevations) to the rear of the unit shall be in situ and shall be retained as such
thereafter.
11. Prior to the occupation of each unit, details of any condenser and extraction units
that are to be installed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Only the condenser and extraction units approved shall
thereafter be erected on any unit of the building.

Page 74

Reasons
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. For the avoidance of doubt
3. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable manner
which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and takes into
consideration the National Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the
Councils Local Plan.
4. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable manner
which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and takes into
consideration the National Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the
Councils Local Plan.
5. In the interests of highway safety and to comply with policy LPD61.
6. To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited on the public
highway (loose stones etc) and in the interests of highway safety and to comply with
policy LPD61.
7. To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the public highway
causing dangers to road users and to comply with policy LPD61.
8. To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to comply with policy
ACS10.
9. To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to comply with policy
ACS10.
10. To ensure that the amenity of neighbouring properties is respected and to
comply with policy LPD32.
11. To ensure that the amenity of neighbouring properties is respected and to
comply with policy LPD32.

Notes to Applicant
The developer is encouraged to consider upgrading the EV charging facilities to
incorporate mode 3 charging capability as this will help future proof the development
and improve its sustainability. A suitable electrical socket can be provided to allow
'Mode 3' charging of an electric vehicle, allowing Smart charging of electric vehicles.
All electrical circuits/installations shall comply with the electrical requirements of
BS7671:2008 as well as conform to the IET code of practice on Electrical Vehicle
Charging Equipment installation (2015).
Please note that the grant of planning permission does not override civil legal
matters with regard to development on or over a boundary, including the Party Wall
etc Act, advice on which should be sought from an independent source.

Page 75

The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details
of CIL are available on the Council's website. The proposed development has been
assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development
hereby approved as is detailed below. Full details about the CIL Charge including,
amount and process for payment will be set out in the Regulation 65 Liability Notice
which will be sent to you as soon as possible after this decision notice has been
issued. If the development hereby approved is for a self-build dwelling, residential
extension or residential annex you may be able to apply for relief from CIL. Further
details about CIL are available on the Council's website or from the Planning Portal:
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/howtoapply/whattosubmit/cil

Page 76

Agenda Item 8.

Planning Report for 2020/0931

Page 77

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0931

Location:

Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

Proposal:

Proposed new boundary treatment along Station
Road, new facade treatment to existing buildings, new
street furniture, lighting and landscaping’

Applicant:

BNP Paribas Depositary Services (Jersey) Limited

Agent:

Gordon White & Hood

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

The application is referred to Planning Committee with the application
inextricably linked to the adjacent car park associated with Carlton Square,
which is on land owned by the Council.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application forms part of the wider site known as Carlton Square and
relates to the actual buildings that house the retail units and associated
circulation space. The buildings are typical of their era and appear steel
framed, which is painted white, with large expanses of brick work between the
steel frame. To the centre of the retail units is a central walkway with a
number of stores accessed off it, including Wilko’s and Farmfoods, the two
largest retailers on the site. To the Station Road elevation there is a delivery
area that fronts the site, along with a separate pedestrian and vehicular
access for customers. On the Burton Road elevation are three retail units and
a small area of grass with trees on it, along with a pedestrian and vehicular
access, which is shared by deliveries and customers.

1.2

To the east of the buildings is the main car parking associated with the retail
units. The car park falls outside of the site for this application but is clearly
linked to it in terms of its operational requirements.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

The most recent planning history to the site is summarised below

Page 78



90/0706 – ‘Construct glazed roof, and fence with gates to shopping centre’ –
granted in 1990



96/0445 – ‘Illuminated signage to replace existing’ – granted in 1996



98/0387 – ‘Display combination of hoardings & fascia signage’ – granted in
1998

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application seeks planning permission for alterations to the exterior of the
existing retail buildings along with enhancements to the circulation space to the
centre and periphery of the site. A summary of the changes are below;
 On the Farm Foods building the upper level of the building will have a
render finish on three sides; on the east elevation, facing on to the car
park, a new shop entrance will be created and new boundary treatments
will be erected around an existing substation;
 A new boundary treatment will be erected along the eastern elevation
that will separate the delivery area of the site from pedestrians and
vehicles on Burton Road;
 Along the Station Road elevation a new boundary treatment will be
erected to an existing delivery area along with a new façade treatment
in the form of white fibre cement panels;
 Within the shopping parade new street furniture will be erected, in the
form of new seating, along with new paving that will extend to the front
of the three units on the Burton Road elevation;

3.2

For the avoidance of doubt, a number of adverts are shown on the submitted
plans but these are being considered under a separate application 2020/0932.
Furthermore, a separate application is also under consideration under
2020/0938 that proposes alterations to the car parking layout and vehicular
access. These applications appear elsewhere on this agenda.

Consultations
4.1

Highway Authority (NCC) – raise no objection subject to the removal of gates
to the delivery area accessed of Station Road.

4.2

A site notice has been erected, the consultation for which expires on the 15 th
October, and any representations received after this report has been
published will be reported to Members verbally. Neighbour letters have also
been sent. At the time of writing, no letters of representation have been
received from members of the Public.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

Page 79

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Sections 2 (Achieving sustainable development), 4 (Decision making), 6
(Building a strong and competitive economy), 7 (Ensuring the vitality of town
centres), 9 (Promoting sustainable transport), and 12 (Achieving welldesigned places) are particularly relevant.

6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 6: Role of Town and Local Centres – Identifies Arnold as a town centre
within the retail hierarchy. Part 6 sets out the vitality and viability of centres
will be maintained including widening the range of uses. This policy also
identifies Arnold Town Centre as in need of enhancement or to be
underperforming.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:

Page 80

LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 49: Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Boundaries – Identifies the
application site as a local centre
LPD50 – Development within Town and Local Centres – identifies a number
of criteria against which applications will be determined

7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of the development

7.1

The application site falls within an area designated as a Local Centre whereby
proposals that redevelop the site will be supported. Whilst the changes will
not increase the retail offer on the site it will lead to an enhancement in terms
of design, something explored in greater detail later in this report. Therefore,
the principle of redevelopment of the site is supported and deemed to comply
with policies LPD50 and ACS10.
Impact on the character of the area

7.2

The existing buildings are typical of their era in that they are flat roofed and
with large expanses of solid brick walls, it would also appear that little has
been done to the complex in terms of improvement over a number of years.
The alterations to the site will make a number of enhancements with the main
changes being to the Farmfoods building and exterior boundary treatments. It
is apparent that the Farmfoods building only has one entrance point on the
southern elevation, the other elevations are solid, plain brick walls, including
from the adjacent car park to the east. The blank walls are considered to be
both a physical and unattractive barrier to accessing Farmfoods and the wider
retail offer. Improvements to the building include altering the elevation
treatment through a render finish to the upper levels along with a new shop
entrance from the car park to the east. In addition, it is proposed to separate
the delivery area of Farmfoods from the car park with a new boundary
treatment. All of these alterations will aesthetically enhance the appearance
of the building, improve its permeability and create a more customer friendly
environment in that the service area will be separated from the publicly
accessible space.

7.3

Within the central walkway to the site new paving is proposed, along with new
street furniture and seating, which will enhance the character of the area;
currently the paving is a mixture of red brick and concrete slabs; this will be
replaced with paving of ‘mistral charcoal’ and ‘saxon natural’. The new paving
will also wrap around to the front of three retail units that front Burton Road.

Page 81

These changes will enhance the public realm, which is in need of
improvements, visually enhancing the area.
7.4

New boundary treatments are also proposed to be erected on a number of
elevations, most visibly along the Station Road frontage. There is a delivery
yard on this elevation which does somewhat detract from the appearance of
the centre and new screening to it, in the form of brick pier walls with a screen
in between, will restrict views of this space and visually improve on the
existing sold brick wall currently in situ. Furthermore, the same boundary
treatment is to be used elsewhere in the site, around the delivery area to the
Burton Road elevation, to create degree of continuity in terms of design.

7.5

Taking into account the above it is considered that the alterations proposed
will enhance the character of the area through increasing the attractiveness of
the built form. Furthermore, the alterations will increase the customer
experience and permeability of the site, which is largely ‘inward looking’,
encouraging more visitors and passing trade to the centre. As a result the
application is deemed to comply with policies LPD50 and ACS10.
Other considerations
The application will not affect the local centre in terms of retail uses, which will
remain the same. Highways will not be affected by this application, which will
be considered under application 2020/0938. Furthermore, adverts are being
considered under application 2020/0932.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The principle of the development is supported in that it will result in an
enhancement to the appearance and character of the existing built form.
Improvements will improve the customer experience of the site, increase
permeability and enhance the local centre in the round. The application is,
therefore, deemed to comply with policies A, 1, 2, 6, 10 of the Aligned Core
Strategy; policies 32, 35, 49 and 50 of the Local Planning Document and
guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Recommendation: Grant full Planning Permission subject to the conditions
listed for the reasons set out in the report.
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission.
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form and
following list of approved drawings:
7593-06 PROPOSED SITE PLAN – GA
7593-07 PROPOSED SITE PLAN – DETAILED
7593-08 PROPOSED LIGHTING PLAN
7593-09 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS – SHEET 01
7593-10 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS – SHEET 02

Page 82

7593-11 SITE DETAILS AND FURNITURE
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.
3. Prior to above ground works commencing, samples of materials for the
external elevations of the building and public realm hardstanding shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details as approved shall thereafter be implemented and retained thereafter.
4. Notwithstanding drawing 7593-06 PROPOSED SITE PLAN – GA, no gates
shall be erected to the service yard accessed from Station Road.

Reasons
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. For the avoidance of doubt.
3. To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to comply with policy
ACS10.
4.For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that highway safety is not compromised
and to comply with policy LPD61.

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.

Planning Report for 2020/0932

Page 85

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0932

Location:

Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

Proposal:

Built up flat faced acrylic letters @ 540mm high with
100mm returns, internally illuminated with LEDs, 4no.
locations on existing buildings.

Applicant:

BNP Paribas Depositary Services (Jersey) Limited

Agent:

Gordon White & Hood

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

The application is referred to Planning Committee with the application
inextricably linked to the adjacent car park associated with Carlton Square,
which is on land owned by the Council.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application forms part of the wider site known as Carlton Square and
relates to the erection of advertisements on the retail units which are due to
be upgraded in terms of external alterations to the built form. As part of the
regeneration scheme new advertisements are also proposed to the shopping
centre.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

The most recent planning history to the site is summarised below

3.0



90/0706 – ‘Construct glazed roof, and fence with gates to shopping centre’ –
granted in 1990



96/0445 – ‘Illuminated signage to replace existing’ – granted in 1996



98/0387 – ‘Display combination of hoardings & fascia signage’ – granted in
1998

Proposed Development

Page 86

3.1

The application seeks advertisement consent for the erection of four illuminated
advertisements on the Carlton Square complex; the details of which are listed
below;
 Three of the signs would be erected on the Farmfoods building to the
centre of the site, one on each of the three most prominent elevations
facing Station and Burton Road, along with one facing the car park to the
east. Each sign will be on the facing wall just sit shy of the flat roof in a
prominent location.
 One sign would also be erected on the end elevation of units 17 and 18,
which is adjacent to the pedestrian access adjacent to DBH residential
building.
 Each sign would have individually raised letters, 540mm high, and would
be internal illuminated.

3.2

For the avoidance of doubt, alterations to the retail units are being considered
under a separate application 2020/0931. Furthermore, a separate application
is also under consideration under 2020/0938 that proposes alterations to the
car parking layout and vehicular access. These applications appear
elsewhere on this agenda.

Consultations
4.1

As a result of consultation undertaken with statutory consultees no responses
have been received.

4.2

A site notice has been erected, the consultation for which expires on the 15 th
October, and any representations received after this report has been
published will be reported to Members verbally. Neighbour letters have also
been sent. At the time of writing, no letters of representation have been
received from members of the Public.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Regulation 3 of The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)
(England) Regulations 2007 requires local planning authorities to control the
display of advertisements in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking
into account the provisions of the development plan, in so far as they are
material, and any other relevant factors.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

Page 87

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF relates directly to advertisements and is
reproduced in full below;
“The quality and character of places can suffer when advertisements are
poorly sited and designed. A separate consent process within the planning
system controls the display of advertisements, which should be operated in a
way which is simple, efficient and effective. Advertisements should be subject
to control only in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of
cumulative impacts”.

6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 6: Role of Town and Local Centres – Identifies Arnold as a town centre
within the retail hierarchy. Part 6 sets out the vitality and viability of centres
will be maintained including widening the range of uses. This policy also
identifies Arnold Town Centre as in need of enhancement or to be
underperforming.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 49: Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Boundaries – Identifies the
application site as a local centre.
LPD50 – Development within Town and Local Centres – identifies a number
of criteria against which applications will be determined

Page 88

7.0

Planning Considerations
Impact on the character of the area and amenity

7.1

Three of the four adverts will be in a high position on the Farmfoods building
to the centre of the site. Whilst visible from public vantage points to advertise
the site the signage is not considered to be overly large or garish in
appearance and will respect the character of the area and residential amenity.
The letters will be individually lighted and any light pollution will be minimal.
The fourth advert will be in a lower positon near to the entrance to the site
from the DBH residential building but will not be overly prominent in the wider
streetscape and will provide an attractive entrance feature to the site. In
respect of public safety three of the four signs are high up and will not be
accessible to the public and, as noted above, any light spill will be minimal;
the signs raise no particular concern with regard public safety. As a result all
of the adverts are considered to be acceptable and will enhance the character
of the area and not be detrimental to amenity. Therefore, in respect of the
material considerations to be considered as part of this advertisement
application, namely public safety and amenity, the application is considered to
be acceptable and is deemed to comply with policies LPD50, ACS10 and
guidance within the NPPF.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The adverts are considered to enhance the character of the area without
having a detrimental impact on amenity. The application is, therefore,
deemed to comply with policies A, 2, 6 and 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy;
policies 32, 35, 49 and 50 of the Local Planning Document and guidance
within the National Planning Policy Framework (notably chapter 7 and
paragraph 132) and advertisement consent should be granted under The
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England)
Regulations 2007 subject to the standards conditions set out at Schedule 2 to
these Regulations.

Recommendation: Grant advertisement consent subject to the conditions
listed for the reasons set out in the report.
Conditions
1. This consent shall be read in accordance with the application form and
following list of approved drawings:
7593-12 - Signage and fascia details
7593-06 PROPOSED SITE PLAN
7593-07 PROPOSED SITE PLAN - DETAILED
7593-08 PROPOSED LIGHTING PLAN
7593-09 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS - SHEET 01
7593-10 PROPOSED ELEVATIONS - SHEET 02

Page 89

The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.
2. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of
the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant
permission.
3. No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— (a) endanger persons
using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome (civil or
military);(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign,
railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air; or;(c) hinder the operation of
any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance or for measuring
the speed of any vehicle.
4. Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the
visual amenity of the site.
5. Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not
endanger the public.
6. Where an advertisement is required under these The Town and Country
Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007to be
removed, the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public
or impair visual amenity.
Reasons
1. For the avoidance of doubt.
2. In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.
3. In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.
4. In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.
5. In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.
6. In accordance with The Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.
Informatives
Your attention is drawn to Regulation 14 of The Town and Country Planning (Control
of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 with regard to the fact that the
advertisement consent is valid for a period of 5 years, after which additional

Page 90

advertisement consent would be required for the retention of the advertisements
subject to this consent.

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.

Planning Report for 2020/0938

Page 93

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0938

Location:

Shopping Centre, Carlton Square, Carlton

Proposal:

Reconfiguration of existing car parking, pedestrian
routes, boundary treatments and formation of new
vehicular access to Burton Road.

Applicant:

Gedling Borough Council

Agent:

Gordon White & Hood

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

The application is referred to Planning Committee to comply with the Council’s
constitution as the application is submitted by the Council and is on Council
owned land.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application forms part of the wider site known as Carlton Square and
relates to the car parking and delivery areas to the east of the main retail
units. The car park currently has 95 spaces and can be accessed from both
Station and Burton Road. The vehicular access from Burton Road is utilised
by delivery vehicles and customers whereas the access from Station Road is
only accessible to customers. A private car park, for residents of the DBH
building, and Girlguiding Nottinghamshire have access through the application
site along with some of the dwellings on Burton Road.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

The most recent planning history to the site is summarised below


90/0706 – ‘Construct glazed roof, and fence with gates to shopping centre’ –
granted in 1990



96/0445 – ‘Illuminated signage to replace existing’ – granted in 1996



98/0387 – ‘Display combination of hoardings & fascia signage’ – granted in
1998

Page 94

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application seeks planning permission for alterations to the car park and
access to the site. On the Burton Road frontage alterations are proposed to
the access in that a separate access is proposed for the delivery vehicles and
one for the customers to the public car park. As a result of this there will be
reconfiguration of the parking arrangements which will lead to a reduction in
spaces from 95 to 65.

3.2

For the avoidance of doubt, a number of adverts are shown on the submitted
plans but these are being considered under a separate application 2020/0932.
Furthermore, a separate application is also under consideration under
application 2020/0931 for alterations to the external appearance of the retail
units and circulation space that surrounds it. These applications appear
elsewhere on this agenda.

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Highway Authority (NCC) – note that the car parking provision will reduce as a
result of the application but they raise no concern in this respect. They note
that along the Burton Road frontage there are double yellow lines and whilst
they raise no objection to the updated highway layout as shown on the
submitted drawings, they would expect new double yellow lines to replace
those that would be lost and the need for these works to be undertaken under
a Section 278 Agreement with the highway Authority. Having regard to the
above the Highway Authority raise no objection to the application subject to
the imposition of conditions.

4.2

Environmental Health – support the application subject to a condition securing
the identified electric vehicle charging points and approval of a Construction
Emission Management Plan (CEMP)

4.3

A site notice has been erected, the consultation for which expires on the 15 th
October, and any representations received after this report has been
published will be reported to Members verbally. Neighbour letters have also
been sent. At the time of writing, no letters of representation have been
received from members of the Public.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

Page 95

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Sections 2 (Achieving sustainable development), 4 (Decision making), 6
(Building a strong and competitive economy), 7 (Ensuring the vitality of town
centres), 9 (Promoting sustainable transport), and 12 (Achieving welldesigned places) are particularly relevant.

6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 6: Role of Town and Local Centres – Identifies Arnold as a town centre
within the retail hierarchy. Part 6 sets out the vitality and viability of centres
will be maintained including widening the range of uses. This policy also
identifies Arnold Town Centre as in need of enhancement or to be
underperforming.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 49: Retail Hierarchy and Town Centre Boundaries – Identifies the
application site as a local centre

Page 96

LPD50 – Development within Town and Local Centres – identifies a number
of criteria against which applications will be determined
LPD 57: Parking Standards – sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61: Highway Safety – states that planning permission will be granted for
developments that do not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety,
movement and access needs.
7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of the development

7.1

The application site falls within an area designated as a Local Centre whereby
proposals that redevelop the site will be supported. The application relates to
alterations to the car park and access only and point G of policy LPD50
identifies the need to ensure that ‘appropriate provision for parking is made’.
In other respects the application will result in an enhancement on the
character of the area and subject to highway considerations being acceptable,
explored later in this report, the principle of redevelopment of the site is,
therefore, supported and deemed to comply with policies LPD50 and ACS10.
Impact on the character of the area

7.2

The alterations will enhance the character of the area and improve the
experience of shoppers to the site with delivery vehicles and customers
separated from one another which will improve safety. Furthermore, there will
be alterations to the car park layout which will make the movements of
pedestrians in the area safer and increase accessibility to the retail units.
Additional trees and planting is also proposed within the car park areas to
improve the green credentials of the site and enhance the character of the
area. As a result the application is deemed to comply with policies LPD50
and ACS10.
Highways and Parking

7.3

There will be alterations to the access points from Burton Road in that the
existing access will be altered and exclusively used for deliveries to retail units
to the north of the site, and a new access created for customers to the public
car park. Drawings have been submitted showing that appropriate visibility
splays can be achieved and vehicle turning is possible within the site too. As
a result it is not considered that the alterations would be detrimental to
highway safety. On the contrary, it is likely to improve traffic safety in that
delivery vehicles and customer cars will be separated. As a result the
alterations to the access are deemed to comply with policy LPD61.

7.4

In respect of parking within the two car parks, the number of spaces will
reduce from 95 to 65; this is due to the re-organisation of delivery areas and
desire to improve pedestrian movements, including for shoppers with mobility
issues, and increase planting in the area. Of the 65 spaces created 6 will be
for disabled drivers and electric vehicle charging points will be provided for 8
vehicles. Furthermore, to reduce vehicle speeds and the likelihood of the car

Page 97

park being used as ‘rat-run’ to link Burton and Station Road there will be
pedestrian crossing and raised speed table to the centre of the site. The
gross floor area of the retail units at the site is in the region of 2,500sqm.
Policy LPD57 identifies that for retail units of this size there would be a
requirement to provide one parking spaces per 100sqm, plus the same for
staff. Therefore, despite a reduction in the number of spaces provided there
would still be more than the 52 required by policy LPD57. It should also be
noted that no objection has been received to the application from the highway
authority and also that the site is well linked with by public transport to central
Nottingham and other shops within Carlton too. As a result the application is
deemed to comply with policies LPD50, LPD57 and LPD61.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The principle of the development is supported in that it will result in an
enhancement to the appearance and character of the Local Centre through
improvement to the car parking area. Highway safety will not be
compromised and adequate parking provision would be provided on site. The
application is, therefore, deemed to comply with policies A, 1, 2 and 6 of the
Aligned Core Strategy; policies 32, 35, 49, 50, 57 and 61 of the Local
Planning Document and guidance within the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the conditions
listed for the reasons set out in the report.
1. The development herby permitted shall commence before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission.
2. This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form and
following list of approved drawings:
7593-06 PROPOSED SITE PLAN – GA
7593-07 PROPOSED SITE PLAN – DETAILED
7593-08 PROPOSED LIGHTING PLAN
7593-11 SITE DETAILS AND FURNITURE
CSN-BWB-HGNXX-DR-TR-110_S2-P1 – Swept Path Analysis
CSN-BWB-HGNXX-DR-TR-111_S2-P1 – Swept Path Analysis
CSN-BWB-HGNXX-DR-TR-112_S2-P1 – Swept Path Analysis
CSN-BWB-HML-XX-DR-TR-100_S2-P1 – General Arrangements
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.
3. The car parking areas shall be surfaced in a bound material with the parking
bays clearly delineated in accordance with drawing no. 7593/07 Rev B. The
parking areas shall be maintained in the bound material for the life of the
development and shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking and
turning of vehicles.

Page 98

4. The accesses into the car parking areas shall be hard surfaced and
constructed with provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water
from the accesses to the public highway. The accesses shall remain hard
surfaced with the provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water
to the public highway shall then be retained for the life of the development.
5. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of landscaping showing
the location, species and size of specimens to be planted shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme as
approved shall be carried out in the first planting season following the completion
of each development phase. Any trees, shrubs or plants that die within a period
of five years from the completion of each development phase, or are removed
and/or become seriously damaged or diseased in that period, shall be replaced
(and if necessary continue to be replaced) in the first available planting season
with others of similar size and species.
6 Prior to commencement of the development a Construction Emission
Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the emission of dust and other
emissions to air during the site preparation and construction shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP must be
prepared with due regard to the guidance produced by the Council on the
assessment of dust from demolition and construction and include a site specific
dust risk assessment. All works on site shall be undertaken in accordance with
the approved CEMP.
7 Prior to completion of the development hereby approved the electric vehicle
charging points identified on drawing 7593-07 PROPOSED SITE PLAN –
DETAILED shall be installed and fully operational.

Reasons
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. For the avoidance of doubt
3. To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is provided and to comply
with policy LPD57.
4. To ensure that all accesses are hard surfaced and to prevent surface water
from the site being deposited on the public highway causing dangers to road
users and to comply with policy LPD61.
5. To ensure that the character of the area is respected and to comply with policy
ACS10.
6. To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable manner
which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and takes into
consideration the National Planning Policy Framework and policy LPD11 of the
Councils Local Plan.

Page 99

7.

To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable
manner which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and
takes into consideration the National Planning Policy Framework and policy
LPD11 of the Councils Local Plan.

Notes to Applicant
The proposed lighting shall not cause glare to road users. No lighting source (the
lamp) shall be directly visible (or visible by reflection) to road users.
In order to carry out the off-site works required you will be undertaking work in the
public highway which is land subject to the provisions of the Highways Act 1980 (as
amended) and therefore land over which you have / no control. In order to undertake
the works, you will need to enter into an agreement under Section 278 of the Act and
no works shall commence until such time as a S278 agreement is in place. Please
contact Nottinghamshire County Council Highways Development Control Team in
order to obtain the above licence.

Page 100

Agenda Item 11.

Planning Report for 2020/0667

Page 101

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0667

Location:

Land At Chase Farm (Former Gedling Colliery),
Adjacent to Arnold Lane And Land Off Lambley Lane,
Gedling

Proposal:

Erection of 31 dwellings.

Applicant:

Keepmoat Homes

Agent:

Armstrong Burton Architects

Case Officer:

Nigel Bryan

This application has been referred to Planning Committee to accord with the
Constitution as it is an application for the erection of more than 9 dwellings.

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site relates to an area of land within the large scale major
residential development fronting Arnold Lane which falls within the previously
approved ‘Chase Farm’ development (Planning Reference 2015/1376)
currently under construction.

1.2

The site is currently vacant and largely flat land. At the time of the officer visit
the site was not accessible to the public in that building work was underway
on an adjacent parcel of land; however, no development had commenced on
the actual application site itself.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

On the 3rd March 2017 Conditional Permission was granted for the
“Demolition of existing structures and phased development of 1,050 dwellings,
local centre with retail units and health centre, and new primary school. Full
planning permission for phase 1 to comprise the erection of 506 no. dwellings
(2, 3, 4 and 5 bedroom houses and flats), vehicular access from Arnold Lane,
internal roads and all associated infrastructure. Outline planning permission
for subsequent phases, all matters reserved except for indicative access to
the sites from phase 1, and future accesses from Gedling Access Road.” app
ref: 2015/1376.

Page 102

2.2

In September 2017 a Non Material Amendment was granted for Plots 218 –
228 substituting brickwork and plots 38 – 47 window alterations. Ref:
2017/0927NMA

2.3

In September 2017 a Non Material Amendment was granted for changes to
external elevations of plots 112, 114 and 156. Ref: 2017/0928NMA.

2.4

In January 2019 Full Planning Permission was granted to replace plots 01, 02,
03, 169, 170 and 171 with alternative house types (ref: 2017/1018).

2.5

In January 2019 Full Planning Permission was granted for the repositioning of
plots 5, 6 & 7(rotation through 90 degrees). (ref: 2017/1076).

2.6

In January 2019 Full Planning Permission was granted for the re-elevation of
71 no. plots (ref: 2018/0392).

2.8

In January 2019 Full Planning permission was granted for the substitution of
house types in respect to 30 plots (329 – 358) with amended house types and
layouts, (ref: 2018/0684).

2.9

In August 2020 Full Planning Permission was granted for the substitution of
the house type to plot 329, (reference 2019/0586).

2.10

In August 2020 Full Planning Permission was granted for a 3 plot re-plan of
plots 229, 230 and (reference 2019/0304).

2.11

In August 2020 full planning permission was granted for replacement
houseytpes of 204 dwellings (ref: 2019/0759).

2.12

In August 2019 Full Planning Permission was granted for ‘construction of an
access junction off the Gedling Access Road’ (ref: 2019/0500).

2.13

In August 2020 full planning permission was granted to ‘remove condition 2 of
planning permission 2015/1376 to remove the construction cap of 315
dwellings and to allow building within Phase 1B prior to the completion of the
Gedling Access Road’ (2020/0696).

2.14

In September 2020 a resolution to grant planning permission for the ‘re-design
of the landscaping for the Urban Square’ was approved (2020/0545), subject
to a deed of variation to the original Section 106 agreement.

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

The application currently benefits from planning permission for the erection of
29 dwellings under reference 2018/0684. The current application is for a replan of this particular part of the site and would include alterations to
housetypes and the erection of an additional two units.

3.2

The layout would be similar to the previously approved scheme in that the
majority of dwellings will be outward facing with a small number of dwellings,
6 in total, accessed from a private drive toward the centre of the site.

Page 103

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Highway Authority – raise no objection to the application subject to the
imposition of conditions.

4.2

A site notice was displayed near to the application site. As a result of
consultation undertaken, no responses have been received from local
residents.

5.0

Relevant Planning Policy

5.1

The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The most pertinent policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
-

LPD32 – amenity
LPD33 – Residential density
LPD35 – Safe, accessible and inclusive development
LPD37 – Housing type, size and tenure
LPD 64 – Housing allocations – Urban area and edge of Hucknall

5.2

The Aligned Core Strategy was Adopted in September 2014, the following
policies are considered most pertinent to the determination of the application;
A: Presumption in favour of sustainable development; 1: Climate change; 2:
The Spatial Strategy; 8: Housing size, mix and choice; 10: Design and
Enhancing Local Identity.

5.3

With respect of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) the
following chapters are considered to be most pertinent to the determination of
the application; 2 – achieving sustainable development; 4 – decision making;
5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes; 6 – building a strong, competitive
economy; 11 – making effective use of land and 12 - achieving well-designed
places

6.0

Planning Considerations

6.1

The principle development has already been established through planning
application 2015/1376; alterations to the layout have also been approved and
there is an extant permission in place for the erection of 29 dwellings under
reference 2018/0684. Furthermore, the land falls on a site allocated for
residential development under policy LPD64, therefore, the principle of
development is supported with the primary considerations for the application
considered to be the impact on the character of the area and residential
amenity.

6.2

The housetypes have altered from the previously approved scheme; however,
the broad layout has not fundamentally altered in that the majority of dwellings
will have a frontage to the main exterior roads of the site with a small number
of dwellings accessed off a private drive leading into the centre of the site.
Parking will either be to the side of dwellings and some to the front. There will

Page 104

also be a greater mixture of dwellings in that one of the additional units
creates a terrace of three dwellings, whereas previously all units were either
detached or semi’s. The other additional unit would be accessed off the
private drive leading to the centre of the site. Whilst the density of
development has increased beyond the previous scheme to be in the region
of 40 dwellings per hectare it does not visually appear significantly different to
the proposal that benefits from planning permission and the northern edge of
the site will overlook public open space. Furthermore, the streetscape will
respect the character of the area in terms of reflecting other properties on the
development. The housing mix varies in that some units will be two-storey
whilst others will have accommodation over three-storeys, typically at
strategic corner plots. As a result, it is considered that the development would
respect the character of the area and that the changes are not overly
significant when compared to the scheme that already benefits from planning
permission. The application is, therefore, deemed to comply with policy
ACS10 and guidance within the NPPF.
6.3

In terms of residential amenity each of the units would have gardens in the
region of 10m in depth and adequate window to window distances would be in
situ. As a result each unit would have adequate amenity space and an
acceptable level of privacy. The application is, therefore, deemed to comply
with policy LPD32.

6.4

The highway layout has not altered from that previously granted planning
permission and the highway authority does not raise objection to the
application. Each property will have two off street parking spaces. As a result
the application is deemed to comply with policies LPD57 and LPD61.
Planning Obligations

6.5

The application site falls within the wider Chase Farm development which is
subject to a Section 106 agreement. The triggers for the obligations are
dependent on completion of a specified number of dwellings on the approved
scheme. The proposed development would alter the number of dwellings
approved, albeit marginally, and there would be a need to ensure that this
application is tied to the original agreement so that the triggers in it are met.
To ensure this there would be a need to enter into a deed of variation linking
this permission to the original legal agreement. If not linked to the original
section 106 agreement, this development would require a section 106
agreement in its own right to provide for contributions towards affordable
housing, education, open spaces, etc.

7.0 Conclusion
Having regard to the above it is noted that the principle of the development is
supported by policy LPD64 and that there is an extant permission in place for
the erection of dwellings on the site. The design, layout and scale of
properties proposed would respect the character of the area and not
significantly deviate from the scheme that benefits from planning permission
with the proposal considered to respect the character of the area and
residential amenity. Furthermore, the proposal would not be detrimental to

Page 105

highway safety. As a result the application is deemed to comply with policies
LPD32, LPD33, LPD35, LPD37 and LPD 64 of the Local Planning Document;
policies A, 1, 2, 8 and 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and guidance within the
NPPF.

8.0

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission: Subject to the
applicant entering into a deed of variation amending the original Section
106 Agreement to planning approval: 2015/1376 with the Borough
Council as Local Planning Authority and with the County Council as
Local Highway and Education Authority for the provision of, or financial
contributions towards affordable housing, open space, healthcare
facilities, highways, educational, air quality, a local labour agreement
and library facilities; and subject to the conditions listed for the reasons
set out in the report.
Conditions
1.

The development herby permitted shall commence before the expiration of
3 years from the date of this permission.

2.

This This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form
and following list of approved drawings:
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-100 SITE PLAN REV A
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-101 LOCATION PLAN
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-102 BOUNDARY TREATMENT PLAN
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-103 MATERIALS PLAN REV B
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-200 STREET SCENES
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-300 DALTON FLOOR PLANS REV A
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-301 DALTON ELEVATIONS REV A
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-302 STRATTON FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-303 STRATTON ELEVATIONS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-304 STRATFORD FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-305 STRATFORD ELEVATIONS REV A
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-306 WARWICK FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-307 WARWICK ELEVATIONS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-308 KINGSTON FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-309 KINGSTON ELEVATIONS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-310 KINGSTON ELEVATIONS RENDER OPTION
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-311 HARDWICK FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-312 HARDWICK ELEVATIONS REV A
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-313 WINDSOR FLOOR PLANS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-314 WINDSOR ELEVATIONS
M003-ABA-XX-DR-A-315 SINGLE GARAGE

The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans/details.

Page 106

Reasons
1. To comply with the requirements of Section 91(1) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. For the avoidance of doubt.

Page 107

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.

Planning Report for 2020/0731

Page 109

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0731

Location:

13 Main Street Calverton

Proposal:

Single storey rear extension.

Applicant:

L Brown

Agent:

Rick Cobham Design Ltd

Case Officer:

Cristina Dinescu

This application has been referred to Planning Committee as the applicant is
an employee of Gedling Borough Council.
1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site, no.13 Main Street, is a two storey end of terrace dwelling
located within the Calverton Conservation Area. The site is adjoined to the
west by a garage block and to the east by another two-storey dwelling (mid
terrace) at no.11 Main Street. To the rear the site is adjoined by a detached
dwelling at no.16 Church Meadow.

1.2

The application site has a car port to the front. The driveway and the front
garden is of an open nature.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

2013/0718 – Planning permission was granted for a two-storey side extension
(to the west).

2.2

96/0282 – Planning permission was granted for a single storey side extension.

2.3

94/1223 – Conservation Area Consent was granted to demolish 2ft of 9ft high
front boundary wall.

2.4

94/1221 – Planning permission was refused for a car port and brick archway
with 6’ high ornamental iron gates and rebuild part of front boundary wall. The
grounds for refusal were:

Page 110

‘In the opinion of the Borough Council the proposed development would be
detrimental to the character of the Burnor Pool Conservation Area and as
such would be contrary to policy EN 7 of the Gedling Borough Local Plan.’
3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

Planning permission is sought for a single storey rear extension. The
extension would have a mono pitched roof and would measure 3.5m (towards
the western boundary) and 2.5m in depth, 4.8m in width, 2.3m at eaves height
and 3.0m and 3.6m at ridge height from ground level; and would have a
window in the rear elevation and a door in the western elevation.

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Calverton Parish Council – No comments on the proposal.

4.2

Conservation and Heritage Officer – The proposed extension is a minor rear
extension of acceptable design within the Calverton Conservation Area that
will not harm or impact upon the wider area. It will be important to ensure
external materials match the existing property. Samples of wall and roof
materials should be submitted for approval.

4.3

Adjoining Neighbours have been notified and a Site Notice was posted. No
letters of representation were received as a result.

5.0

Relevant Planning Policies

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that: ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless other material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The following policies/documents are relevant to this proposal:
- National Planning Policy Framework (2019): 12.Achieving well-designed
places; 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment;
- Gedling Borough Aligned Core Strategy: Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing
Local Identity.

5.3

The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
- LPD 26 – Heritage Assets;
- LPD 28 – Conservation Areas;
- LPD 32 – Amenity;
- LPD 43 – Extensions to Dwellings Not in the Green Belt.

5.4

The Calverton Neighbourhood Plan was adopted on 31 st January 2018. The
relevant policies to the determination of this application are as follows:
- Policy BE2 – Local Distinctiveness and Aesthetics.

Page 111

6.0

Planning Considerations

6.1

The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are
the impact of the proposal on the Calverton Conservation Area and the setting
of nearby listed buildings, impact on the character and appearance of the host
dwelling and the impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties.
Calverton Conservation Area and setting of nearby Listed Buildings

6.2

No.13 Main Street is one of a row of 3 unlisted cottages dating to the end of
the C19 and which have been much altered over time including extensions to
the side and rear of number 11 and to the side and rear of number 13, both
being in the second half of the C20, the front parts forming internal garages.
The houses abut and face Main Street and they have long rear gardens, the
end of which forms the boundary of the Conservation Area.

6.3

The proposal is for a single storey rear extension with a mono-pitched roof to
form a garden room and extension to the lounge. The Conservation and
Heritage Officer is content that the design is acceptable and, subject to
satisfactory facing and roofing materials would not cause harm to the
character and appearance of the conservation area, or the setting of nearby
listed buildings, including no.8 Main Street.

6.4

The proposed development would be in accordance with the NPPF Section
16, Policy 11 of the ACS and policies LPD 26 and LPD 28 of the Local
Planning Document. Precise details and samples of external materials to be
used would be secured via condition.
Design and the impact upon visual amenity

6.5

The application site forms part of a row of cottages (no’s 13, 11 and 9 Main
Street) that have been extended over time. The extensions to the rear are of a
limited scale and subservient appearance, achieved through appropriate scale
and design. The proposal comprises a single storey rear extension with monopitched roof that would have similar materials and openings with the host
dwelling. It is considered, given the single storey nature of the extension, its
location to the rear, subservient appearance and the proposed design, the
proposed development would be visually acceptable and in keeping with the
character of the host dwelling and the wider area.

6.6

The proposed development would be in accordance with the NPPF Section
12, Policy 10 of the ACS, policy LPD 43 of the Local Planning Document and
policy BE2 of the Calverton Neighbourhood Plan.
Impact upon residential amenity

6.7

In terms of neighbouring residential amenity, the proposed extension would
be set to the rear, towards the eastern boundary where the neighbouring
property at no.11 Main Street has a single storey extension that extends
approximately 4 metres in depth. The proposed extension would measure
3.5m in depth, 4.8m in width, 2.3m at eaves height, 3.0m at ridge height
(towards the eastern boundary) and openings only in the rear elevation and

Page 112

the western elevation (facing the adjacent garage block). The garden
measures approximately 35 metres in depth. Given the relationship with
neighbouring properties, site orientation and single storey nature of the
proposed extension, it is considered the proposed development would not
result in a significant undue overlooking, overbearing or overshadowing
impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of any adjacent property.
6.8

The proposed development would be in accordance with policies LPD 32 and
LPD 43 of the Local Planning Document.

7.0

Conclusion

7.1

For the reasons set out above it is considered the development would be in
keeping with the character of the property and the wider area, it would result
in no harm to the Calverton Conservation Area and the setting of listed
buildings nearby, and would have no significant undue impact on
neighbouring residential amenity. The development therefore complies with
the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies 10 and 11 of the Gedling
Borough Aligned Core Strategy (2014), policies LPD 26, LPD 28, LPD 32 and
LPD 43 of the Local Planning Document and policy BE2 of the Calverton
Neighbourhood Plan.

8.0

Recommendation: Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions:

Conditions
1

The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

2

This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form, site
location plan and deposited plans, drawing no's RS/LB/17/06/20/01/A and
RS/LB/17/06/20/02/A, received on 4th August 2020. The development shall
thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these plans/details.

3

No above ground construction works shall commence until samples of the
proposed external facing and roofing materials to be used in the construction
of the development have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority and the development shall only be undertaken in
accordance with the materials so approved and shall be retained as such
thereafter.

Reasons
1

In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2

For the avoidance of doubt.

3

To ensure a satisfactory development in accordance with the aims of policy
LPD 28 of the Local Planning Document.

Page 113

Reasons for Decision
By virtue of the design, scale and relationship with adjoining properties the
development would be in keeping with the character of the property and the wider
area, it would result in no harm to the Conservation Area and the setting of Listed
Buildings nearby, and would have no significant undue impact on neighbouring
residential amenity or the locality in general. The development therefore complies
with the National Planning Policy Framework, Policies 10 and 11 of the Gedling
Borough Aligned Core Strategy (2014), policies LPD 26, LPD 28, LPD 32 and LPD
43 of the Local Planning Document and policy BE2 of the Calverton Neighbourhood
Plan.
Notes to Applicant
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details
of CIL are available on the Council's website at www.gedling.gov.uk. The proposed
development has been assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL is not payable
on the development hereby approved as the gross internal area of new build is less
100 square metres
Positive and Proactive Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and
proactively with the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework. During the processing of the application there were no
problems for which the Local Planning Authority had to seek a solution in relation to
this application.

Page 114

Agenda Item 13.

Planning Report for 2020/0686

Page 115

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0686

Location:

Recreation Ground Breck Hill Road

Proposal:

Installation of a childrens climbing unit.

Applicant:

Gedling Borough Council

Agent:
Case Officer:

Nicolla Ellis

1.0

Background

1.1

This application is referred to Planning Committee to comply with the
Councils constitution as the application is submitted by the Council and
is on Council land.

2.0

Site Description

2.1

The application site comprises an existing playground located within and to the
south-west end of the Breck Hill Recreation Ground in Woodthorpe. The
existing playground is enclosed by 1.5m high metal railings and incorporates a
number of pieces of play equipment.

2.2

Adjacent to the playground is a single storey changing room/ sports pavilion
with car parking facilities. These are set down from Woodthorpe Drive.

2.3

The land forming the Recreation Ground falls towards the north-east and Breck
Hill Road where there is a larger area of the open space on a predominantly flat
surface which is used for playing activities and has two pitches.

2.4

The site is located within an area identified as protected open space in the
Gedling Borough Council Local Planning Document (2018). The Recreation
Ground is adjoined by residential properties to the north-west and south-east,
with Breck Hill Road to the north-east and Woodthorpe Drive to the south-west.
Mature trees are present on site towards the boundaries with residential
properties.

Page 116

3.0

Relevant Planning History

3.1

2015/1255 - Conditional planning permission was granted in 2015 for the siting
of a 20ft shipping container onto an unused area of the recreation ground for
storage purposes.

3.2

77/1224 – Planning Permission was granted for change of use of former quarry
to open space for recreational purposes.

3.3

2001/0397 – Planning Permission was granted to construct new sports pavilion
with changing rooms and club room.

3.4

2002/1691 – Planning Permission was granted for a new fence line of 2.75m in
height.

4.0

Proposed Development

4.1

The proposal seeks Planning Permission to install a new climbing unit within
the existing play area.

4.2

The new climbing unit proposed to be installed within the playground would
have a maximum height of 4.3m, 10.1m in width and 8.4m in length. Although
the play equipment within the playground is proposed to be replaced, the
replacement of the other equipment does not need planning permission
providing it does not exceed 4 metres in height or 200 cubic metres in capacity
as this would constitute permitted development under Schedule 2 Part 12 Class
A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015.

5.0

Consultations

5.1

Neighbours have been consulted and Site Notices have been posted. Three
letters have been received from local residents suggesting that off-street
parking should be provided for those visiting by car as Breck Hill Road is a busy
road that already has parking and traffic issues

5.3

Nottinghamshire County Council (Highways) - Any comments received will be
verbally reported to Planning Committee.

6.0

Relevant Planning Policies/Planning Considerations

6.1

The main planning considerations in the determination of this application are
the impact of the proposal on Breck Hill Recreation Ground. There are
residential properties adjacent to the wider recreation ground therefore the
impact on amenity is a material consideration.

6.2

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.3

National Planning Policy Framework
 Part 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Part 12 – Requiring good design

Page 117

6.4

Gedling Borough Council Aligned Core Strategy 2014
 Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing Local Identity
 Policy 13 – Culture, Tourism and Sport
 Policy 16 – Green Infrastructure, Parks and Open Space

6.5

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this application
are as follows:



Policy LPD20 – Protection of Open Space
Policy LPD 32 - Amenity

6.6

Policy LPD20 of the Local Planning Document states planning permission will
not be granted for development on land that is used as open space. An
exception to this includes; where development would enhance or improve the
recreational or sporting potential or quality of the site. Additionally, in
accordance with Policy LPD20 the development should not adversely affect
access to the protected open space.

6.7

Precise details of the size and appearance and the climbing unit have been
provided. I am satisfied that the development would provide further recreational
facilities within Breck Hill Recreation Ground and would add to the wider
recreational purpose of the park enhancing and improving the reactional quality
of the site.

6.8

I am also satisfied that whilst the climbing unit as shown on the plans would be
fairly large in scale I do not consider, given the siting of the unit, that there would
be any undue impact upon visual amenity within the surrounding area and the
open space would be maintained.

6.9

Residential properties are located adjacent to the wider recreation ground with
the closest property being some 56m from the enclosed playground area where
the climbing frame will be located. The climbing unit is to be located within an
existing playground area and it is considered that the provision of replacement
play equipment would not further impact upon residential amenity than the
existing use.

6.10 I am mindful of the comments received regarding parking facilities, however the
proposal is to enhance existing playground facilities and as such I would not
expect the number of vehicles visiting the site to significantly increase so as to
have a detrimental impact upon highway safety.
6.11 Given the above considerations, I am satisfied that the proposed development
would have no undue impact on Breck Hill Recreation Ground, the open space,
the amenity of nearby residential properties or on highway safety. In my opinion,
the proposed development accords with Policies 10, 13 and 16 of the Adopted
Aligned Core Strategy (2014) and Policies LPD20 and LPD32 of the Local
Planning Document (2018), as well as the NPPF (2019). It is therefore
recommended that planning permission be granted.

Page 118

7.0

Recommendation: That the Borough Council GRANTS FULL PLANNING
PERMISSION, subject to conditions,

Conditions
1

The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

2

This permission shall be read in accordance with the application form, Design
and Access Statement, Site Location Plan deposited on 22 nd July 2020 and
elevation/plan details of the climbing unit deposited on the 23rd September
2020.The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with these
plans and details.

Reasons
1

In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2

For the avoidance of doubt.

Reasons for Decision
It is considered that the proposed development would enhance the existing Breck Hill
Recreation Ground whilst having no undue impact on the Recreation Ground itself, the
open space, the amenity of nearby residential properties or on highway safety. The
proposal therefore accords with Policies 10, 13 and 16 of the Adopted Aligned Core
Strategy (2014) and Policies LPD20 and LPD32 of the Local Planning Document
(2018), as well as the NPPF (2019).
Notes to Applicant
Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with
the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework. During the processing of the application there were no problems for which
the Local Planning Authority had to seek a solution in relation to this application.
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th October
2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details of CIL
are available on the Council's website.The proposed development has been assessed
and it is the Council's view that CIL is not payable on the development hereby
approved as the development type proposed is zero rated in this location.
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered
during development, this should be reported immediately to The Coal Authority on
0845 762 6848. Further information is also available on The Coal Authority website
at www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, current and
future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal Authority's Property Search
Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com.

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14.

Planning Report for 2020/0828

Page 121

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2020/0828

Location:

Site of 72 To 74, Westdale Lane East Gedling

Proposal:

The erection of 10no 2 bedroom apartments. Variation
of condition 2 (approved drawings) of permission
2017/0157 for the inclusion of air source heat pumps
to be positioned on external elevation of the building,
minor alterations to some fenestration design, minor
alterations to ground level and the addition of a Velux
smoke vent..

Applicant:

Castle Rock Developments Ltd

Agent:

Paul Gaughan Building Consultants Ltd

Case Officer:

Claire Turton

In accordance with the Gedling Borough Council Constitution, this
application is required to be determined by Planning Committee as it is
an application proposing ten or more residential dwellings.
1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site is located on the corner of Westdale Lane and Adbolton
Avenue in the urban area of Gedling. The site was formerly an industrial
building, which was demolished in approximately 2008.

1.2

Planning permission was granted in 2017 for the erection of 10no. 2-bedroom
apartment blocks and these are now substantially built. The majority of the
external building works appear complete in that the building has a roof and all
windows and doors are fitted. The site is currently bordered by a 2 metre high
solid fence.

1.3

Neighbouring properties are predominantly residential, although there is a
local shop on the opposite corner of Adbolton Avenue.

2.0

Relevant Planning History

2.1

2006/0607 “Erect 15 one-bed apartments and associated works.” Planning
permission was refused by Gedling Borough Council on 29.09.2006 but an
appeal against the decision was subsequently allowed by the Planning
Inspectorate.

Page 122

2.2

2010/0200 “Extend the time limit for implementation to Appn No. 2006/0607.”
Planning permission was granted on 14.05.2010 but expired on 14.05.2013
without being implemented.

2.3

2017/0157 “The erection of 10no 2 bedroom apartments.” Planning
permission was granted on 19.10.2017. This work is substantially complete.

2.4

2018/0745DOC “Discharge of Conditions 3,4,5,6,9,10,11,12,14 ·& 15 on
2017/0157.” All pre-commencement conditions for 2017/0157 have been
discharge.

3.0

Proposed Development

3.1

Planning permission is sought for “The erection of 10no 2 bedroom
apartments. Variation of condition 2 (approved drawings) of permission
2017/0157 for the inclusion of air source heat pumps to be positioned on
external elevation of the building, minor alterations to some fenestration
design, minor alterations to ground level and the addition of a Velux smoke
vent.”

3.2

This application is submitted under Section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 which allows for applications to vary conditions attached to
the grant of a planning permission.

3.3

In this case the application is seeking to vary condition 2 of planning
permission 2017/0157 which listed the approved plans. The application is
seeking to substitute the approved plans with new plans showing some
amendments.

3.4

10no. air source heat pumps are proposed to be installed on the rear (north)
elevation and the western side elevation of the building. Each unit measures
950mm in width, 330mm in depth and 740mm in height. The sound pressure
level for each unit at 1m is (dBA) 45 and each unit has a low noise mode of 40
(dBA).

3.5

Fenestration positioning and size remains the same as approved but there are
some minor alterations to the design of the doors and some side windows.
There are minor changes to the ground levels towards the north of the site in
order to create a level access but without increasing or decreasing the height
of the building. A Velux smoke vent has also been added – this has the
appearance of a Velux rooflight and is capable of opening automatically in the
event of a fire.

4.0

Consultations

4.1

Environmental Health Officer states that the units if all switched on at the
same time should not impact on any of the surrounding residential properties.

4.2

Cllr. Clive Towsey-Hinton has been contacted by a local resident who has
concerns regarding noise pollution and also questions why these were not
included on the original 2017 planning application.

Page 123

4.3

Neighbours
3 letters of objection have been received directly from the occupiers of 2
neighbouring properties. Concerns are;Issues of noise
Can the units be moved to the front of the building away from their property?
The units are not aesthetically pleasing
Why were these heat pumps not included on the original plans?
Querying whether there is a decibel reading for the pumps. (The case officer
has responded directly to this query).

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the
determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.

5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

At the national level the National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
is relevant. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The NPPF sees good design as a key element of sustainable
development. The NPPF seeks to ensure a high standard of amenity for
existing and future users of land and buildings.
National Planning Policy Framework:
Part 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Part 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Part 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that “Good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and
helps make development acceptable to communities”.
Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that “Planning policies and decisions
should ensure that developments … create places … with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users.”

6.3

Gedling Borough Council Aligned Core Strategy 2014:

Page 124

Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals.
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 8 – Housing Size, Mix and Choice sets out the objectives for delivering
new housing.
Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing Local Identity states that development will
be assessed in terms of its “structure, texture and grain including street
patterns, plot sizes, orientation and positioning of buildings and the layout of
space”.
6.4

The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies in the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD11 – Air Quality states “Planning permission will not be granted for
development proposals that have the potential to adversely impact on air
quality, unless measures to mitigate or offset their emissions and impacts
have been incorporated.”
LPD 32 - Amenity states “Planning permission will be granted for development
proposals that do not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of
nearby residents or occupiers, taking into account potential mitigation
measures”.
LPD 33 – Residential Density sets out that proposals for residential
development will not be granted unless they are above a residential density of
30 dwellings per hectare.
LPD 35 – Safe, accessible and Inclusive Development provides detail on how
development can create attractive, safe, inclusive and healthy environments
LPD 37 – Housing Type, Size and Tenure states “Planning permission will be
granted for residential development that provides for an appropriate mix of
housing, subject to housing need and demographic context within the local
area.”
LPD 40 Housing Development on Unallocated Sites lists criteria for which
housing development on unallocated sites will be assessed against.
LPD 57 Parking Standards sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61 – Highway Safety states “Planning permission will be granted for
development proposals which do not have a detrimental effect on highway
safety, patterns of movement and the access needs of all people.”
Appendix D – Requirement for Parking Provision in Residential and NonResidential Development.

7.0

Introduction to assessment of proposal

7.1

The 10no. apartments granted planning permission under reference number
2017/0157 are substantially complete. The differences between the 2017
planning permission and this application are the addition of 10no. air source
heat pumps, the addition of a Velux smoke vent, minor alterations to ground
levels to allow level access without altering the height of the building and
minor alterations to fenestration design with the size and positioning of the

Page 125

fenestration remaining as approved. It is these aspects of the scheme that this
report will focus on in the following assessment.
7.2

This planning application is submitted under Section 73 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 which allows for applications to vary conditions
attached to the grant of a planning application. If the application were to be
granted, a new independent permission to carry out the development as
previously permitted subject to the amended conditions would be issued.
Essentially the wording of condition 2 would be varied to allow for the
development to be built in accordance with the amended plans showing the
air source heat pumps and other alterations detailed above. This would result
in a new permission and, as such, the proposal does require assessing
against all planning policies relevant to new residential development.

8.0

Principle of Development

8.1

The site is located within the built-up area of Gedling where the principle of
further residential development is considered acceptable by Policy LPD 40
(Housing Development on Unallocated Sites). As stated in Section 7 of this
report, whilst this application is essentially for alterations to an already
approved residential scheme, if planning permission were to be granted, the
Local Planning Authority would issuing a new planning permission for the
2017 development with some amendments.
Policy LPD 40 states that;“Planning permission will be granted for residential development on
unallocated sites that are not within the Green Belt provided [that certain
criteria are met.]”
The criteria referred to in Policy LPD 40 relate to design, loss of important
features, residential amenity and parking. These issues are explored in detail
throughout this report as well as an assessment of the proposal against other
relevant planning policies.

9.0

Design / Visual Amenity

9.1

The design of the wider residential development was considered acceptable
through the granting of planning permission 2017/0157.

9.2

There are limited amendments to the development as originally approved and
I consider the design of the proposed amendments to be acceptable and to
not have an unacceptable impact on the character or visual amenity of the
area.

9.3

The air source heat pump units are not prominent from public areas due to
their location on the north and west elevations (away from both public
highways). They are minimal in size compared to the host building, measuring
950mm in width, 330mm in depth and 740mm in height. It is not unusual to
see such units attached to both commercial and residential buildings.

Page 126

9.4

The minor changes to ground levels does not affect the overall height of the
building. The minor alterations to the design of the doors and some side
windows are not considered to materially alter the appearance of the building.
The addition of the Velux smoke vent is minimal in size and not prominent
from public areas.

9.5

I consider that the overall design of the amended proposal complies with the
relevant planning policies set out in Section 6 of this report. In particular, it
complies with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework and
the Aligned Core Strategy Policy 10 and Policies LPD 35 and 40.

10.0

Impact on Residential Amenity

10.1

The impact of the wider residential development on neighbouring amenity was
considered acceptable through the granting of planning permission
2017/0157.

10.2

I consider that the amendments proposed will not have an unacceptable
impact on the residential amenity of occupiers of neighbouring properties.

10.3

The key issue to assess is issues of noise and disturbance from the proposed
10no. air source heat pumps. The technical details submitted in support of the
application state that the sound pressure level for each unit at 1m is (dBA) 45
and each unit has a low noise mode of 40 (dBA). The units located along the
rear elevation are approx. 10 metres away from the rear boundary shared with
no. 1 Adbolton Avenue. The nearest units to no. 76 Westdale Lane are
approx. 5.2 metres away. The Environmental Health Officer has assessed the
technical data submitted in support of the application as well as the layout and
positioning of the air source heat pumps. From this he has carried out an
acoustic calculation and considers that if all of the units were switched on at
the same time they would not have an unacceptable impact on neighbouring
amenity in terms of noise. I see no reason to disagree with his professional
opinion.

10.4

The air source heat pumps are minimal in size and as such will not cause
unacceptable issues of massing / overshadowing or overbearing onto
neighbouring occupiers.

10.5

The minor changes to ground levels does not alter the height of the building
and such does not cause any additional issues of massing / overshadowing
onto neighbouring occupiers.

10.6

There are minor alterations to the design of some fenestration. However, the
location of fenestration remains unchanged and, as such, there are no
additional issues of overlooking onto neighbouring occupiers.

10.7

Due to its nature, scale and location the Velux smoke vent is not considered
to have an unacceptable impact on neighbouring occupiers.

10.8

I consider that the proposal complies with the relevant planning policies
regarding amenity set out in Section 6 of this report. In particular, it complies

Page 127

with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework Policies LPD
32 and 40.
11.0

Highway Safety

11.1

The impact of the wider residential development on highway safety was
considered acceptable through the granting of planning permission 2017/0157

11.2

The amendments proposed do not affect the previously approved access and
parking arrangements at the site.

12.0

Conclusion

12.1

The proposed development is consistent with local and national planning
policies. The design of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and does
not have an unacceptable impact on the visual amenity of the area. The
proposal will not have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of
occupiers of neighbouring properties in terms of noise, overlooking or
massing / overshadowing. Parking and access at the site is acceptable. It is
considered that the proposal is appropriate for its context and is in
accordance with the NPPF, Policies A, 1, 8 and 10 of the ACS and Policies
LPD 11, 32, 33, 35, 37, 40, 57 and 61 of the LPD.

13.0

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject conditions:-

Conditions
1

This permission shall be read in accordance with the following documents and
plans;Drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/26 Proposed Elevations, received 10th
September 2020
Product information brochure, received 20th August 2020 to be read in
accordance with email dated 9th September 2020 confirming that the air
source heat pump units proposed are model PUHZ-W50VHA2(-BS)
Drawing no. MT/MH/016/037/04 Revision A Proposed Site Layout, received
13th July 2017
Drawing no. MT/MH/016/037/03 Revision C, received 13th July 2017 showing
floorplans only
Site Location Plan, received 13th July 2017
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the
approved plans.

2

The means of enclosure at the site shall be carried out in accordance with the
following details;Drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/10 Revision A, received 19th September 2018 as
part of discharge of condition application 2018/0745DOC

Page 128

3

The means of surfacing on the unbuilt portions of the site shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved details;Drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/10 Revision A, received 19th September 2018 as
part of discharge of condition application 2018/0745DOC

4

Soft landscaping at the site shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details;Drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/10 Revision A, received 19th September 2018 as
part of discharge of condition application 2018/0745DOC

5

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
the parking/turning areas are provided and surfaced in a bound material with
the parking bays clearly delineated in accordance with plan ref:
MT/MH/016/037/04 Revision A. The parking/turning areas shall be maintained
in the bound material for the life of the development and shall not be used for
any purpose other than the parking/turning of vehicles.

6

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
dropped vehicular footway crossings are available for the parking spaces
accessed from Adbolton Avenue and for the accesses for the car parking area
on Westdale Lane in accordance with the Highway Authority specification to
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

7

The site accesses at the site shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details;Drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/10 Revision A, received 19th September 2018 as
part of discharge of condition application 2018/0745DOC

8

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
the provision to prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water onto the
public highway has been carried out in accordance with the following details
Aco Drain as shown on drawing no. DB/MM/18/027/11.
The approved measures shall be retained for the lifetime of the development.

9

The management arrangements for the maintenance of all areas of outdoor
open space, including car parking areas, shall be carried out in accordance
with the following details;The Communal Area Maintenance Plan, received 6th August 2018 in relation
to discharge of condition application 2018/0745DOC.
The approved management arrangements shall remain in situ for the lifetime
of the development.

Page 129

Reasons
1

For the avoidance of doubt and to define the terms of this permission

2

In the interests of visual amenity

3

In the interests of visual amenity

4

In the interests of visual amenity

5

In the interests of highway safety

6

In the interests of highway safety

7

in the interests of highway safety

8

In the interests of highway safety

9

In the interests of visual amenity

Reasons for Decision
The proposed development is consistent with local and national planning policies.
The design of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and does not have an
unacceptable impact on the visual amenity of the area. The proposal will not have an
unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of occupiers of neighbouring
properties in terms of noise, overlooking or massing / overshadowing. Parking and
access at the site is acceptable. It is considered that the proposal is appropriate for
its context and is in accordance with the NPPF, Policies A, 1, 8 and 10 of the ACS
and Policies LPD 11, 32, 33, 35, 37, 40, 57 and 61 of the LPD.
Notes to Applicant
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details
of CIL are available on the Council's website. The proposed development has been
assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL is not payable on the development
hereby approved as the development type proposed is zero rated in this location.
The proposal makes it necessary to construct vehicular crossings and accesses over
a footway of the public highway, together with reinstatement of redundant accesses.
These works shall be constructed to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority. You
are, therefore, required to contact the County Council's Customer Services to
arrange for these works on telephone 0300 500 80 80 to arrange for these works to
be carried out.
Planning Statement - The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively
with the applicant in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy
Framework. During the processing of the application there were no problems for
which the Local Planning Authority had to seek a solution in relation to this
application.
Date Recommended: 7th October 2020

Page 130

Agenda Item 15.

Planning Report for 2018/0817

Page 131

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2018/0817

Location:

Car Park, North Green, Calverton

Proposal:

Erect 20 No. single storey bungalows.

Applicant:

Lovely Homes Ltd.

Agent:

John Booth

Case Officer:

Kevin Cartwright

Addendum to 2018/0817 Car Park, North Green, Calverton.
1.0

Introduction

1.1

Members may recall that this application was before them for consideration on
19th June 2019. This previous report is reproduced in full below. Since the
resolution to approve the application the applicants have submitted a viability
appraisal to demonstrate that the development would not be viable with policy
compliant developer contributions. This matter is discussed below and should
be read as an update to the Planning Obligations section of the main report.

1.2

All other elements of the proposed development remain unchanged.

2.0

Planning Obligations

2.1

The relevant planning policies which need to be considered in relation to s106
planning obligations are set out in paragraphs 54 and 56 of the NPPF, and
Policies 18 and 19 of the ACS.

2.2

The Planning Obligations required for policy compliance with the
Development Plan are set in the main report below at para 7.3 and can be
summarised as:


20% on-site affordable housing (70% must be social rented and 30%
intermediate housing) in accordance with LPD Policy 36 and the
adopted Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 2009



£31,025.28 towards off-site public open space provision together with
£12,979.20 for 10 years maintenance to be expended on facilities
within 2km of the site

Page 132



Local Labour Agreement to meet with the requirements of LPD Policy
48

2.3

Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that: Where up-to date policies have set out
the contributions expected from development, planning applications that
comply with them should be assumed to be viable. It is up to the applicant to
demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for a viability
assessment at the application stage.

2.4

The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision
maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, including whether
the plan and the viability evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any
change in site circumstances since the plan was brought into force.

2.5

This is reiterated in paragraph 007 of the National Planning Policy Guidance
(NPPG) which adds that:

“Such circumstances could include, for example where development is
proposed on unallocated sites of a wholly different type to those used in
viability assessment that informed the plan; where further information on
infrastructure or site costs is required; where particular types of development
are proposed which may significantly vary from standard models of
development for sale (for example build to rent or housing for older people); or
where a recession or similar significant economic changes have occurred
since the plan was brought into force”.
2.6

The NPPG sets out at Paragraph 010 that:
“Any viability assessment should be supported by appropriate available
evidence informed by engagement with developers, landowners, and
infrastructure and affordable housing providers.
Any viability assessment should follow the government’s recommended
approach to assessing viability as set out in this National Planning Guidance
and be proportionate, simple, transparent and publicly available. Improving
transparency of data associated with viability assessment will, over time,
improve the data available for future assessment as well as provide more
accountability regarding how viability informs decision making.
In plan making and decision making viability helps to strike a balance between
the aspirations of developers and landowners, in terms of returns against risk,
and the aims of the planning system to secure maximum benefits in the public
interest through the grant of planning permission”.

2.7

The applicant has sought to challenge the level of developer contributions on
the basis that the level of contributions sought for affordable housing and
open space would render the scheme economically unviable.

2.8

An independent viability assessment has been commissioned by the Borough

Page 133

Council to determine whether the development with policy based contributions
would be viable and, if not, the level of contributions that can be delivered
whilst maintaining economic viability.
2.9

The independent assessor is content that the costs assigned to the proposed
scheme are appropriate in reaching their conclusion. An assumption of profit
on gross development value (GDV) of 18.5% which paragraph 18 of the
NPPG identifies may be considered a suitable return to developers in order to
establish the viability has been taken. It is not considered that this is
unreasonable taking into account the degree of uncertainty that the Covid-19
pandemic has placed on the construction industry and the economy as a
whole.

2.10

The site has a Benchmark Land Value of £290,000. If the scheme were to
provide policy compliant contributions in relation to affordable housing and
open space it would have Residual Land Value of £216,435. As such the
scheme is not viable on a policy compliant basis.

2.11

A further appraisal was undertaken with no affordable housing provision or
open space contributions so that the Residual Land Value could be compared
to the Benchmark Land Value in order to establish whether or not there is a
surplus available which could then be apportioned to affordable housing or
open space contributions.

2.12

The conclusion of this assessment is that it would derive a Residual Land
Value of £311,234 which would provide a surplus of £21,234 when compared
to the aforementioned Benchmark Land Value.

2.13

The key matter for consideration is therefore whether the development can be
supported on the basis of the significantly reduced contribution and whether
such development could be considered to be sustainable development, the
delivery of which is a key objective of national and local planning policies.

2.14

Whilst a policy compliant scheme would be the most desirable outcome, as
this would fully mitigate the impact of the development. It has been evidenced
that in this format the scheme would be unviable and no development would
take place.

2.15

Therefore, on balance it is considered that, notwithstanding the reduced level
of contributions towards affordable housing and open spaces, the scheme
would aid housing delivery which is one of the important aims of both national
and local policy.

3.0

Revised Contributions

3.1

Paragraph 11.2.6 of local planning policy LPD 36 highlights that the
Affordable Housing SPD confirms that a lower requirement of affordable
housing contribution may be justified provided that there is sufficient evidence
provided and a viability assessment has been undertaken by the Council
which demonstrates this. I am satisfied that this is the case.

Page 134

3.2

The affordable housing contribution would be added to existing monies to
deliver affordable housing provision in the Borough.

3.3

Parks and Street Care have confirmed that the play area on Stonebridge Way
is in need of refurbishment following recent vandalism and the contribution
would be expended there as a capital contribution. This open space is near to
this development and would be accessible by the future occupiers.

3.4

It is considered that an equitable distribution of the £21,234 between
affordable housing and open space provision is appropriate in this instance.
This would equate to:
Affordable Housing Contribution
Open Space Contribution

£10,617
£10,617

3.5

The development may however become viable in future years and therefore it
is considered that the Section 106 Planning Obligation should include a
mechanism to allow for a review at an appropriate time.

3.6

Members may recall that a review mechanism was included in a recent
planning obligation associated with the Millbeck House conversion scheme
(Planning Ref: 2020/0009). It is considered that the same review is
appropriate in this instance. This would require the Owner to submit a revised
viability appraisal if 80% of the dwellings are not substantially complete within
48 months of the date of this permission.

3.7

The revised contributions are deemed to comply paragraph 56 of the NPPF,
policy 19 of the ACS and the test set out in the CIL Regulations. The financial
contributions will be secured by way of a planning obligations from the owner
to the Council.
The Section 106 would also secure the Local Labour Agreement required by
LPD Policy 48.

4.0

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission: Subject to the
applicant entering into a Section 106 Agreement with the Borough
Council as Local Planning Authority for a financial contributions
towards, affordable housing and open space, and the provision of a
local labour agreement; and subject to the conditions listed for the
reasons set out in the main report.

Page 135

This page is intentionally left blank

Planning Report for 2018/0817

Page 137

Report to Planning Committee
Application Number:

2018/0817

Location:

Car Park, North Green, Calverton

Proposal:

Erect 20 No. single storey bungalows.

Applicant:

Lovely Homes Ltd

Agent:

John Booth

Case Officer:

Kevin Cartwright

1.0

Site Description

1.1

The application site relates to an area of hardstanding formerly in use as a car
park associated with the Calverton Colliery on the corner of Hollinwood Lane
and North Green.

1.2

The application site is a rectangular plot with the width fronting North Green
and has a site area of approximately 0.68 hectares.

1.3

North Green is to the south of the application site with residential properties
sited on the opposite side of the highway. Hollinwood Lane is an adopted
highway which becomes a byway adjacent to the west boundary of the
application site.

1.4

To the west of the byway is the boundary to the Calverton Recycling Centre
developed for employment uses and household recycling centre.

1.5

The west boundary is defined by a wide border consisting of metal railed
fencing and vegetation with panelled fencing behind.

1.6

Agricultural land lies to the north and east of the site. The north, east and
south boundaries of the application site are defined by a mixture of trees and
mature vegetation.

1.7

The site is allocated for residential development by Policy 66 of the Local
Planning Document.

2.0

Proposed Development

Page 138

2.1

Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 20 single storey
bungalows. The housing mix would be thirteen 1 bed bungalows and seven 2
bed bungalows.

2.2

Revised plans have been received indicating internal roads being constructed
in accordance with the requirements of the 6C’s Highways Design Guide.

2.3

The layout of the development centres around a ‘T; shaped access with front
facing bungalows onto the public realm.

2.4

Car parking is adjacent to the dwellings and ranges from 1 – 2 allocated
spaces per dwelling.

3.0

Consultations

4.1

Environment Agency – No objection subject to conditions relating to land
contamination and surface water drainage.

4.2

Nottinghamshire County Council – Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection
subject to a drainage condition.

4.3

Historic England – Do not wish to offer any comments, suggest that you seek
the views of your specialist conservation and archaeological advisers

4.4

Gedling Borough Council Economic Development – a Local Labour
Agreement is required.

4.5

Gedling Borough Council Parks and Street Care – Given the constraints on
the site and the proposed layout an off-site contribution, in accordance with
LPD Policy 19 – Developer Contributions, would appear the most appropriate
method of providing the local open space/play facilities. The commuted sum
would be £31,025.28 and a maintenance sum of £12, 979.20. Total
£44,004.48 to be expended on facilities within 2km of the site.

4.6

Gedling Borough Council Strategic Housing – The affordable housing
requirement (as stated within the Gedling BC Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Document) for this location, is 20% of dwellings to
be developed as affordable housing. Based on a development of 20 units this
would require 4 units to be built as affordable housing on site. Of these, we
require that 3 are for affordable/ social rent and 1 is for intermediate sale. The
size of the affordable units should be reflective of the overall development
and propose 2x2 bed bungalows and 2x1 bed bungalows.

4.7

Gedling Borough Council Scientific Officer -.no objection, requests conditions
relating to land contamination, electric vehicle charging points and a
construction emission management plan.

4.8

Forestry Officer – The tree report and method statements are adequate for
the application, but I would need to know what trees surveyed will be removed
and retained.

Page 139

4.9

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group – due to the scale of the proposal no
contribution towards healthcare provision is required.

4.10

Nottinghamshire County Council Highways – the revised plan rev 03 received
on 06/06/2019 is acceptable and accordingly there is no objection to the
proposal.

4.11

Nottinghamshire County Council Planning Policy - objects unless a noise
assessment is undertaken with respect to the adjacent waste facilities.

4.12

Nottinghamshire County Council Education – No contribution is required.

4.13

Trent Valley Drainage Board – a drainage scheme must be agreed with the
Lead Local Flood Authority and the Local Planning Authority.

4.14

Calverton Parish Council – We have no major objection to this development
but dwellings are likely to be targeted at retired people and they are far from
the village’s amenities particularly the shops, there are still no links between
this development and the Park Road development adjacent to it. It would be
helpful if some sort of path/cycleway could be provided so that residents don’t
always have to use the public highway to access the village.
Calverton Neighbourhood Plan Policy G1 – Comprehensive development
states:
Proposals for residential development in the ‘North-West Quadrant Urban
Extension’ will only be permitted where it is accompanied by an overall
masterplan illustrating the following aspects:
A high quality residential environment
Footpath and cycle links into the village
Provision of open space and structural landscaping
The inter-relationship and open frontages between new development and
North Green and Park Road.
We are aware this is a small development in the North West quadrant but feel
that some effort should have been made to link this into the greater plan
proposed for this area which has been submitted by Persimmon Homes. It
should be possible to link the two developments together with footpaths or
cycleways.

4.15

Members of the Public
A press notice was published, three site notices were displayed and
neighbour notification letters were posted. No representations were received.

5.0

Assessment of Planning Considerations

5.1

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as
amended) requires that ‘if regard is to be had to the development plan for the
purpose of any determination to be made under the planning Acts the

Page 140

determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise’.
5.2

The most relevant national planning policy guidance in the determination of
this application is contained within the National Planning Policy Framework
2019 (NPPF) and the additional guidance provided in the National Planning
Practice Guidance (NPPG).

6.0

Development Plan Policies

6.1

The following policies are relevant to the application:

6.2

National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Sets out the national objectives for delivering sustainable development.
Sections 5 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes), 11 (Making effective use
of land) and 12 (Achieving well-designed places) are particularly relevant.

6.3

Greater Nottingham Aligned Core Strategy Part 1 Local Plan
Policy A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development – a positive
approach will be taken when considering development proposals
Policy 1: Climate Change – all development will be expected to mitigate
against and adapt to climate change including with respect to flood risk.
Policy 2: The Spatial Strategy – states that sustainable development will be
achieved through a strategy of urban concentration with regeneration.
Policy 8: Housing Size, Mix and Choice – sets out the objectives for delivering
new housing.
Policy 10: Design and Enhancing Local Identity – sets out the criteria that
development will need to meet with respect to design considerations.
Policy 17: Biodiversity – sets out the approach to ecological interests.
Policy 19: Developer Contributions – set out the criteria for requiring planning
obligations.

6.4

Local Planning Document (Part 2 Local Plan)
The Local Planning Authority adopted the Local Planning Document (LPD) on
the 18th July 2018. The relevant policies to the determination of this
application are as follows:
LPD 4: Surface Water Management – sets out the approach to surface water
management.
LPD 7: Contaminated Land – sets out the approach to land that is potentially
contaminated.

Page 141

LPD 11: Air Quality – states that planning permission will not be granted for
development that has the potential to adversely impact upon air quality unless
measures to mitigate or offset have been incorporated.
LPD 19: Landscape Character and Visual Impact – states that planning
permission will be granted where new development does not result in a
significant adverse visual impact or a significant adverse impact on the
character of the landscape.
LPD 21: Provision of New Open Space – sets out that there will be a
requirement for public open space on sites of 0.4 hectares in area and above,
which could be on-site or off-site.
LPD 32: Amenity – planning permission will be granted for proposals that do
not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity of nearby residents or
occupiers.
LPD 33: Residential Density – states that planning permission will not be
granted for proposals of less than 30 dwellings per hectare unless there is
convincing evidence of a need for a different figure.
LPD 35: Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development – sets out a number of
design criteria that development should meet, including in relation to the
massing, scale and proportion of development.
LPD 36: Affordable Housing – sets out that a 20% affordable housing
provision will be required in Calverton but that a lower requirement may be
justified provided there is sufficient evidence which takes account of all
potential contributions from grant funding sources and a viability assessment
has been undertaken by the Council which demonstrates this.
LPD 37: Housing Type, Size and Tenure – states that planning permission will
be granted for residential development that provides for an appropriate mix of
housing.
LPD 48: Local Labour Agreements – sets out the thresholds where a Local
Labour Agreement will be required.
LPD 57: Parking Standards – sets out the requirements for parking.
LPD 61: Highway Safety – states that planning permission will be granted for
developments that do not have a detrimental impact upon highway safety,
movement and access needs.
LPD 66: Housing Allocations– identifies the application site as part of housing
allocation H16, for approximately 390 new dwellings.
6.5

Calverton Neighbourhood Plan
The Calverton Neighbourhood Plan was adopted by Gedling Borough Council
on 31 January 2018. As such the Calverton Neighbourhood Plan forms part of
the Development Plan for Gedling Borough.

Page 142

Policy G2: Developer Contributions – sets out that developer contributions will
be sought towards education provision (nursery, primary, secondary, 16-18),
primary GP healthcare provision and village centre environmental
improvements
Policy G5: Housing Mix – states that development should include a mix of
dwelling sizes, that planning permission will be granted for developments
which provide bungalow and other types of accommodation for elderly and
disabled people, that proposals for major development that do not include a
mix of dwelling sizes and tenures and accommodation suitable for elderly and
disabled people will be refused, that on all major development schemes,
planning permission will be granted for the provision of plots for self-build
subject to other policies in the development plan and that affordable housing
should be designed and delivered to be indistinguishable from market housing
and should be distributed throughout the development as a whole.
Policy ISF1: Sustainable Transport – states that opportunities for the use of
sustainable modes of transport must be maximised.
Policy ISF2: Car Parking – states that any new development outside of the
Village Centre will only be permitted where it has sufficient parking provision.
Policy ISF3 – Highway Impact – sets out the criteria for assessing highway
impact.
Policy ISF4: Infrastructure Provision – states that residential developments
will be required to provide the necessary infrastructure, such as education
provision, healthcare provision, open space and drainage provision.
Policy BE1: Design & Landscaping – states that all development on the edge
of Calverton must provide soft landscaping on the approach into the village
and sets out criteria to achieve this.
Policy BE2: Local Distinctiveness and Aesthetics – states that development
should be designed to a high quality that reinforces local distinctiveness
including that buildings on the fringes of major developments should have
variations in height, style and position.
Policy BE3: Public Realm – sets out the approach to the public realm and to
landscaping.
Policy BE4: Parking Provision – sets out that adequate parking must be
provided.
Policy NE3: Flooding- sets out the approach to preventing flooding and to
ensure that adequate drainage is provided.
Policy NE4: Green Infrastructure –sets out the approach to green
infrastructure and ecological considerations.
Policy NE5: Biodiversity – sets out the approach to biodiversity.

Page 143

6.6

Other
Parking Provision for Residential Developments – Supplementary Planning
Document 2012– sets out the car parking requirements for new residential
development.
Open Space Provision SPG (2001) – sets out the open space requirements
for new residential development.
Affordable Housing SPD (2009) – sets out the affordable housing
requirements for new residential development.

7.0

Planning Considerations
Principle of the development

7.1

The site forms part of housing site (H16) allocated by Policy LPD 66 of the
Local Planning Document which was adopted in July 2018. Policy LPD 66
identifies the H16 site as providing approximately 390 dwellings. The principle
of residential development on this site is therefore accepted, subject to a
detailed consideration of the following matters.
Density

7.2

The site area is approximately 0.68 hectares and 20 dwellings are proposed,
giving a density of 29.4 dwellings per hectare. Policy LPD 33 states that
development in Calverton should be of a minimum density of 25 dwellings per
hectare, so the proposed development would meet with this requirement.
Compliance with Calverton Neighbourhood Plan Policy G1 (Comprehensive
Development)

7.3

Policy G1 states that proposals for residential development in the ‘North-West
Quadrant Urban Extension’ will only permitted where it is accompanied by an
overall masterplan illustrating the following aspects:
 A high quality residential environment
 Highway access links including to/from the existing village road network and
the feasibility of links to/from the B6386 Oxton Road
 Off-site highway improvements
 Footpath and Cycle links into the village
 Provision of open space and structural landscaping
 Retention of open frontages between new development and North Green
and Park Road
 The inter-relationship between new development and the Community Hall &
Sports Pavilion and William Lee Memorial Park
 Housing mix, including starter homes, affordable housing and housing for
the elderly
 Ecological corridors
 Health Impact Assessment

Page 144

7.4

An overall masterplan for the North-West Quadrant has not been provided
however this site represents a proportionately small part of the H16 allocation.
It is considered that the site would represent a high quality residential
environment and would provide acceptable highway links for a development of
this scale. Off-site highway improvements are not considered to be necessary
due to the quantum of development proposed. The site has excellent links to
the byway which runs to the west of the site and it is also envisaged that
access will be available to the wider H16 housing allocation in due course,
both from the byway and from North Green. The site has good sustainability
credentials in that the nearest bus stop is approximately 500m away providing
connectivity to the facilities of Arnold and Nottingham.

7.5

Open space provision would be provided by way of an off-site contribution
and the site is already landscaped to the north and eastern sides, which
would be retained as part of the development. The proposed development is
considered to be acceptable with regard to its relationship with North
Green and it is not immediately adjacent to the Community Hall or
associated facilities. The development would provide bungalows that would
add to the housing mix available in Calverton and is acceptable from an
ecological point of view. The NHS have advised that the size of this
development does not meet its threshold for requiring a financial contribution
towards healthcare provision.

7.6

In conclusion it is considered that the approval of this application would not
prejudice the development of the North-West quadrant nor would it conflict
with the objectives of Policy G1 of the Calverton Neighbourhood Plan.
Impact upon visual amenity

7.7

The proposed dwellings would be arranged with 6 units facing onto North
Green (two detached and two pairs of semi-detached). An adoptable standard
road would lead from North Green to serve the remaining 14 units to the rear.
The dwellings would be externally faced with brickwork with elements of
cladding. Porches and brick detailing would also be included to increase the
visual interest of the dwellings.

7.8

The dwellings would be low scale with respect to their height and are
considered to be of an acceptable design. It is considered that they would
integrate into the surrounding area in an acceptable manner and would not
cause harm to the visual amenity or character of the surrounding area. It is
considered that the proposal is acceptable and would meet with the
objectives of National Planning Policy Framework, Policy 10 of the Aligned
Core Strategy, Policy 35 of the Local Planning Document and Policies BE2
and BE3 of the Calverton Neighbourhood Plan
Impact upon residential amenity

7.9

The dwellings are all single storey in height which reduces their impact upon
the nearest adjacent dwellings, which are located on southern side of North
Green. It is considered that the proposed dwellings would be located an
adequate distance from these existing dwellings to ensure that there would be

Page 145

no undue impact arising from massing, loss of daylight/sunlight or through
overlooking.
7.10

It is noted that Nottinghamshire County Council has raised concern due to the
relationship between the application site and the waste facilities located on
the adjacent industrial estate and has requested that a noise assessment be
carried out to evaluate the potential noise impact from the waste facilities.
This is due to the risk of waste site sterilisation and the potential for these two
land uses being adjacent causing considerable impact on the quality of life of
future occupiers of the proposed dwellings. However, the proposed
development site is not significantly closer to the waste facilities in question
than the existing dwellings on North Green, and therefore it is not considered
reasonable or necessary for a noise assessment to be provided,

7.11

It is therefore not considered that the proposed development would have an
undue impact upon residential amenity and the proposal would be in
accordance with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework,
Policy 10 of the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy LPD 32 of the Local
Planning Document.
Sherwood Forest Special Protection Area

7.12

Paragraph 3.17.3 in the Council’s Aligned Core Strategy (ACS) (2014) states
‘Whilst this is not a formal designation, it does mean that these areas are
under consideration by the Joint Nature Conservation Committee, and may be
declared a proposed Special Protection Area in due course. The Aligned Core
Strategies and Infrastructure Delivery Plan therefore take a precautionary
approach and treat the prospective Special Protection Area as a confirmed
European Site. The infrastructure Delivery Plan sets out requirements for a
range of mitigation measures as recommended in the Habitats Regulation
Assessment Screening Record. A decision on the extent of any possible
Special Protection Area is not known’.

7.13

Natural England’s current position in respect of the Sherwood Forest Region
is set out in an advice note to Local Planning Authorities (March 2014)
regarding the consideration of the likely effects on the breeding population of
nightjar and woodlark in the Sherwood Forest Region. While no conclusion
has been reached about the possible future classification of parts of
Sherwood Forest as a Special Protection Area (SPA) for its breeding bird
(nightjar and woodlark) interests, Natural England advise those affected Local
Planning Authorities (LPAs) to be mindful of the Secretary of State’s decision
in 2011, following Public Inquiry, to refuse to grant planning permission for an
Energy Recovery Facility at Rainworth where the potential impacts on these
birds and their supporting habitats was given significant weight.

7.14

In light of this decision the Advice Note recommends a precautionary
approach should be adopted by LPAs which ensures that reasonable and
proportionate steps have been taken in order to avoid or minimise, as far as
possible, any potential adverse effects from development on the breeding
populations of nightjar and woodlark in the Sherwood Forest area. This will
help to ensure that any future need to comply with the provisions of the 2010
Regulations is met with a robust set of measures already in place. However

Page 146

unlike the Council’s ACS, Natural England’s Standing Advice Note does not
recommend that that the Sherwood Forest Region should be treated as a
confirmed European site.
7.15

In terms of the legal background, a potential Special Protection Area (pSPA)
does not qualify for protection under the Habitats Regulations until it has been
actually designated as a SPA. Furthermore, the site does not qualify for
protection under the NPPF as paragraph 176 refers to pSPAs and footnote 59
explicitly states that pSPAs are sites on which the Government has initiated
public consultation on the case for designation. This has not occurred and
therefore the Sherwood Forest Region does not qualify for special protection
and a risk based approach is not necessary to comply with the Habitat
Regulations or the NPPF.

7.16

Having regard to evidence submitted to the inquiry in 2010, the site is not
located within a core ornithological interest for breeding nightjar and woodlark
area but is situated within an indicative 5km buffer zone. An ecology report
has however been prepared by the applicant and this does not find any
evidence of nightjar or woodlark on the planning application site. The precise
extents of any buffer zones are not known. The proposal is a variance with
Paragraph 3.17.3 of the Council’s ACS, however the benefits of the scheme
would outweigh any harm identified and the approach is consistent the
Habitats Regulations and NPPF.

7.17

It should also be noted that this site is an allocated housing site within the
recently adopted (July 2018) Local Planning Document, with Policy LPD 66
identifying it as a housing allocation. The Local Planning Document has been
through a Public Inquiry, has been found to be sound and has subsequently
been adopted by Gedling Borough Council, meaning that housing
development on this site is in full conformity with the Local Planning
Document. Against this background it is considered that it can be reasonably
concluded that the site would not have any adverse effects on the breeding
populations of Nightjar and Woodlark in the Sherwood Forest Area and that
the development would meet with the objectives of Policy 17 of the Aligned
Core Strategy. Furthermore, the scale of this development is very limited in
the context of the wider housing allocation.
Other ecological considerations

7.18

The proposed built development on the site would take place on land which is
already hard surfaced, as a result of its previous use as a car park. As a
result, it is not considered that the proposal would have an adverse impact
upon any ecological interests.

7.19

It is therefore considered that the proposal meets with the objectives of the
National Planning Policy Framework, Aligned Core Strategy 17, Local
Planning Document Policy 18 and Calverton Neighbourhood Plan Policy NE5.
Impact upon trees

7.20

As noted the development would take place on land which is already hard
surfaced. The Tree Officer has advised that the tree report and method

Page 147

statements are adequate for the application but they need to know what trees
surveyed will be removed and retained. These matters can however be
addressed by way of planning conditions requiring details of tree protection
and landscaping to be submitted and approved by the council prior to the
commencement of the development. It is noted that trees will need to be
removed on the site frontage however it is advised that these are highway
trees and discussions would need to be undertaken between the application
and Nottinghamshire County Council. The trees in question and not
considered to be of any specific visual importance and their removal would
not have a significant impact upon the character or appearance of the
surrounding area.
Impact upon designated heritage assets
7.21

Whilst the impact upon designated heritage assets is a consideration with
regard to the development of the north-west quadrant due to the presence of
a Scheduled Ancient Monument (two Roman marching camps located 350m
north east of Lodge farm) in the vicinity, the application site is limited in size
and is located a significant distance away from the SAM, behind existing
landscape buffers. It is therefore not considered that the development would
have any impact upon designated heritage assets.
Highways matters

7.22

The proposed development has been assessed by the local highway
authority. The layout includes appropriate access to the site, car parking for
each unit and the ability for a refuse vehicle to manoeuvre within the site.
The local planning authority has not raised any objection to the development
as such I am satisfied that the scheme is acceptable on highway grounds.
The car parking requirements for the development with a mix of 13 one bed
and 7 two bed units as set out in the SPD is a total of 35 spaces. The
development accords with this and provides the required 35 spaces.
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal would not be harmful to
highway safety or the surrounding highway network in general, and therefore
the proposal would accord with the objectives of the National Planning Policy
Framework, Local Planning Document Policies LPD 57 and 61, the Parking
Provision SPD and Calverton Neighbourhood Plan Policy ISF2 and ISF3..
Planning obligations

7.3

The development proposed would require that the following planning
obligations be met:
20% on-site affordable housing (70% must be social rented and 30%
intermediate housing) in accordance with LPD Policy 36 and the adopted
Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 2009.
£31,025.28 towards off-site public open space provision together with
£12,979.20 for 10 years maintenance to be expended on facilities within 2km
of the site
Local Labour Agreement to meet with the requirements of LPD Policy 48

Page 148

7.4

These obligations would need to be secured by way of a S106 Planning
Obligation which shall be completed prior to determination of the planning
application. It is considered that all of the above obligations meets with the
tests set out in Section 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations
2010.

8.0

Conclusion

8.1

The principle of the development accords with the objectives of national and
local planning policies, in particular as the site is part of a housing allocation in
the adopted Local Planning Document. The development would be of an
acceptable layout, design and density and would not have an undue impact
upon visual amenity, residential amenity, ecological considerations, existing
landscape features or highway safety. The development would therefore
accord with the general objectives of the national and local planning policies
set out above.
Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission: Subject to the
applicant entering into a Section 106 Agreement with the Borough
Council as Local Planning Authority and with the County Council as
Local Education Authority for the provision of, or financial contributions
towards, affordable housing, open space, education and a local labour
agreement; and subject to the conditions listed for the reasons set out
in the report.

Conditions
1.

The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the
date of this permission.

2.

This permission shall be read in accordance with the following plans: 201215-004 received 25/09/18, 2012-53-021 REV A received 05/04/19, 2012-53022 REV A received 05/04/19,
2012-53-030 received 05/04/19, 2012-53031 received 05/04/19,
2012-53-032 received 05/04/19, 2012-53-03 REV
03 received 6/6/2019. The development shall thereafter be undertaken in
accordance with these plans.

3.

Prior to the commencement of the development a detailed Noise and Dust
Management Plan shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Noise and Dust Management Plan shall identify
the types and locations of works which are likely to cause noise and dust
disturbance to sensitive receptors and:- Minimise noise and dust arising from
such works by technical and physical means, and through work scheduling &
management best practice - Identify (and make stakeholders aware of) the
person responsible for recording, investigating & dealing with complaints from
residents - Set out a communication strategy to keep regulators, resident and

Page 149

other stakeholders advised well in advance of specific works which are likely
to cause noise and dust disturbance - Ensure that as much of the disruptive /
noisy / dust generating work as possible is carried out during the normal
construction operating hours - Regularly review the Noise and Dust
Management Plan. Any amendments which may have an impact on noise or
dust sensitive receptors shall be agreed in advance with the Local Planning
Authority and communicated to all other stakeholders. The approved Noise
and Dust Management Plan shall be implemented throughout the construction
and demolition works undertaken on site.

4.

Development shall not commence until a scheme for the satisfactory disposal
of foul and surface water from the site has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority. No part of the development shall then
be occupied or brought into use until the approved foul and surface water
drainage works are completed in accordance with the approved scheme.

5.

Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development must
not commence until the following has been complied with:Site
Characterisation An assessment of the nature and extent of any potential
contamination has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. This assessment must be undertaken by a competent
person, and shall assess any contamination on the site, whether or not it
originates on the site. Moreover, it must include; a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination and; an assessment of the potential risks to:
human health, property, adjoining land, controlled waters, ecological systems,
archaeological sites and ancient monuments. Submission of Remediation
Scheme Where required, a detailed remediation scheme (to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to
critical receptors) should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, an appraisal of
remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s), and a timetable of
works and site management procedures.b) In the event that remediation is
required to render the development suitable for use, the agreed remediation
scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved timetable of
works. Prior to occupation of any building(s) a Verification Report (that
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.c) In the
event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing
immediately to the Local Planning Authority and once the Local Planning
Authority has identified the part of the site affected by the unexpected
contamination development must be halted on that part of the site. An
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements above,
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme, together with a
timetable for its implementation and verification reporting, must be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 150

6.

No development shall commence on site in connection with the development
hereby approved (including, tree works, fires, soil moving, temporary access
construction and / or widening or any operations involving the use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until a detailed Arboricultural
Method Statement (AMS) in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in relation
to design, demolition and construction - Recommendations has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and any
protective fencing is erected as required by the AMS. The AMS shall include
full details of the following:a) Timing and phasing of Arboricultural works in
relation to the approved development.b) Details of a tree protection scheme in
accordance with BS5837:2012: which provides for the retention and
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges on and adjacent to the site.c) Details
of any construction works required within the root protection area of trees,
hedges or shrubs on and adjacent to the site, as defined byBS5837:2012.d)
Details of the arrangements for the implementation, supervision and
monitoring of works required to comply with the arboricultural method
statement.The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with
the approved Arboricultural Method Statement.

7.

Prior to the commencement of development details of the existing and
proposed ground levels of the site and finished floors levels of the proposed
dwellings shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the
approved details.

8.

No above ground construction works shall commence until samples of the
proposed external facing materials to be used in the construction of the
development have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority and the development shall only be undertaken in
accordance with the materials so approved and shall be retained as such
thereafter.

9.

Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved there shall be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority a landscape plan
of the site showing the position, type and planting size of all trees, hedges,
shrubs or seeded areas proposed to be planted. The approved landscape
plan shall be carried out in the first planting season following the first
occupation of the development. If within a period of five years beginning with
the date of the planting of any tree, hedge, shrub or seeded area, that tree,
shrub, hedge or seeded area, or any tree, hedge, shrub or seeded area that is
planted in replacement of it, is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or
becomes in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or
defective, another tree, shrub or seeded area of the same species and size as
that originally planted shall be planted at the same place.

10.

No dwelling shall be occupied until a detailed scheme for the boundary
treatment of the site, including position, design and materials, and to include
all boundaries or divisions within the site, has been submitted to and

Page 151

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme
shall be completed before the dwellings are first occupied and retained as
such in perpetuity.

11.

Prior to commencement of any above ground construction works, details of
Electric Vehicle charging points to be provided at each dwelling, to include
their location and specification shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be
undertaken in accordance with the approved details prior to the first
occupation of the development.

12.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until all
drives and parking areas are surfaced in a bound material (not loose gravel).
The surfaced drives and parking areas shall then be maintained in such
bound material for the life of the development.

13.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
the access driveways and parking areas are constructed with provision to
prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water from the driveways and
parking areas to the public highway. The provision to prevent the unregulated
discharge of surface water to the public highway shall then be retained for the
life of the development.

14.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until details of
the new road have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority including longitudinal and cross-sectional gradients,
visibility splays, street lighting, drainage and outfall proposals, construction
specification, provision of and diversion of utilities services, and any proposed
structural works. The development shall be implemented in accordance with
these details to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

15.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
the visibility splays are provided in accordance with the approved plans. The
area within the visibility splays referred to in this condition shall thereafter be
kept free of all obstructions.

16.

No development hereby permitted shall commence until wheel washing
facilities have been installed on the site in accordance with details first
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The wheel washing facilities
shall be maintained in working order at all times and shall be used by any
vehicle carrying mud, dirt or other debris on its wheels before leaving the site
so that no mud, dirt or other debris is discharged or carried on to a public
road.

Page 152

17.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until
the pedestrian crossing has been constructed, together with the footway
fronting the site has been constructed and is available for use in accordance
with drawing number 03 rev 03.

Reasons
1.

In order to comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2.

For the avoidance of doubt and to define the terms of this permission.

3.

In the interests of residential amenity.

4.

To ensure that the drainage scheme is appropriate to meet the needs of the
site and the approved development.

5.

To ensure the development is safe and suitable for use, thereby taking into
consideration paragraph 178 of the National Planning Policy Framework and
policy LPD7 of the Councils Local Plan.

6.

To ensure that existing trees and hedges are adequately protected.

7.

To ensure that the development does not have a detrimental impact upon
visual amenity or upon the occupiers of adjacent dwellings.

8.

To ensure a satisfactory standard of external appearance.

9.

In the interests of visual amenity.

10.

In the interest of visual amenity.

11.

To ensure the development is constructed in an appropriate sustainable
manner which takes into consideration air quality with in the Borough, and
takes into consideration policy LPD11 of the Councils Local Plan.

12.

To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited on the public
highway (loose stones etc.).

13.

To ensure surface water from the site is not deposited on the public highway
causing dangers to road users.

14.

To ensure the development is constructed to adoptable standards

15.

To maintain the visibility splays throughout the life of the development and in
the interests of general Highway safety.

16.

In the interests of Highway safety.

17.

To ensure a safe crossing point is available for pedestrians.

Page 153

Notes to Applicant
The comments of the Rights of Way Officer are attached.
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is encountered
during development, this should be reported immediately to The Coal Authority on
0845 762 6848. Further information is also available on The Coal Authority website
at www.coal.decc.gov.uk.Property specific summary information on past, current and
future coal mining activity can be obtained from The Coal Authority's Property
Search Service on 0845 762 6848 or at www.groundstability.com.
The applicant is advised that all planning permissions granted on or after 16th
October 2015 may be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details
of CIL are available on the Council's website. The proposed development has been
assessed and it is the Council's view that CIL IS PAYABLE on the development
hereby approved. The actual amount of CIL payable will be calculated when a
decision is made on the subsequent reserved matters application.
The Borough Council has worked positively and proactively with the applicant in
accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2018).
Additional and amended information has been submitted to address matters raised
during the determination of the application.
It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that the provision of Electric Vehicle
charging is adequately incorporated into the design of the development such that
there are no health and safety matters arising from trailing cables in public areas. If
necessary cables may need to be placed beneath footpath areas and brought back
to the surface nearer the parking areas. The minimum requirement is an operational
weatherproof 3 pin socket on a dedicated 16A circuit with an ability to isolate from
inside the property for security reasons. The developer is encouraged to consider
upgrading the EV charging facilities to incorporate additional mode 3 charging
capability as this will help future proof the development and improve its sustainability.
All electrical circuits/installations shall comply with the electrical requirements of
BS7671:2008 as well as conform to the IET code of practice on Electrical Vehicle
Charging Equipment installation (2015).
The Environment Agency advises with respect to Condition 8 that Infiltration systems
should only be used where it can be demonstrated that they will not pose a risk to
groundwater quality

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

Page 162

Page 163

Page 164

Page 165

Page 166

Page 167

Page 168

Page 169

Page 170

Page 171

Page 172

Page 173

Page 174

Page 175

Page 176

Page 177

Page 178

Page 179

Page 180

Page 181

Page 182

Page 183

Page 184

Page 185

Page 186

Page 187

Page 188

Page 189

Page 190

Page 191

Page 192

Page 193

Page 194

Page 195

Page 196

Page 197

Page 198

Page 199

Page 200

Page 201

Page 202

Page 203

Page 204

Page 205

Page 206

Page 207

Page 208

Agenda Item 16.

Planning Enforcement Report for 0202/2019

Page 209

Report to Planning Committee
Reference Number:

0202/2019

Location:

84 Sandford Road, Mapperley

Breach of Planning
Control:

Unauthorised fence and boundary treatment

1

Background

1.1

The property No. 84 Sandford Road, consists of a detached dwelling which is
set back from the road and which has a private drive to the east of the dwelling
leading from Sandford Road.

1.2

In September 2019, it was brought to the Council’s attention that a new
boundary treatment had been constructed along the front boundary of the
garden of the property.

1.3

The boundary treatment consists of wooden fence panels with a kickboard and
concrete posts of a height of approximately 1.8m, which projects along most of
the site’s front boundary. There are two gaps in the fence for vehicular and
pedestrian access.

1.4

Part of the original front boundary, which consists of a low brick wall with a
hedgerow behind, has been retained. The new fence along with the retained
front boundary treatment acts as a screen across the width of the property on
its road frontage.

1.5

Any fence or boundary treatment constructed adjacent to the highway which is
over 1m in height requires planning permission. In October 2019, the owners
of the property submitted a planning application reference 2019/0955 to retain
the fence but the application was refused permission on the 20 th December
2019. A subsequent appeal against the Council’s decision was also dismissed
on the 15th June 2020.

1.6

The fence remains in place.

2

Site Description

2.1

No. 84 Sandford Road, is positioned in the middle of a popular residential area
with various boundary treatments to different properties. Although some

Page 210

properties within the street scene are fenced along their front boundaries, these
tend to be lower, shorter or are tempered with vegetation.
3

Planning History

3.1

2019/0955 - Removal of fence and hedgerow at front of property facing highway
and replaced with fence and kickboard 1.8m tall (retrospective) – Refused 20th
December 2019
Appeal dismissed 15th June 2020.

4

Assessment

4.1

The development has a prominent position within the street scene and the
development visually dominates the site and creates a non-active street
frontage.

4.2

Although the development has occurred without planning permission and is
therefore unauthorised, local planning authorities are required to consider
government guidance when deciding whether to take planning enforcement
action. Government guidance is found in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) (Paragraph 58) and states that although effective
enforcement is important as a means of maintaining public confidence in the
planning system, ultimately enforcement action is discretionary and local
planning authorities should act proportionately in responding to breaches of
planning control.

4.3

The main considerations when deciding whether to take enforcement action in
this case are;
i) Design and visual amenity
ii) Residential amenity
iii) Highway safety.
Planning policy considerations

4.4

The NPPF (February 2019) is relevant. At the heart of the NPPF is a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The NPPF seeks good
design as a key element of sustainable development and it seeks a high
standard of amenity for existing and future users of land and buildings.

4.5

Gedling Borough Council Aligned Core Strategy 2014;
Policy 10 – Design and Enhancing Local Identity states that development will
be assessed in terms of its “structure, texture and grain including street
patterns, plot sizes orientation and positioning of buildings and the layout of
space.”

4.6

Local Planning Document

Page 211

Policy LPD 32 – Amenity states “Planning permission will be granted for
development proposals that do not have a significant adverse impact on the
amenity of nearby residents or occupiers, taking into account potential
mitigation measures.
4.7

LPD 35 – Safe, Accessible and Inclusive Development states that proposals for
development should enable active frontages to the public realm and natural
surveillance over all publicly accessible spaces.

4.8

LPD 61 – Highway Safety states “Planning permission will be granted for
development proposals which do not have a detrimental effect on highway
safety, patterns of movement and the access needs of all people.”

4.9

The development is not considered to be in keeping with other front boundary
treatments in the neighbourhood. Other examples of tall boundary treatments
in the locality are hedgerows which do not require planning permission or are
located on corner plots which screen rear amenity space.

4.10

The Inspector in the appeal found “the fence has a hard appearance, mainly
due to its materials, which are in contrast with the open and verdant character
of the street scene… the development appears as an incongruous addition
which harmfully affects the character and appearance of the street scene”.

4.11

It is considered the fence is in conflict with the aims of the NPPF, Policy 10 of
the Aligned Core Strategy and Policy 32, Policy 35 and Policy 61 of the Local
Planning Document.
Time Limits

4.12

The statutory time limit for taking action for unauthorised development is four
years. In this case the evidence available to the Council strongly suggests the
unauthorised fence has been in position for less than four years and so the
Council is within the legislative time limit to commence enforcement
proceedings such as issuing an enforcement notice requiring the boundary
treatment to be removed or alternatively reduced in height to no more than 1m
as allowed by the General Permitted Development Order 2015.
Human Rights

4.13

Under the Human Rights Act, it is necessary for the Council to have regard to
the rights of the owner and occupier of a site under Article 1 of the First Protocol
to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and the protection of property and under
Article 8 of the convention to respect for his private and family life, his home
and his correspondence except such as is in accordance with the law and is
necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national security, public
safety or the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder
or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights
and freedoms of others.

4.14

In considering whether to take any enforcement action, the Council has to
consider the proportionality of its actions. In other words whether the proposed
action would be proportionate to the objective being pursued – here the

Page 212

enforcement of planning control in support of National and Local Planning
Policies. It is recognised that issuing an enforcement notice, or pursuing formal
proceedings in the Magistrates Court if the notice is not complied with, will result
in interference with the recipients’ rights. However, it is considered that issuing
a notice in the first instance would be a proportionate response to rectifying the
breach of planning control taking place and depending on compliance with the
notice it might well be justified to take court action.
Equalities
4.13

The Council’s Planning Enforcement team operates in accordance with the
Council’s Planning Enforcement Policy and is largely dictated by legislation
which reduces the risk of discrimination in this service. The Council is
accountable to the public, including its stakeholders, for its decisions both to
take enforcement action and not to utilise its enforcement powers. There is a
legitimate expectation of the public and stakeholders that the Council will take
action to address breaches of planning by such means as are appropriate in
the individual circumstances and which are in accordance with the Council’s
policy and government legislation.

4.14

The Council strives for a consistent approach in targeting its enforcement
action. This means that the Council will take a similar, but not the same,
approach to compliance and enforcement decisions within and across sectors.
It will strive to treat people in a consistent way where circumstances are similar.
Each case however will be evaluated on the basis of its own facts and
circumstances but will ensure that decisions or actions taken in any particular
case are consistent with the law and with the Councils published policies. It
should be noted that decisions on specific enforcement actions may rely on
professional judgment. The Council will usually only take formal enforcement
action where regularisation and/or attempts to encourage compliance have
failed as in this case.
Crime and disorder

4.15

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on the Local Planning Authority
to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area. The
potential impact on the integrity of the planning system and the setting of a
precedent if action is not taken is therefore a material consideration in the
authorisation of enforcement proceedings.

4.16

In light of all the facts it is now considered expedient to serve an enforcement
notice to require the removal or the reduction in the height of the unauthorised
fence to no more than 1 metre so that it complies with the General Permitted
Development Order 2015.

5

Conclusion

5.1

A breach of planning control has been identified. Through a combination of its
siting, height and materials, the development has resulted in significant harm
to the character and appearance of the street scene.

Page 213

5.2

The breach therefore conflicts with both national and local policies. The failure
of the Council to act in these circumstances may set a precedent for other poor
development and which is detrimental to the amenity of the area.

5.3

The Council should now commence enforcement action without delay by
issuing a planning enforcement notice requiring the front boundary treatment at
No. 84 Sandford Road to be removed or alternatively reduced to a height not
exceeding 1metre in line with Schedule 2; Part 2; Class A of the General
Permitted Development Order 2015.

6

Recommendation

6.1

That the Assistant Director - Planning and Regeneration, be authorised to
take all enforcement action including the service of any necessary
enforcement notices and in conjunction with the Director of
Organisational Development & Democratic Services, proceedings
through the courts if required to ensure the unauthorised fence is
removed or alternatively reduced in size to no more than 1m in height.

Page 214

Agenda Item 17.

Report to Planning Committee
Subject:

Future Planning Applications

Date:

09/10/2020

The following planning applications or details have been submitted and are receiving
consideration. They may be reported to a future meeting of the Planning Committee and are
available for inspection online at: http://pawam.gedling.gov.uk:81/online-applications/
Alternatively, hard copies may be viewed at Gedling1Stop or by prior arrangement with
Development Management.
Possible
App No
Address
Proposal
Date
Reserved matters application
Land At Teal Close
for the erection of 277no.
2019/0560
Netherfield
dwellings
02/12/20
Proposed Demolition of
existing dwelling & erection of
3 retail units at ground floor
2019/1180
34 Main Street Calverton
with 8 apartments over
02/12/20
Land North of Papplewick
2020/0258
Lane Linby
Development of 18 no. houses 02/12/20
Outline planning application
for mixed-use development
comprising; 805 homes, land
for employment purposes (up
to 49,500m2 of B1/B8 uses), a
Local Centre comprising A1A5, B1(a) and D1 uses (up to
2,800m2), a 1.5 form entry
Primary School and
associated infrastructure, open
space and landscaping (EIA
2020/0050
Land at Top wighay Farm Development)
02/12/20
Two storey teaching block
comprising 20 classrooms and
associated accommodation,
assembly hall, dining hall with
kitchen; new access to Burton
Road and highway
improvements; creation of car
park; replacement football
pitch and alterations to
Carlton Le Willows
existing building to create lift
2020/0953
Academy
access and canteen pod
02/12/20
Land At Broad Close
Outline application for 11no.
2019/1080
Woodborough
residential properties
02/12/20
Please note that the above list is not exhaustive; applications may be referred at short notice
to the Committee by the Planning DelegationPage
Panel 215
or for other reasons. The Committee date

given is the earliest anticipated date that an application could be reported, which may change
as processing of an application continues.

Page 216

Agenda Item 18.
ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL - 4th September 2020

2020/0059TPO
19 Maidens Dale Arnold Nottinghamshire
Crown reduction to lime tree in rear garden
The proposed works to the tree would be detrimental to the visual amenity of the area with
no justifiable arboricultural reason for the works proposed.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: That the application be refused permission.

2020/0340
Land Adjacent 34 Marlborough Road Woodthorpe Nottinghamshire
4 no new build dwellings.
The proposed development would result in a form of tandem and backland development
that would be out of character with the area.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: That the application be refused permission.

2020/0564
238 Mansfield Road Redhill NG5 8JY
Change of use from car rental & car sales (sui generis) to a Veterinary Practice (Use
Class D1).
The proposed development would respect the character of the area and not have a
detrimental impact on highway safety or parking provision.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

Page 217

4th September 2020
Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr John Parr
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer

Page 218

ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL 11th September 2020

2019/1167
148 Burton Road Gedling NG4 2QG
Proposed development of 4 detached dwellings to rear of 148 Burton Road, vehicular
access alterations and associated external works.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area, highway safety, flood risk or the residential amenity of
neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0609
Nottingham Woodthorpe Hospital 748 Mansfield Road Woodthorpe
Installation of replacement curtain walling and creation of new doorway with ramp access
to the eastern elevation of the building.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area or highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0604
2 Hatherleigh Close Mapperley NG3 5SF
Retention of single storey rear extension and proposed single storey rear extension.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the host property, surrounding area or amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

Page 219

2020/0625
118 Chapel Lane Ravenshead NG15 9DJ
Resubmission of 2019/1075 for removal of existing pitched roof to dwelling and flat roof to
garage. Construction of rear extension with new pitched roofs to dwelling and garage.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area, host property or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0701TPO
4 Angela Close Redhill NG5 8HW
T-02 Beech Tree: prune back branches to the underside of the canopy on the southern
elevation to achieve a minimum of 2.0m clearance from the new dwelling.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the visual amenity of the
protected tree.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Consent subject to conditions.

Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Cllr John Parr
Cllr Barbara Miller
Kevin Cartwright – Principal Planning Officer
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer

11th September 2020

Page 220

ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL 18th September 2020

2020/0030
135 Sherbrook Road Daybrook NG5 6AS
Change of Use from A1, Shop to A5 Hot Food Takeaway.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on visual amenity of the
character, appearance of the area, the amenity of adjoining occupiers and parking or
highway safety
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0699
2 Ash Close Burton Joyce Nottinghamshire
Retention of golf practice net (300cm L x 300cm W x 265cm H) (retrospective)
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to conditions.

2020/0702
782 Mansfield Road Daybrook NG5 3GG
Change of Use from A1 (shop) to a flexible use of A1 (shop), A3 (restaurant and cafe) &
A5 (hot food takeaway), with no external alterations, under Class V of the General
Permitted Development Order 2015.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area, amenity of neighbouring occupiers or highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission with Conditions.

2020/0719
31 Church Crescent Daybrook Nottinghamshire
Erection of porch & two storey side extension.

Page 221

The proposed development would have an undue impact on the character and
appearance of the host property and street scene.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Refuse Planning Permission.
Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Kevin Cartwright – Principal Planning Officer
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer

18th September 2020

Page 222

ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL - 25th September 2020

2020/0613
18 South Devon Avenue, Mapperley, Nottinghamshire
Single storey rear extension
The proposed development would respect the character of the area, residential amenity
and not have a detrimental impact on highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0732
154 South View Road, Carlton, NG4 3QW
Single storey side and rear extension
The proposed development would respect the character of the area, residential amenity
and not have a detrimental impact on highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0733
3 The Green, Carlton, NG4 1SP
First floor extension above existing garage
The proposed development would respect the character of the area, residential amenity
and not have a detrimental impact on highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

Page 223

25th September 2020
Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr John Parr
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer
Kevin Cartwright - Principal Planning Officer

Page 224

ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL 2nd October 2020

2020/0423
11 Grange Close Lambley NG4 4QJ
Extend and convert existing garage to accommodation, single storey front extension,
proposed new porch, side extension to form sun room and proposed summer house to
garden.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0577TPO
12 St Emmanuel View Bestwood Nottinghamshire
Two oak trees to be removed
The trees have significant amenity value and there is no justification for their removal.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Refuse Consent.

2020/0597
Methodist Church Roe Lane Woodborough
Change of use from place of worship (D1) to community gymnasium (D2) with 2 ancillary
treatment rooms. (Resubmission of 2019/1070)

The proposed development would have no undue impact on amenity of neighbouring
occupiers or highway safety.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0602
Old Brickyard Community Centre Old Brickyard Carlton
Conversion of storage garages in to 7 apartments; including new external fire escape stair
to rear elevation and external design changes

Page 225

The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0678
8 Sandford Road Mapperley NG3 6AL
Extensions/alterations to split level bungalow and provide an additional storey.
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the streetscene or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0734
148 Chapel Lane Ravenshead NG15 9DJ
Outline planning application for a new dwelling, land to rear of 148 Chapel Lane,
Ravenshead. Resubmitted application to renew previously approved application,
2010/0565 (and subsequent approvals)
The proposed development would have no undue impact on the character and
appearance of the area or the amenity of neighbouring occupiers.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to Conditions.
Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Cllr John Parr
Kevin Cartwright – Principal Planning Officer
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer

2nd October 2020

Page 226

ACTION SHEET PLANNING DELEGATION PANEL - 9th October 2020

2020/0441
237 Oxclose Lane Arnold Nottinghamshire
Rear ground floor extension and first floor side extension.
The proposed flat roof first floor side extension would be unduly prominent in the
streetscape and out of character with the area.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: That the application be refused permission.

2020/0629
6 Foxhill Road Burton Joyce NG14 5DB
First floor rear roof dormer extension with roof terrace and rooflights to front elevation;
single storey rear extension; raised decking area (600mm above ground level) and
widening and resurfacing of existing driveway (no alterations to existing dropped kerb).
The proposed development would respect the character of the area and not have a
detrimental impact on residential amenity.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Planning Permission subject to Conditions.

2020/0661
8 Mansfield Road Daybrook Nottinghamshire
Erection of new retail unit (flexible use A1/A3/A5) with associated parking, delivery area,
outdoor seating and landscaping.
The siting of the unit would be unduly prominent in the streetscape and detrimental to the
character of the area. Furthermore, the sequential test is not considered adequate in that
there are other sites within the immediate area and town centre which are considered to
be available.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: That the application be refused permission.

Page 227

2020/0783
Land At St Albans Road Arnold Nottinghamshire
The proposal is for the proposed installation of a 20.0m monopole, together with the
installation of ground-based equipment cabinets and ancillary development thereto.
The siting and design of the mast is considered to be acceptable and appropriate
certificates (ICNIRP) have been submitted with regard to possible impacts on health.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: Grant Prior Notification, subject to Conditions.

2020/0847
1 Shandwick Close Arnold Nottinghamshire
Two storey front extension.
The first floor extension would result in a significant overbearing impact on the
neighbouring property given its prominence and close relationship between the two
properties.
The Panel recommended that the application be determined under delegated
authority.
Decision: That the application be refused permission.

9th October 2020
Video Conference Call Meeting due to Covid-19.
Cllr John Truscott
Cllr Marje Palling
Cllr David Ellis
Cllr John Parr
Cllr Paul Wilkinson
Kevin Cartwright – Principal Planning Officer
Nigel Bryan – Principal Planning Officer

Page 228

